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In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Annual Report, unless the context requires otherwise, “Eledon”, the "Company", "we",
Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly Novus Therapeutics, Inc.) and all wholly owned subsidiaries.

our"”, and "us" means

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” as defined by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which
statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Any statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K about the Company’s future expectations, plans and
prospects, including statements about its strategy, future operations, development of its product candidates, the review of strategic alternatives and the outcome of
such review and other statements containing words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “estimates,” “intends,” “predicts,” “projects,” “targets,”
“could,” “may,” and similar expressions, constitute forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements include such identifying words.
Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to statements regarding:
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. our short operating history and the Anelixis acquisition, which may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our
future viability;

. the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, including our ability to execute clinical trials or access capital markets;

. expectations regarding the timing for the commencement and completion of product development or clinical trials for the Company’s product

candidates;
. the timing, costs, conduct and outcome of preclinical studies and clinical trials;
. meeting future clinical and regulatory milestones, such as New Drug Application (“NDA”) submissions;
. the risk that clinical trials of the Company’s product candidates may not be successful in establishing safety and tolerability or efficacy;
. the Company’s plans and timing with respect to seeking regulatory approvals and uncertainties regarding the regulatory process;

. the anticipated treatment of data by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) or other regulatory
authorities of the Company’s product candidates;

. the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of the Company’s product candidates;

. the Company’s commercialization, marketing, and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;

. the Company’s intellectual property position and strategy;

. the Company’s ability to identify additional product candidates with significant commercial potential;

. the availability of funds and resources to pursue the Company’s research and development projects, including preclinical studies and clinical trials of
its product candidates, and manufacturing activities;

. the Company’s estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
. the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern;

. developments relating to the Company’s competitors and industry;

. the impact of government laws and regulations; and

. the duration over which the Company’s cash balances will fund its operations.

Actual results may differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements as a result of various important factors, including: the ability
to develop commercially viable product formulations on a timely basis, or at all; the sufficiency of the Company’s cash resources; the ability to obtain necessary
regulatory and ethics approvals to commence additional clinical trials; whether data from early clinical trials will be indicative of the data that will be obtained
from future clinical trials; whether the results of clinical trials will warrant submission for regulatory approval of any investigational product; whether any such
submission will receive approval from the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies and, if the Company is able to obtain such approval for an investigational
product, whether it will be successfully distributed and



marketed; and the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, including economic and other impacts of the pandemic and actions taken in response to it by governments,
businesses, and individuals. These risks and uncertainties, as well as other risks and uncertainties that could cause the Company’s actual results to differ

significantly from the forward-looking statements contained herein, are described in greater detail in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date hereof and not of any future date, and the
Company expressly disclaims any intent to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

The market data and certain other statistical information used in this Annual Report are based on independent industry publications, governmental
publications, reports by market research firms or other independent sources. Some data are also based on our good faith estimates. Information that is based on
estimates, forecasts, projections, market research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may differ
materially from events and circumstances reflected in this information.



RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

The following summarizes the principal factors that make an investment in the Company speculative or risky, all of which are more fully described in Part
II, Item 1A, Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This summary should be read in conjunction with the Risk Factors section and should not be relied
upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our business. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results
of operations and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this
report and those we may make from time to time. You should consider all of the risk factors described in our public filings when evaluating our business.

Risks Related to Our Operations

Our short operating history and the Anelixis acquisition may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future
viability.

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect that we will continue to incur losses over the next several years and may
never achieve or maintain profitability.

Our product candidates are in the early stages of clinical development and may not be successfully developed. If we are unable to successfully
develop and commercialize these or any other product candidate, or if we experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially
harmed.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken in response to it may result in additional disruptions to our business operations, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, including failure to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the
satisfaction of the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing,
or ultimately be unable to complete, the formulation and commercialization of our product candidates.

Delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, could delay or prevent our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals and increase
expenses for the development of our product candidates.

If serious adverse events or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of our product candidates, we may need to abandon or
limit our development of some of our product candidates.

We will require additional funding to be able to complete the development of our lead drug candidate. If we are unable to raise capital when needed,
we may be forced to significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current operations, or liquidate and cease operations altogether.
Our future success depends on our ability to retain executives and key employees and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel in the future.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters

If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals, or the approvals may be for a narrow indication, we may
not be able to commercialize our product candidates, and our ability to generate revenue may be materially impaired.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive post-marketing regulatory requirements and could be
subject to post-marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products, when and if any of them are approved.

Legislation regulating the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and
commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.

Our business operations and relationships will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other broadly applicable healthcare laws,
which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, program exclusion, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and
future earnings.

Our internal computer systems, or those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security
breaches, disruptions, or incidents, which could result in a material disruption of our development programs or loss of data or compromise the
privacy, security, integrity or confidentiality of sensitive information related to our business and have a material adverse effect on our reputation,
business, financial condition or results of operations.

European data collection is governed by restrictive regulations governing the collection, use, processing and cross-border transfer of personal
information.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that
could harm our business.



Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

Even if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, we may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients,
third-party payers and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

If our current product candidates, or a future product candidate receives marketing approval and we, or others, later discover that the product is less
effective than previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, the ability to market the product could be
compromised.

If we are unable to establish effective marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our product
candidates, we may not be able to effectively market and sell our product candidates, if approved, or generate product revenues.

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing competing products before or more
successfully than we do.

The insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and
reimbursement for new or current products could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of any products that we may develop.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

The reliance on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for nonclinical and clinical trials, and for eventual commercialization,
increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products at an acceptable cost and quality, which could delay,
prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

We depend on CROs and other contracted third parties to perform nonclinical and clinical testing and certain other research and development
activities. As a result, the outcomes of the activities performed by these organizations will be, to a certain extent, beyond our control.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our technology and products or if the scope of the intellectual property
protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours,
and our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and products may be impaired.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and
unsuccessful.

We may need to license certain intellectual property from third parties, and such licenses may not be available or may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.

We may be subject to trade secret claims from former employers of Company personnel.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price could be volatile as holders of our preferred stock become able to convert their shares to common stock and sell these shares in the
open market.

If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our operating results and our ability to operate our
business could be harmed.

Provisions in our corporate charter and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of the Company more difficult and may prevent attempts by
our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

We do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Overview

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Eledon” or the “Company”) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing life-changing, targeted
medicines for persons living with an autoimmune disease, requiring an organ or cell-based transplant, or living with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (“ALS”). Our
lead product candidate, AT-1501, is a humanized monoclonal antibody (mAb), designed to target CD40 Ligand (“CD40L”), also called CD154), a molecule
expressed on the surface of human immune system T cells. The central role of CD40/CD40L signaling in generating pro-inflammatory responses makes it an
attractive candidate for therapeutic intervention in autoimmune disease, induction and maintenance of transplant tolerance, and neuroinflammation. Blocking the
activation of the CD40L pathway prevents acute and long-term allograft transplant rejection in multiple animal species and ameliorates disease progression and
pathology in preclinical models of autoimmunity and ALS.

In September 2020, we acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), the company that owned or controlled the intellectual property related to AT-
1501. AT-1501 is a humanized IgG1 anti-CD40L antibody lacking Fc effector function. It is designed to inhibit signaling via CD40L, a costimulatory type II
membrane receptor expressed on activated T cells and CD40, a receptor expressed on Antigen Presenting Cells (“APC”s). Interactions between B cells expressing
CDA40, and activated CD4+ “helper” T cells expressing CD40L, play a critical role in promoting germinal center formation, clonal expansion, antibody production,
and the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that amplify immune response. The role of CD40 in B cells has been extensively characterized and shown to have
an important role in the generation of primary and secondary humoral immune responses to T cell dependent antigens. Anti-CD40L antibodies also inhibit both
CD40 as well as CD11 costimulatory receptors on antigen presenting cells, thus inhibiting the pro-inflammatory polarization of CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes.
Finally, blocking CD40L also polarizes CD4+ lymphocytes to FoxP3 positive Tregs, a specialized subpopulation of T cells that act to suppress immune response
and create a more tolerogenic environment. Importantly, blocking the CD40-CD40L pathway has not been shown to cause systemic lymphopenia.

Our business strategy is to optimize the clinical and commercial value of AT-1501, and become a global biopharmaceutical company with a focused
autoimmune franchise.

AT-1501 is designed to negate the risk of thrombolytic events seen in the first generation of anti-CD40L antibodies by introducing structural modifications
that have been shown in preclinical models to eliminate binding to the Fcy receptors associated with platelet activation without altering the binding of AT-1501 to
CDA40L. In non-human primate studies, dosing of AT-1501 up to 200 mg/kg per week for 26 weeks, demonstrated no adverse events regarding coagulation, platelet
activation or thromboembolism.

We have completed a single ascending dose Phase 1 study of AT-1501 in healthy volunteers and people with ALS. In this study, the doses of AT-1501
studied were well tolerated in healthy subjects and adults with ALS, and demonstrated a safety profile comparable to placebo. AT-1501 demonstrated low anti-
drug antibody responses that were not dose related, linear dose proportionality across the dose ranges, and a half-life of up to 26 days.

We plan to develop AT-1501 in up to four indications: prevention of kidney allograft rejection, prevention of islet cell allograft rejection, autoimmune
nephritis, and ALS. We selected our indications based on preclinical and clinical data that was generated with either our molecule or historical anti-CD40L
molecules. In October 2020, we initiated a Phase 2a clinical trial of AT-1501 in ALS. In November 2020, we received clearance from Health Canada to proceed
with the initiation of a Phase 2 clinical trial of AT-1501 in islet cell transplantation for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.

Prior to our acquisition of Anelixis, we had been focused on developing medicines for patients with disorders of the ear, nose, and throat (“ENT”). In June
2020, we announced that our lead program did not achieve statistical significance for the primary efficacy endpoints in the treatment of acute otitis media. As a
result of this failure to achieve the primary study endpoint, we suspended the clinical development of our legacy ENT assets while we assessed potential
development strategies. Following the June 2020 announcement, we significantly curtailed development expenses as we sought to identify strategic alternatives
that would maximize stockholder value. As a result of these activities, we acquired Anelixis and raised additional capital in September 2020, as described above.
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Kidney transplantation: prevention of allograft rejection

Kidney transplantation is the most common type of solid organ transplantation in the United States with an estimated 200,000 Americans living with a
transplanted kidney. In 2019, an estimated 23,000 kidneys were transplanted, of which 10-15% were re-transplants in persons that had already received at least

one other kidney. Yet, over 90,000 people in the U.S. are waiting for a kidney transplant and in 2014, nearly 5,000 Americans died waiting for a kidney with
another nearly 4,000 becoming too sick to receive a transplant.

Calcineurin inhibitor (“CNI”s) are a critical component of many immunosuppressive regimens to prevent acute and long-term kidney transplant rejection.
However, chronic exposure to certain CNIs including tacrolimus is associated with nephrotoxicity, cardiotoxicity, an increase in opportunistic infections, increased
malignancies, and an increase in type 1 diabetes due to pancreatic Beta cell toxicity. These liabilities may result in a requirement for reduced exposures to CNIs
over long periods of time and a resulting decrease in the ability to prevent long-term rejection.

AT-1501 seeks to address challenges associated with current immunosuppressive transplantation regimens using CNI-based therapies. The ability to
prevent acute and chronic transplant rejection without the need for CNIs has the potential to transform the clinical management of preventing graft rejection by
mitigating the adverse events associated with CNIs and improving long-term graft survival, thus potentially decreasing the need for repeat kidney transplants.

Several historical studies have described the effects of anti-CD40L antibodies in nonhuman primate models of kidney transplant and shown that even short
courses of anti CD40L therapy can prevent both acute rejection and long-term rejection in nonhuman primates with durable efficacy (Figure 2).
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Figure 2: Historical Anti-CD40L Antibody 5¢8 Prevents Acute and Long Term Kidney Transplant Rejection in Nonhuman Primates. (A) Kaplan Meier
Graph: ABI793, an anti-CD40L antibody or an IgG isotype control antibody was given intravenously to seven monkeys on postoperative days (PODs) 0, 1, 4, 11,
18, 28, 56, and 84 at a dose of 20 mg/kg (Kanmaz, 2004). (B) The combination of anti-CD154 dAb with basiliximab, mycophenolate mofetil, and steroids
significantly improved rejection-free allograft survival (Kim, 2017).

Islet cell transplantation (“ICT”): prevention of allograft rejection

Type 1 diabetes is a T cell mediated autoimmune disease with progressive loss of insulin producing pancreatic beta cells and affects over one million
persons in the U.S. Of these individuals, an estimated 70,000 people have a particularly hard to control type 1 diabetes called Brittle Diabetes (“BT1D”) which is
in part characterized by large swings in blood glucose levels and impaired awareness of hypoglycemia. Impaired awareness of hypoglycemia for people with type
1 diabetes is associated with severe hypoglycemic events which can lead to significant symptoms and even death. Pancreatic islet cell transplantation is gaining
attention as a therapeutic option for type 1 diabetes because it can restore physiological insulin secretion, minimize the risk of hypoglycemic unawareness, and
reduce the risk of death due to severe hypoglycemia. The advances made in this field over the past decade have improved patient outcomes, and the procedure has
been evolving from an experimental treatment to a clinical treatment option. In November 2020, we received clearance from Health Canada to proceed with the
initiation of a Phase 2 clinical trial of AT-1501 in islet cell transplantation for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.

A number of issues are believed to continue to hamper the overall success of ICT and to need to be addressed in order for there to be widespread clinical
acceptance. These include the acute loss of transplanted islets with current immunosuppressive treatments, particularly those with CNI-based therapies, due to islet
cell toxicity and alloreactive immunologic responses to transplanted islets. Over time, the progressive loss of islet cells and decline in islet cell function often leads
to the need for multiple donors in order for BTID patients to have optimal response to blood glucose levels and possibly achieve insulin independence. AT-

1501 seeks to address the challenges associated with current ICT immunosuppressive regimens using CNI-based therapies, by replacing the CNIs with AT-1501.
CDA40L blockade may abolish many effector mechanisms of inflammation, prevent and intervene in the progression of autoimmunity, and instill transplant
tolerance.

Historical studies in nonhuman primate models of islet cell transplantation have demonstrated that treatment with anti-CD40L antibodies induces long term
islet cell function and graft survival, even as a monotherapy. AT-1501 has shown pre-clinical, proof-of-concept efficacy in a non-human primate model of type 1
diabetes, where animals undergoing ICT maintained glucose control and sustained levels of C-peptide with chronic AT-1501 treatment for up to a year. Compared
to combination immunosuppressive therapy including CNIs, AT-1501 monotherapy was more effective in preventing long term islet cell rejection, associated with
better graft function, and showed an improved safety profile (Figure 3).
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Figure 3: Fasting, Postprandial Blood Glucose and C-Peptide Levels Over Time. Top Graphs: Daily fasting glucose levels (black circles); post prandial
glucose levels (green line) and exogenous insulin (blue line) versus time (days). Bottom Graphs: C peptide levels fasting blue bars) and post prandial (red bars)
versus time (days). Left Panel Standard of Care (SOC): Thymoglobulin at 5 mg/kg on post-operative day (POD) -2, -1, 0, 1, 2, Enbrel at 0.8 mg/kg on POD 0
and at 0.4 mg/kg on POD 3, 7, 10. Sirolimus, starting on POD -2 at 0.02 mg/kg; target trough levels 8-12 ng/ml and Tacrolimus, starting on POD 1 at 0.025 mg/kg
target trough levels 4-6 ng/ml. Right Panels AT-1501 Monotherapy: AT-1501 at 23-26 mg/kg in the first 3 months post-transplant on POD -1, 0, 3, 10, 18, 23, 28
and then every 14 days until end of study.

Autoimmune Nephritis

Autoimmune Nephritis refers to a group of autoimmune disorders associated with inflammation and eventual destruction of the kidney. These disorders
include Lupus Nephritis (“LN”), focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (“FSGS”) and IgA Nephropathy (“IgAN”). Systemic lupus erythematosus, (“SLE”), is one of
the largest autoimmune populations globally and up to an estimated 40 percent of people with SLE develop LN, which may lead to kidney dysfunction, dialysis
and end stage renal disease. LN is an orphan disease with an estimated prevalence of between 65,000 and 120,000 persons in the United States. FSGS is also an
orphan disease with an estimated prevalence of 40,000 people in the US and variable progression to end stage renal failure. FSGS results from renal podocyte
injury associated with immune complex formation in the glomeruli. IgAN, also called Berger’s disease, is a type of glomerulonephritis that occurs when galactose-
deficient IgA immune complexes build up in the kidneys, causing inflammation that ultimately damages kidney tissues. With an estimated prevalence of
approximately 140,000 persons in the United States, I[gAN is one of the most common, orphan, kidney diseases. There are currently no European Medicines
Agency (“EMA”) or U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approved treatments for [gAN or FSGS, and only two approved for LN, although
immunosuppressants such as systemic steroids and CNIs are prescribed off-label.

In historical preclinical animal models of lupus nephritis, anti-CD40L antibodies ameliorated disease progression, improved kidney function, reduced
immune cell infiltrate into the kidney, and improved survival. Systemic biomarkers of SLE such as anti-dsDNA antibodies have also been reduced with anti-
CDA40L treatment in animal models. Similar data has been described in preclinical models of FSGS. FSGS models using historical anti-CD40L treatments have
shown ameliorated kidney function as measured by a reduction in proteinuria and were associated with a decrease in immune cell infiltrate into the glomeruli
(Figure 3).

Figure 4: Blocking CD40L Improves Survival and Pathophysiology Associated with Auteimmune Nephritis
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Figure 4: Effect of anti-CD40L in the SNF1 rodent model of Lupus. (A) The survival curves of anti-CD40L treated and HIg controls differ significantly (p < 0.001
by Wilcoxon test). Control mice receiving HIgG control die rapidly with the onset of severe nephritis, and all but one are dead by age 12 mo while all anti-CD40L
treated mice are alive when the study is terminated at age 15.5 months (Kalled.1998). (B) Urine was monitored weekly for proteinuria. Proteinuria was scored as
follows: 0.5+ (15 to 30 mg/dl); 1+ (30 mg/dl); 2+ (100 mg/dl); 3+ (300 mg/dl) and 4+ (>20000 mg/dl). The proportion of mice with => +3 proteinuria differed
significantly between anti-CD40L treated and HIg controls at all timepoints ( p < 0.001 by x2 test). Controls that did not have => 3+ proteinuria at the start of
treatment became 4+ soon after, as opposed to anti-CD40L treated mice where the proteinuria levels of six of seven mice declined and only one mouse developed
3+ proteinuria (Kalled, 1998). (C) MR1 treatment was associated with a significant reduction in the number of infiltrating macrophages. The number of infiltrating
CD4+ and CD8+ cells was not statistically different from the Adriamycin alone group. Bars represent mean values + standard deviation. **P < 0.01 vs.
Adriamycin alone group (Kairatis, 2003).

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

ALS is a progressive, paralytic disorder characterized by degeneration of motor neurons in the brain and spinal cord. In the U.S., the incidence is estimated
at approximately 5,000 cases per year with a prevalence of approximately 30,000 cases overall. Despite 2 approved drugs, in most cases, death from respiratory
failure occurs approximately 2 to 5 years after diagnosis, with 50% of patients living >3 years from diagnosis and only 20% of patients living >5 years from
diagnosis.

Neuroinflammation in ALS is characterized by the infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages into the central nervous system, and the activation of
microglia and reactive astrocytes. Reactive astrocytes and microglia as well as infiltrating lymphocytes, dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages and immune
complexes have been identified in cerebrospinal fluid and neural tissues in both animal models of ALS and at autopsy in ALS patients. While the exact pathogenic
mechanism of ALS is still not fully understood, there is strong evidence indicating that this neuroinflammation plays an important role in the disease’s
pathogenesis.

AT-1501 is designed to block CD40L binding to CD40, thereby potentially inhibiting neuroinflammatory pathways leading to disease progression in ALS.
In vitro proof-of-concept studies have shown that AT-1501 binds to CD40L in human cells and blocks CD40L binding on APCs and activated T cells. The
potential for therapeutic benefit of CD40L blockage in treating ALS has been demonstrated in a SOD1 mouse model of ALS, where a murine anti-CD40L
antibody, MR1, prolonged survival and delayed the onset of neurological disease progression. These clinical manifestations are believed to be due to reduced
immune cell infiltration of macrophages into skeletal muscle and their destroying denervated nerves. The plasticity of the nervous system to repair itself in the
absence of this immune cell attack is believed to result in improved neuromuscular junction occupancy and improved muscle function. Blocking CD40L signaling
also prevents pro-inflammatory polarization of lymphocytes, reduced neuroinflammation and improved motor neuron survival in rodent ALS models (Figure 5).

Figure 5: Blocking CD40L Improves Survival and Pathophysiology Associated with ALS
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Anti-CD40L (MR1) treatment decreases CD68+ macrophages, improves neuromuscular junction occupancy and improves motor neuron

survival. (A) Quantification of reduction of CD68+ macrophages by anti-CD40L treatment at day 100. (White bar, control IgG) ; gray bar (anti-CD40L—
treatment); black bar (untreated age-matched non-transgenic mice) (B) Quantification of neuromuscular occupancy in SOD1 mice prior to overt symptoms (day
70) versus after symptom onset (day 85) treated with an IgG control antibody (veh) or anti-CD40L antibody. (C) Quantitative comparison of lumbar spinal cord
motor neuron counts per mm?2 in IgG vehicle control (White bar) versus anti-CD40L treated mice (grey bar) at day 100 (Lincecum, 2010).

In October 2020, we initiated a Phase 2a, open-label, multi-center study to evaluate the safety and tolerability of multiple doses of AT-1501 in adult
subjects with ALS. Approximately 54 subjects with ALS are planned to be enrolled into the study in the United States and Canada at up to 13 ALS treatment sites.
Ascending doses of AT-1501 will be administered as IV infusions to four sequentially enrolling cohorts. The first two cohorts will consist of nine participants, and
the last two cohorts of 18 participants, who will each receive six bi-weekly infusions of AT-1501 over a 12-week study period. Blood samples for target
engagement, and exploratory biomarkers for inflammation and neurodegeneration will be taken and analyzed. Participant-focused clinical outcomes will also be
assessed.

The competitive conditions faced by the Company are described in greater detail in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption “We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing competing products before or more
successfully than we do.”



Intellectual Property

Eledon’s success depends in part on its ability to obtain and maintain proprietary protection for its product candidates, novel discoveries, product
technologies and other know-how, to operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of others and to prevent others from infringing Eledon’s proprietary
rights. Eledon seeks to protect its product candidates by, among other methods, filing U.S. and foreign patent applications related to its proprietary technology,
inventions and improvements that are important to the development and implementation of its business. Eledon also relies on trademarks, trade secrets, know-how,
continuing technological innovation and potential in-licensing opportunities to develop and maintain Eledon’s proprietary protection for Eledon’s product
candidates.

Eledon’s intellectual property portfolio includes issued patents and patent applications directed toward isolated antibodies and methods of treatment using
the isolated antibodies that block the interaction of CD40L and CD40 to treat CD-40L related diseases or disorders. Eledon has exclusive rights to three patent
families. Two of the three families are directed to AT-1501 and related antibodies. The first family is directed to methods for treating amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
with antibodies and includes two United States patents and 14 foreign patents (Japan, Hong Kong, Belgium, China, Germany, Denmark, Spain, Finland, France,
Great Britain, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, and Sweden). The second family is directed to AT-1501 (JB5 in the patents/applications in this family). AT-1501 is
the current clinical candidate, with 14 pending applications, and issued/allowed patents including two issued United States patents, one allowed United States
patent application, and a Russian patent. The third family is directed to AT-1501 with 15 pending applications, including one United States patent application. In
the first family, the patents will expire in December 2029, absent any term adjustments or extensions. In the second family, any issued patent will expire in
February 2036, absent any term adjustments or extensions. In the third family, any issued patent will expire in May 2038, absent any term adjustments or
extensions.

Eledon’s intellectual property portfolio also includes issued patents and patent applications directed towards products derived from Eledon’s surfactant
platform and foam platform with claims to drug substance, pharmaceutical preparations as well as to methods of treatment. For OP0201, Eledon owns or has
exclusive rights to one U.S. patent application, one international application, and seven foreign patent applications. If allowed, the last to expire patent application
will expire in December 2039, absent any adjustments or extensions. For OP0101 and OP0102, Eledon owns or has exclusive rights to two families of patents, one
with three United States and seven foreign patents (Canada, France, Germany, Israel, Italy, Spain, and the United Kingdom), and a second with two United States
and five foreign patents (France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom). In the first family the last to expire issued patent in the United States will expire
in September 2027, including patent term adjustment. In the second family the last to expire issued patent in the United States will expire in December 2033.

Patents extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in various countries where patent protection
is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends on the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the
availability of legal remedies in the country.

Eledon also protects its proprietary information by requiring its employees, consultants, contractors and other advisors to execute nondisclosure and
assignment of invention agreements upon commencement of their respective employment or engagement. In addition, Eledon also requires confidentiality or
service agreements from third parties that receive confidential information or materials.

See Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies under the caption “Grants and Licenses” for further information about the Company’s intellectual property.
Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States, including federal, state, and local authorities, and in other countries, extensively regulate, among other things,
the manufacturing, research and clinical development, marketing, labeling and packaging, storage, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting,
advertising and promotion, and export and import of pharmaceutical and biological products, such as those we are developing. Pricing of such products is also
subject to regulation in many countries. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local, and

foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.
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U.S. Government Regulation

The FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and its implementing regulations, and biologics under the FDCA and
the Public Health Service Act (“PHSA”) and its implementing regulations. FDA approval is required before any new unapproved drug or biologic or dosage form,
including a new use of a previously approved drug, can be marketed in the U.S. Drugs and biologics are also subject to other federal, state, and local statutes and
regulations. If we fail to comply with applicable FDA or other requirements at any time during the product development process, clinical testing, approval process
or after approval, we may become subject to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications,
license suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an approval, untitled or warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production
or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any FDA enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us.

The process required by the FDA before product candidates may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:

. completion of extensive preclinical laboratory tests and preclinical animal studies, all performed in accordance with the Good Laboratory Practices
(“GLP”) regulations;
. submission to the FDA of an IND which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin and must be updated annually;

. approval by an independent institutional review board (“IRB”) or ethics committee representing each clinical site before each clinical trial may be

initiated;

. performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for each proposed
indication;

. completion of manufacturing scale up and stability studies, all performed in accordance with the Good Manufacturing Practices “GMP” regulations;

. preparation of and submission to the FDA of a biologics license application (“BLA”) or a new drug application, or NDA, after completion of all
pivotal clinical trials;

. potential review of the product application by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate and if applicable;
. a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of a BLA or NDA to file the application for review;

. satisfactory completion of a FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities where the proposed product is produced to assess
compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) regulations;

. potential FDA audit of the clinical trial sites that generated the data in support of the BLA or NDA; and

. FDA review and approval of a BLA or NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the product.

The preclinical and clinical testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort, and financial resources, and we cannot be certain that any
approvals for our product candidates will be granted on a timely basis, if at all.

An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational new drug product to humans in clinical trials. The central focus of an
IND submission is on the general investigational plan and the protocol(s) for human trials. The IND also includes results of animal and in vitro studies assessing
the toxicology, pharmacokinetics, pharmacology, and pharmacodynamic characteristics of the product; chemistry, manufacturing, and controls information; and
any available human data or literature to support the use of the investigational new drug. An IND must become effective before human clinical trials may begin.
An IND will automatically become effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to the proposed
clinical trials. In such a case, the IND may be placed on clinical hold and the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before
clinical trials can begin. Accordingly, submission of an IND may or may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. The FDA may impose a
clinical hold at any time during clinical trials and may impose a partial clinical hold that would limit trials, for example, to certain doses or for a certain length of
time.
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Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators in accordance
with Good Clinical Practices (“GCPs”) which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any
clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety,
and the efficacy criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the
IND. Additionally, approval must also be obtained from each clinical trial site’s IRB before the trials may be initiated, and the IRB must monitor the trial until
completed. There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and clinical trial results to public registries.

The clinical investigation of a drug is generally divided into three phases. Although the phases are usually conducted sequentially, they may overlap or be
combined.

. Phase 1. The drug is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or patients with the target disease or condition. These studies are designed to
evaluate the safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism and pharmacologic actions of the investigational new drug in humans, the side effects associated
with increasing doses, and if possible, to gain early evidence on effectiveness.

. Phase 2. The drug is administered to a limited patient population to evaluate dosage tolerance and optimal dosage, identify possible adverse side
effects and safety risks, and preliminarily evaluate efficacy.

. Phase 3. The drug is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically dispersed clinical trial sites to generate enough data
to evaluate dosage, clinical effectiveness and safety, to establish the overall benefit-risk relationship of the investigational new drug product, and to
provide an adequate basis for physician labeling.

In some cases, the FDA may condition approval of a BLA or NDA for a product candidate on the sponsor’s agreement to conduct additional clinical trials
after approval. In other cases, a sponsor may voluntarily conduct additional clinical trials after approval to gain more information about the drug. Such post-
approval studies are typically referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials.

Sponsors must also report to the FDA, within certain timeframes, serious and unexpected adverse reactions, any clinically important increase in the rate of
a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator’s brochure, or any findings from other studies or animal or in vitro testing that
suggest a significant risk in humans exposed to the product candidate. The FDA, the IRB, or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at
any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Additionally, some clinical trials are
overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. This group
provides authorization for whether or not a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from the trial. We may also suspend
or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives or competitive climate.

The clinical trial process can take three to ten years or more to complete, and there can be no assurance that the data collected will support FDA approval
or licensure of the product. Results from one trial are not necessarily predictive of results from later trials.

A drug being studied in clinical trials may be made available to individual patients in certain circumstances. Pursuant to the 21st Century Cures Act
(“Cures Act”) which was signed into law in December 2016, the manufacturer of an investigational drug for a serious disease or condition is required to make
available, such as by posting on its website, its policy on evaluating and responding to requests for individual patient access to such investigational drug
(compassionate use). This requirement applies on the later of 60 calendar days after the date of enactment of the Cures Act or the first initiation of a Phase 2 or
Phase 3 trial of the investigational drug. At this time, Eledon does not have a program for the compassionate use of an investigational product outside of a clinical
trial as it is not applicable to our investigational products.

15



Submission of a BLA or NDA to the FDA

Assuming successful completion of all required testing (e.g. completion of pivotal clinical trials) in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements,
detailed investigational new drug product information is submitted to the FDA in the form of a BLA or NDA requesting approval to market the product for one or
more indications. Under federal law, the submission of most BLAs and NDAs is subject to an application user fee and these fees are typically increased on an
annual basis. Applications for orphan drug products are exempted from the BLA and NDA user fees and may be exempted from product and establishment user
fees, unless the application includes an indication for other than a rare disease or condition. No application user fees were paid for AT-1501 or OP0201 in calendar
2020.

A BLA or NDA for a new molecular entity must include all relevant data available from pertinent preclinical studies and clinical trials, including negative
or ambiguous results as well as positive findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls, and proposed
labeling, among other things. Data can come from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and effectiveness of a use of a product, or from
several alternative sources, including investigator-initiated trials that are not sponsored by Eledon. To support marketing approval, the data submitted must be
sufficient in quality and quantity to establish the safety and effectiveness of the investigational new drug product to the satisfaction of the FDA.

Once a BLA or NDA for a new molecular entity has been submitted, the FDA’s goal is to review the application within ten months after it accepts the
application for filing, or, if the application relates to an unmet medical need in a serious or life-threatening indication, six months after the FDA accepts the
application for filing. The review process is often significantly extended by the FDA’s requests for additional information or clarification.

Before approving a BLA or NDA, the FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve an
application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent
production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving a BLA or NDA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites
to assure compliance with GCP.

The FDA is required to refer an application for a novel drug to an advisory committee or explain why such referral was not made. Typically, an advisory
committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific experts, that reviews, evaluates and provides a recommendation as to whether
the application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such
recommendations carefully when making decisions.

The FDA’s Decision on a BLA or NDA

The FDA evaluates a BLA to determine whether the data demonstrate that the biologic is safe, pure, and potent, or effective, and an NDA to determine
whether the drug is safe and effective. After the FDA evaluates the BLA or NDA and conducts inspections of manufacturing facilities where the product will be
produced, it may issue an approval letter or a Complete Response Letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing
information for specific indications. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete, and the application is not ready for
approval. A Complete Response Letter may require additional clinical data or an additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial(s), or other significant, expensive and
time-consuming requirements related to clinical trials, preclinical studies or manufacturing. Even if such additional information is submitted, the FDA may
ultimately decide that the BLA or NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval and issue a denial. The FDA could also approve the BLA or NDA with a Risk
Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS™) plan to mitigate risks, which could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to
assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. The FDA also may condition approval on, among other
things, changes to proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and specifications, or a commitment to conduct one or more post-market studies or clinical
trials. Such post-market testing may include Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to further assess and monitor the product’s safety and effectiveness after
commercialization. Also, new government requirements, including those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change,
which could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our products under development.
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Post-Approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other
things, requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, advertising and promotion and reporting of adverse
experiences with the product. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior
FDA review and approval. There also are continuing, annual user fee requirements for any marketed products and the establishments at which such products are
manufactured, as well as new application fees for supplemental applications with clinical data.

Drug manufacturers are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and state agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements. Changes to
the manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of the change, may require prior FDA approval before being implemented.
FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon us and any
third-party manufacturers that we may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and
quality control to maintain compliance with cGMP and other aspects of regulatory compliance.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical quantities of our product candidates and expect to rely in the future on
third parties for the production of commercial quantities. Future FDA and state inspections may identify compliance issues at our facilities or at the facilities of our
contract manufacturers that may disrupt production, distribution, or require substantial resources to correct. In addition, discovery of previously unknown problems
with a product or the failure to comply with applicable requirements may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or holder of an approved BLA or NDA,
including withdrawal or recall of the product from the market or other voluntary, FDA-initiated or judicial action that could delay or prohibit further marketing.
Also, new government requirements, including those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or
prevent regulatory approval of our products under development.

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product
reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with
manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information;
imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program.
Other potential consequences include, among other things:

. restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;
. fines, untitled or warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

. refusal of the FDA to approve pending BLAs or NDAs or supplements to approved BLAs or NDAs, or suspension or revocation of licenses or
withdrawal of approvals;

. product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or
. injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.
The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising, and promotion of products that are placed on the market. Drugs may be promoted only for the

approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations
prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability.

Orphan Designation and Exclusivity

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United
States, or if it affects more than 200,000 individuals in the United States, there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making the drug for this
type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales in the United States.

Orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages, and user-
fee waivers. In addition, if a product is the first to receive FDA approval for the indication for which it has orphan designation, the product is entitled to orphan
drug exclusivity, which means the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication for a period of seven years, except
in
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limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority over the product with orphan exclusivity. The Company received an orphan drug designation for
AT-1501 for the treatment of ALS.

Pediatric Trials and Exclusivity

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003 (“PREA”) as amended, BLAs and NDAs must contain data to assess the safety and effectiveness of an
investigational new drug product for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric populations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric
subpopulation for which the drug is safe and effective. A sponsor who is planning to submit a marketing application for a drug product that includes a new active
ingredient, new indication, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration must submit an initial Pediatric Study Plan (“PSP”) within sixty
days of an end-of-phase 2 meeting or as may be agreed between the sponsor and the FDA. The initial PSP must include an outline of the pediatric study or studies
that the sponsor plans to conduct, including study objectives and design, age groups, relevant endpoints and statistical approach, or a justification for not including
such detailed information, and any request for a deferral of pediatric assessments or a full or partial waiver of the requirement to provide data from pediatric
studies along with supporting information. The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of the applicant, grant deferrals for submission of some or all
pediatric data until after approval of the product for use in adults or full or partial waivers if certain criteria are met. The FDA and the sponsor must reach
agreement on the PSP. A sponsor can submit amendments to an agreed-upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric plan need to be considered based on
data collected from preclinical studies, early phase clinical trials, and/or other clinical development programs. The requirements for pediatric data do not apply to
any drug for an indication for which orphan designation has been granted. In the future we may seek pediatric approval for AT-1501 applications in connection
with renal and islet cell transplantations, which may require the submission of a PSP.

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent exclusivity in the United States and, if granted, provides for the attachment of an additional six months
of marketing protection to the term of any existing regulatory exclusivity, including the five-year and three-year non-patent and orphan exclusivity. This six-month
exclusivity may be granted if a BLA or NDA sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written request from the FDA for such data. The data do not
need to show the product to be effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to the FDA’s request, the
additional protection is granted. If reports of FDA-requested pediatric trials are submitted to and accepted by the FDA within the statutory time limits, whatever
statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or patent protection covering the product are extended by six months. This is not a patent term extension, but it
effectively extends the regulatory period during which the FDA cannot accept or approve another application relying on the BLA or NDA sponsor’s data.

Patent Term Restoration

Depending upon the timing, duration, and specifics of the FDA approval of the use of our product candidates, some of our U.S. patents may be eligible for
limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, commonly referred to as the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product
development and the FDA regulatory review process. However, patent term restoration cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years
from the product’s approval date. The patent term restoration period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of an IND and the submission date of
a BLA or NDA, plus the time between the submission date and the approval of that application, except that the review period is reduced by any time during which
the applicant failed to exercise due diligence. Only one patent applicable to an approved product is eligible for the extension and the application for the extension
must be submitted prior to the expiration of the patent and within 60 days of the product’s approval. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, in consultation with
the FDA, reviews and approves the application for any patent term extension or restoration. In the future, we may apply for restoration of the patent term for one of
our currently owned or licensed patents to add patent life beyond its current expiration date, depending on the expected length of the clinical trials and other factors
involved in the filing of the relevant BLA or NDA.

Abbreviated New Drug Applications for Generic Drugs

In 1984, with passage of the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, Congress authorized the FDA to approve generic drugs that are the same as drugs previously
approved by the FDA under the NDA provisions of the statute. To obtain approval of a generic drug, an applicant must submit an abbreviated new drug application
(“ANDA”) to the agency. In support of such applications, a generic manufacturer may rely on the preclinical and clinical testing previously conducted for a drug
product previously approved under an NDA, known as the reference listed drug (“RLD”).
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Specifically, in order for an ANDA to be approved, the FDA must find that the generic version is identical to the RLD with respect to the active
ingredients, the route of administration, the dosage form, and the strength of the drug. At the same time, the FDA must also determine that the generic drug is
“bioequivalent” to the innovator drug. Under the statute, a generic drug is bioequivalent to an RLD if “the rate and extent of absorption of the generic drug do not
show a significant difference from the rate and extent of absorption of the listed drug...”

Upon approval of an ANDA, the FDA indicates that the generic product is “therapeutically equivalent” to the RLD and it assigns a therapeutic equivalence
rating to the approved generic drug in its publication “Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” also referred to as the “Orange Book.”
Physicians and pharmacists consider an “AB” therapeutic equivalence rating to mean that a generic drug is fully substitutable for the RLD. In addition, by
operation of certain state laws and numerous health insurance programs, the FDA’s designation of an “AB” rating often results in substitution of the generic drug
without the knowledge or consent of either the prescribing physician or patient.

The FDCA provides a period of five years of non-patent exclusivity for a new drug containing a new chemical entity. In cases where such exclusivity has
been granted, an ANDA may not be filed with the FDA until the expiration of five years unless the submission is accompanied by a Paragraph IV certification, in
which case the applicant may submit its application four years following the original product approval. The FDCA also provides for a period of three years of
exclusivity if the NDA includes reports of one or more new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability or bioequivalence studies, that were conducted by or
for the applicant and are essential to the approval of the application. This three-year exclusivity period often protects changes to a previously approved drug
product, such as a new dosage form, route of administration, combination or indication.

Hatch-Waxman Patent Certification and the 30-Month Stay

Upon approval of an NDA or a supplement thereto, NDA sponsors are required to list with the FDA each patent with claims that cover the applicant’s
product or a method of using the product. Each of the patents listed by the NDA sponsor is published in the Orange Book. When an ANDA applicant files its
application with the FDA, the applicant is required to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the reference product in the Orange Book, except for
patents covering methods of use for which the ANDA applicant is not seeking approval.

Specifically, the applicant must certify with respect to each patent that:

. the required patent information has not been filed;

. the listed patent has expired;

. the listed patent has not expired, but will expire on a particular date and approval is sought after patent expiration; or
. the listed patent is invalid, unenforceable or will not be infringed by the new product.

A certification that the new product will not infringe the already approved product’s listed patents or that such patents are invalid or unenforceable is called
a Paragraph IV certification. If the applicant does not challenge the listed patents or indicates that it is not seeking approval of a patented method of use, the
ANDA application will not be approved until all the listed patents claiming the referenced product have expired.

If the ANDA applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of the Paragraph IV certification to the
NDA and patent holders once the ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. The NDA and patent holders may then initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in
response to the notice of the Paragraph IV certification. The filing of a patent infringement lawsuit within 45 days after the receipt of a Paragraph IV certification
automatically prevents the FDA from approving the ANDA until the earlier of 30 months after the receipt of the Paragraph IV notice, expiration of the patent, or a
decision in the infringement case that is favorable to the ANDA applicant.

European Union/Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions governing, among other things, clinical
trials and any commercial sales and distribution of our products. The cost of establishing a regulatory compliance system for numerous varying jurisdictions can be
very significant. Although many of the issues discussed above with respect to the United States apply similarly in the context of the European Union (“EU”) and in
other jurisdictions, the approval process varies between countries and jurisdictions and can involve additional product
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testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries and jurisdictions might differ from and be longer than
that required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in
obtaining regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product candidate, we must obtain the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in foreign countries
prior to the commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. Certain countries outside of the United States have a similar process
that requires the submission of a clinical trial application much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the EU, for example, a clinical
trial authorization application (“CTA”) must be submitted for each clinical protocol to each country’s national health authority and an independent ethics
committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively. Once the CTA is accepted in accordance with a country’s requirements, the clinical trial may proceed.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials vary from country to country. In all cases, the clinical trials are conducted in
accordance with GCP the applicable regulatory requirements, and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigational medicinal product under EU regulatory systems, we must submit a marketing authorization application.
The content of the BLA or NDA filed in the United States is like that required in the EU, except, among other things, country-specific document requirements

For other countries outside of the EU, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the requirements governing product licensing, pricing,
and reimbursement vary from country to country.

Countries that are part of the EU, as well as countries outside of the European Union, have their own governing bodies, requirements, and processes with
respect to the approval of pharmaceutical and biologic products. If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to, among
other things, fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Authorization Procedures in the EU
Medicines can be authorized in the EU by using either the centralized authorization procedure or national authorization procedures.

. Centralized procedure. The EMA implemented the centralized procedure for the approval of human medicines to facilitate marketing authorizations
that are valid throughout the European Economic Area (“EEA™). This procedure results in a single marketing authorization issued by the EMA that is
valid across the EEA. The centralized procedure is compulsory for human medicines that are: derived from biotechnology processes, such as genetic
engineering, contain a new active substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases, such as HIV/AIDS, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative
disorders or autoimmune diseases and other immune dysfunctions, and officially designated orphan medicines.

. For medicines that do not fall within these categories, an applicant has the option of submitting an application for a centralized marketing
authorization to the European Commission following a favorable opinion by the EMA, as long as the medicine concerned is a significant therapeutic,
scientific or technical innovation, or if its authorization would be in the interest of public health.

. National authorization procedures. There are also two other possible routes to authorize medicinal products in several EU countries, which are
available for investigational medicinal products that fall outside the scope of the centralized procedure:

. Decentralized procedure. Using the decentralized procedure, an applicant may apply for simultaneous authorization in more than one EU country of
medicinal products that have not yet been authorized in any EU country and that do not fall within the mandatory scope of the centralized procedure.

. Mutual recognition procedure. In the mutual recognition procedure, a medicine is first authorized in one EU Member State, in accordance with the
national procedures of that country. Following this, further marketing authorizations can be sought from other EU countries in a procedure whereby
the countries concerned agree to recognize the validity of the original, national marketing authorization.
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In some cases, a Pediatric Investigation Plan (“PIP”) or a request for waiver or deferral, is required for submission prior to submitting a marketing
authorization application. A PIP describes, among other things, proposed pediatric trials and their timing relative to clinical trials in adults. A PIP will be submitted
to EMA and other EU countries, as required. The PIP will need to be submitted early during product development before marketing authorization applications are
submitted. The timing of PIP submission cannot be after initiation of pivotal trials or confirmatory (phase 3) trials. In the future we may seek pediatric approval
for AT-1501 applications in connection with renal and islet cell transplantations, which may require the submission of a PIP.

Exclusivity of New Chemical Entities and New Fixed Dose Combinations

In the EU, new chemical entities, sometimes referred to as new active substances as well as new fixed dose combinations, qualify for eight years of data
exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market exclusivity. This data exclusivity, if granted, prevents regulatory authorities in the
EU from referencing the innovator’s data to assess a generic (abbreviated) application for eight years, after which a generic application can be submitted, and the
innovator’s data may be referenced, but not approved for two years. The overall ten-year period will be extended to a maximum of eleven years if, during the first
eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific
evaluation prior to their authorization, are held to bring a significant clinical benefit in comparison with existing therapies.

Exceptional Circumstances/Conditional Approval

Orphan drugs or drugs with unmet medical needs may be eligible for EU approval under exceptional circumstances or with conditional approval. Approval
under exceptional circumstances may be applicable to orphan products and is used when an applicant is unable to provide comprehensive data on the efficacy and
safety under normal conditions of use because the indication for which the product is intended is encountered so rarely that the applicant cannot reasonably be
expected to provide comprehensive evidence, when the present state of scientific knowledge does not allow comprehensive information to be provided, or when it
is medically unethical to collect such information. Conditional marketing authorization may be applicable to orphan medicinal products, medicinal products for
seriously debilitating or life-threatening diseases, or medicinal products to be used in emergency situations in response to recognized public threats. Conditional
marketing authorization can be granted on the basis of less complete data than is normally required in order to meet unmet medical needs and in the interest of
public health, provided the risk-benefit balance is positive, it is likely that the applicant will be able to provide the comprehensive clinical data, and unmet medical
needs will be fulfilled. Conditional marketing authorization is subject to certain specific obligations to be reviewed annually.

Accelerated Review

Under the centralized procedure in the EU, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization application is 210 days (excluding
clock stops, when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions asked by the EMA’s Committee for Medicinal
Products for Human Use, or CHMP). Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is expected to be of a
major public health interest, particularly from the point of view of therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance, EMA ensures that the opinion of the CHMP is
given within 150 days, excluding clock stops.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any products for which we obtain regulatory approval. In the United States
and in other countries, sales of any products for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale will depend in part on the availability of coverage and
reimbursement from third-party payors. Third-party payors include government authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other
organizations. The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate from the process for setting the reimbursement
rate that the payor will pay for the product. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, or formulary, which might not include
all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication. Moreover, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate
reimbursement rate will be approved. Adequate third- party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an
appropriate return on our investment in product development.

Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services, in
addition to their safety and efficacy. In order to obtain coverage and reimbursement for any
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product that might be approved for sale, we may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-
effectiveness of our products, in addition to the costs required to obtain regulatory approvals. Our product candidates may not be considered medically necessary
or cost-effective. If third-party payors do not consider a product to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover the product after
approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow a company to sell its products at a profit.

The U.S. government, state legislatures and foreign governments have shown significant interest in implementing cost containment programs to limit the
growth of government-paid healthcare costs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products for
branded prescription drugs. By way of example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act
of 2010, collectively, the Affordable Care Act, contains provisions that may reduce the profitability of drug products, including, for example, increased rebates for
drugs sold to Medicaid programs, extension of Medicaid rebates to Medicaid managed care plans, mandatory discounts for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries
and annual fees based on pharmaceutical companies’ share of sales to federal healthcare programs. Some of the provisions of the Affordable Care Act have yet to
be fully implemented, while certain provisions have been subject to judicial and congressional challenges. In January 2017, Congress voted to adopt a budget
resolution for fiscal year 2017, that while not a law, is widely viewed as the first step toward the passage of legislation that would repeal certain aspects of the
Affordable Care Act. Further, on January 20, 2017, President Trump signed an Executive Order directing federal agencies with authorities and responsibilities
under the Affordable Care Act to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the Affordable Care Act that would impose
a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals
or medical devices. Congress also could consider subsequent legislation to replace elements of the Affordable Care Act that are repealed. Thus, the full impact of
the Affordable Care Act, any law replacing elements of it, or the political uncertainty surrounding its repeal or replacement on our business remains unclear.
Adoption of government controls, measures and tightening of restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures could limit payments for
pharmaceuticals.

In European countries, governments influence the price of pharmaceutical products through their pricing and reimbursement rules and control of national
healthcare systems that fund a large part of the cost of those products to consumers. Some jurisdictions operate positive and negative list systems under which
products may only be marketed once a reimbursement price has been agreed to by the government. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these
countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the cost-effectiveness of a product candidate to currently available therapies. Other member
states allow companies to fix their own prices for medicines but monitor and control company profits. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general,
particularly prescription drugs, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products. In addition, in some
countries, cross-border imports from low-priced markets exert a commercial pressure on pricing within a country.

The marketability of any products for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale may suffer if the government and third-party payors fail to
provide adequate coverage and reimbursement. In addition, the emphasis on cost containment measures in the United States and other countries has increased, and
we expect will continue to increase the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing. Coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may change at any time. Even if
favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for which we receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and
reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

If we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we may be subject to various federal and state laws targeting fraud and abuse in the
healthcare industry. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing and education programs. In addition, we may be subject to patient
privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or
paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce, or in return for, the purchase or recommendation of an item or service reimbursable under a
federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;

. federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payors that are false or
fraudulent;
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. the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, (“HIPAA”), which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit
executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

. the federal transparency laws, including the provision of the Affordable Care Act referred to as the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, that
requires drug and biologics manufacturers to disclose payments and other transfers of value provided to physicians and teaching hospitals and
ownership interests of physicians and their immediate family members;

. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”) and its implementing regulations,
which imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information; and

. state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply to items or services reimbursed by
any third-party payor, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain
circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.

The Affordable Care Act broadened the reach of the fraud and abuse laws by, among other things, amending the intent requirement of the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute and the applicable criminal healthcare fraud statutes contained within 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b. Pursuant to the statutory amendment, a person or
entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the Affordable
Care Act provides that the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute
constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims Act or the civil monetary penalties statute. Many states have adopted laws similar to
the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the referral of patients for healthcare items or services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare
and Medicaid programs.

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) which prohibits improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments
and their officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Safeguards we implement to discourage improper payments or offers of payments by our
employees, consultants, and others may be ineffective, and violations of the FCPA and similar laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other
liabilities or proceedings against us, any of which would likely harm our reputation, business, financial condition and result of operations.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject
to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid and
imprisonment, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our
results of operations.

Employees

As of March 26, 2021, Eledon had ten full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining
agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Corporate Information

On September 14, 2020, the Company acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), a Delaware Corporation, after which Anelixis became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. On January 4, 2021, the Company changed its name from Novus Therapeutics, Inc. to Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Our executive offices are located at 19900 MacArthur Boulevard, Suite 550, Irvine, California 92612. The Company also has research and development
facilities in the Boston, Massachusetts area. Our telephone number is (949) 238-8090 and our website is eledon.com. We do not incorporate the information on or
accessible through our website into this Annual Report, and you should not consider any information on, or that can be accessed through, our website as part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You are advised to read this Annual Report on Form 10-K in conjunction with other reports and documents that we file from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In particular, please read our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the SEC in connection with our
2021 annual meeting of stockholders, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and any current reports on Form 8-K that we may file from time to time. You may obtain
copies of
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these reports after the date of this annual report directly from us or from the SEC at its website at www.sec.gov. We make our periodic and current reports available
on our internet website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risk factors, as well as the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in our other public filings. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition,
results of operations and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in
this report and those we may make from time to time. You should consider all of the risk factors described in our public filings when evaluating our business.

Risks Related to Our Operations

Our short operating history and the Anelixis acquisition may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future
viability.

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company. Our ongoing operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing the Company, business
planning, raising capital, acquiring and developing technology, identifying potential product candidates. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully
manufacture drug product in large enough quantities and with stability to support additional clinical trials, execute pivotal clinical trials, obtain marketing approvals,
manufacture a commercial scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful product
commercialization. It can take many years to develop a new medicine from the time it is discovered to when it is available for treating patients. Consequently, any
predictions made about our future success or viability based on our short operating history to date may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating
history. In addition, as a result of the acquisition of Anelixis our future business, prospects, financial position and operating results could be significantly different than
those in historical periods or projected by our management.

In addition, as an early stage business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and unknown factors.
To successfully market any of our product candidates, we will need to transition from a company with a clinical development focus to a company capable of
supporting commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition.

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect that we will continue to incur losses over the next several years and may
never achieve or maintain profitability.

We have incurred significant annual net operating losses in every year since our inception. We have no products approved for commercial sale and have
not generated any revenue from product sales to date, and we continue to incur significant research and development and other general and administrative expenses
related to our ongoing operations. If AT-1501 or any future product candidates we develop are not successfully developed and approved, we may never generate
any revenue from sales of products. The Company has experienced recurring net losses and negative cash flows from operating activities since its inception. The
Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 is $22.8 million. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $114.2
million, working capital of $113.1 million and an accumulated deficit of $80.4 million. We have not generated any revenues from product sales, have not
completed the development of any product candidate and may never have a product candidate approved for commercialization. We expect it will be several years,
if ever, before we have a product candidate ready for commercialization. We have financed our operations to date primarily through sales of equity. We have
devoted substantially all of our financial resources and efforts to research and development, including preclinical studies and our clinical trials. Our net losses may
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year and will depend, in part, on the rate at which we incur expenses and our ability to generate revenue.
Net losses and negative cash flows have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital.

Although we raised approximately $108.1 million in total gross offering proceeds from our September and December 2020 financings, we anticipate that
we will continue to incur significant expenses as we:

. conduct nonclinical and clinical development of our product candidates or any future product candidate;

. seek to identify and acquire additional product candidates;
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. acquire or in-license other products and technologies;

. enter into collaboration arrangements with regards to product discovery or development;

. develop manufacturing processes;

. seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

. establish a sales, marketing, and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain marketing approval;

. maintain, expand, and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
. hire additional personnel;

. add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and planned
future commercialization efforts; and

. operate as a public company.

To become and remain profitable, we must develop and eventually commercialize a product or products with significant market potential. This will require
us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining marketing approval for these
product candidates and manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we obtain marketing approval. We may never succeed in these activities
and, even if we do, may never generate revenues that are significant or large enough to achieve profitability. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to
sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of the Company, could impair
our ability to raise capital, maintain our nonclinical and clinical development efforts, and expand our business or continue our operations and may require us to
raise additional capital that may dilute the ownership interest of common stockholders. A decline in the value of the Company could also cause stockholders to
lose all or part of their investment.

Our product candidates are in the early stages of clinical development and may not be successfully developed. If we are unable to successfully develop
and commercialize these or any other product candidate, or if we experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

We currently do not have any products that have gained regulatory approval. We have invested substantially all our efforts and financial resources in
product development, including funding our formulation and device development, manufacturing, nonclinical studies, and clinical trials. A significant portion of
our financial resources were devoted to the development of products for patients with disorders of the ear, nose, and throat, particularly our surfactant-based
product for the treatment of OM; however, in June 2020 topline results from our phase 2a clinical trial of OP0201 nasal aerosol in infants and children with acute
otitis media did not meet the primary efficacy endpoints in the trial and our board of directors initiated a review of strategic alternatives that resulted in the
acquisition of Anelixis, a privately held clinical stage biotechnology company with a single product candidate in clinical development (AT-1501) and a second
candidate in pre-clinical development (AT-2001). Our ability to generate product revenues, which we do not expect will occur for several years, if ever, will
depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more drug candidates. As a result, our business is substantially dependent
on our ability to successfully complete the development of and obtain regulatory approval for one of our or potential future additional product candidates.

We have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome many of the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in new and
rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the pharmaceutical area. For example, to execute our business plan, we will need to successfully:

. execute formulation, manufacturing, clinical, and nonclinical development activities;

. manufacture drug product at commercial scale;

. establish and confirm commercially acceptable stability (shelf-life) of our drug products;

. in-license or acquire other product candidates and advance them through clinical development;

. obtain required regulatory approvals for the development and commercialization of AT-1501 or other product candidates;

. maintain, leverage, and expand our intellectual property portfolio;
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. build and maintain robust sales, distribution and marketing capabilities, either on our own or in collaboration with strategic partners;

. gain market acceptance for any approved and marketed drug products;

. obtain and maintain adequate product pricing and reimbursement;

. develop and maintain any strategic relationships we elect to enter; and

. manage our spending as costs and expenses increase due to product manufacturing, nonclinical development, clinical trials, regulatory approvals,

post-marketing commitments, and commercialization.

If we are unsuccessful in accomplishing these objectives, we may not be able to successfully develop and commercialize our or other product candidates,
and our business will suffer.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken in response to it may result in additional disruptions to our business operations, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business and its operations, including but not limited to ongoing or planned research and development activities, have been adversely affected by the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has also caused significant disruption in the operations of third parties upon whom we rely. The COVID-19 pandemic and
actions taken by governments, businesses, and individuals in response to it, including executive orders, shelter-in-place orders and work-from-home policies, have
had effects that have and may continue to negatively impact productivity and disrupt our business. For example, we have experienced delays in certain preclinical
studies and resulting delays in data collection and have also experienced inefficiencies in planning and executing trials due to our limited ability to conduct
meetings with key third parties. In addition, in response to public health directives and orders, we have ceased all non-essential business travel and implemented
work-from-home policies for all of our employees, resulting in reduced productivity. These and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions in our operations
could negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Quarantines, shelter-in-place, executive and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other restrictions on the conduct
of business operations could occur, related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases, could also impact personnel at the third parties on whom we are highly
dependent for clinical trials as well as formulation and device development in the United States and other countries, or the timing, availability or cost of materials
we use or require to conduct our business.

If COVID-19 continues to spread in the United States, Canada and elsewhere, we may experience additional disruptions that could severely impact our
business and development activities, including, but not limited to:

. delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and contractors due to limitations in employee
resources or forced furlough of government employees;

. delays in manufacturing of our drug candidates due to increased competition for manufacturing capacity as a result of the pandemic;

. limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our development activities, including because of sickness of
employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups of people;

. refusal of the FDA to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies;

. delays in procuring drug substance and/or in manufacturing drug product due to limitations in employee resources or forced furloughs at our contract
manufacturing organizations;

. delays in initiation of future clinical trials, including delays in receiving authorization from local regulatory authorities to initiate such clinical trials;
and
. delays in enrollment and trial execution, for example, because clinical trial sites may be unable to operate normally, or patients may elect to forego

visits to medical facilities or undertake voluntary medical procedures.
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Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, including failure to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the
satisfaction of the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or
ultimately be unable to complete, the formulation and commercialization of our product candidates.

Given the early stage of development for our product candidates, the risk of failure is high. Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory
authorities for the sale of any product candidate, we must conduct nonclinical trials, and then conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and
efficacy of our product candidates in humans. Formulation and device development, nonclinical and clinical testing are all expensive activities, difficult to design
and implement, and can take years to complete. Failure can occur at any time during the development program, including during the clinical trial process. Further,
the results of nonclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates, as well as earlier generation formulations may not be predictive of the results of
later-stage clinical trials. Interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. Moreover, nonclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to
varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in nonclinical and clinical trials
have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their products. There is a risk that additional nonclinical and/or clinical safety studies will be required by
the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. and/or that subsequent studies will not match results seen in prior studies. It is impossible to
predict when or if any of our product candidates will prove effective, safe and well-tolerated in humans or will receive regulatory approval.

‘We may experience delays in our clinical trials, and we do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin or enroll subjects on time, need to be
redesigned or be completed on schedule, if at all. There can be no assurance that the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory bodies will approve investigational new
drug applications and allow us to start clinical trials for any of our product candidates in the future, including for islet cell transplant. Once a clinical trial has
commenced, there is also no assurance that the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory body will not put any of our product candidates on clinical hold. We may
experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or
commercialize our product candidates. Clinical trials may be delayed, suspended or prematurely terminated for a variety of reasons, such as:

. delay or failure in reaching agreement with the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority on a trial design that we want to execute;

. delay or failure in obtaining authorization to commence a trial or inability to comply with conditions imposed by a regulatory authority regarding the
scope or design of a clinical trial;

. delays in reaching, or failure to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or clinical trial protocols with prospective trial sites;

. delays in completing formulation development and manufacturing as a prerequisite to commencing clinical work;

. inability, delay, or failure in identifying and maintaining a sufficient number of trial sites, many of which may already be engaged in other clinical
programs;

. delay or failure in recruiting and enrolling suitable subjects to participate in a trial;

. delay or failure in having subjects complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;
. clinical sites and investigators deviating from trial protocol, failing to conduct the trial in accordance with regulatory requirements, or dropping out
of a trial;

. lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial, including the incurrence of unforeseen costs due to enrollment delays, requirements to conduct
additional clinical trials and increased expenses associated with the services of our contract research organizations (“CROs”) and other third parties;

. clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct
additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

. the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be
slower than we anticipate, or participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

. we may experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients that our product candidates are designed to target;

. our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all;
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. we may have difficulty partnering with experienced CROs and study sites that can identify patients that our product candidates are designed to target
and run our clinical trials effectively;

. regulators or IRBs may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including noncompliance with
regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

. the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

. the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be insufficient or
inadequate; or

. there may be changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions. In addition, our development and commercialization activities could be
harmed or delayed by a shutdown of the U.S. government, including the FDA. For example, a prolonged shutdown may significantly delay the
FDA's ability to timely review and process any submissions we may file or cause other regulatory delays, which could materially and adversely affect
our business.

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we are
unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are only modestly
positive, or if there are safety concerns, we may:

. be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates;
. not obtain marketing approval at all;
. obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired,;

. obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings that would reduce the potential market for our
products or inhibit our ability to successfully commercialize our products;

. be subject to additional post-marketing restrictions and/or testing requirements; or

. have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or marketing approvals. We do not know whether any of our
nonclinical studies or clinical trials will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant nonclinical or clinical trial delays also could
shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or may allow our competitors to bring products to
market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations.

If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or
prevented and expenses for the development of our product candidates could increase.

‘We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible
patients to participate in these trials to demonstrate safety and efficacy. We do not know whether the ongoing or planned clinical trials will enroll subjects in a
timely fashion, require redesign of essential trial elements or be completed on its projected schedule. In addition, competitors may have ongoing clinical trials for
product candidates that treat related or the same indications as our product candidates, and patients who would otherwise be eligible for our clinical trials may
instead enroll in clinical trials of our competitors’ product candidates. Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for our clinical trials would result in
significant delays and could require us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether.

Patient enrollment is affected by other factors including:

. the eligibility criteria for the study in question;

. the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

. the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

. the inability to identify and maintain a sufficient number of trial sites, many of which may already be engaged in other clinical trial programs,

including some that may be for the same disease indication;
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. the patient referral practices of physicians;
. the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;
. ambiguous or negative interim results of our clinical trials, or results that are inconsistent with earlier results;

. feedback from regulatory authorities, IRBs, ethics committees (“ECs”), or data safety monitoring boards, or results from earlier stage or concurrent
nonclinical and clinical trials, that might require modifications to the protocol;

. decisions by regulatory authorities, IRBs, ECs, or the Company, or recommendations by data safety monitoring boards, to suspend or terminate
clinical trials at any time for safety issues or for any other reason; and

. unacceptable risk-benefit profile or unforeseen safety issues or adverse effects.

Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased development costs for our product candidates, which would cause the value of the Company
to decline and limit our ability to obtain additional financing.

If serious adverse events or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of our product candidates, we may need to abandon or limit
our development of some of our product candidates.

If our product candidates are associated with undesirable effects in nonclinical or clinical trials or have characteristics that are unexpected, we may need to
interrupt, delay or abandon their development or limit development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other
characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective. Any occurrences of clinically significant adverse events with our
product candidates may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

AT-1501 is an early-product candidate, and the side effect profile in humans has not been fully established. Currently unknown, drug-related side effects
may be identified through ongoing and future clinical trials and, as such, these possible drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment, the ability of
enrolled subjects to complete the trial, or result in potential product liability claims.

Although we have raised significant capital, we will require additional funding to be able to complete the development of our lead drug candidate. If
we are unable to raise capital when needed, we may be forced to significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current operations, or
liquidate and cease operations altogether.

We expect our expenses to increase in parallel with our ongoing activities, particularly as we incur expenses relating to the exploration of strategic options
intended to maximize shareholder value, seek to identify new clinical candidates and potentially seek to partner, out-license or otherwise monetize our drug
candidates. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we may be forced to significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail
our current operations, or liquidate and cease operations altogether. Our funding needs may fluctuate significantly based on a number of factors, such as:

. the scope, progress, results and costs of formulation development and manufacture of drug product to support nonclinical and clinical development of
our product candidates;

. the extent to which we enter into additional collaboration arrangements regarding product discovery or development, or acquire or in-license
products or technologies;

. our ability to establish additional collaborations with favorable terms, if at all;
. the costs, timing, and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;
. the costs of future commercialization activities, including product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any of our product candidates

for which we receive marketing approval;

. revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval; and

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual
property-related claims.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting formulation development, nonclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive
and uncertain process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary
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data or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial
success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of products that we do not expect to be commercially available for several years, if at all.
Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Even if we generate positive clinical data, additional
financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise sufficient capital to fund our planned operations, we may be forced to
significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current operations, or liquidate and cease operations altogether.

Our future success depends on our ability to retain executives and key employees and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel in the future.

We are highly dependent on the product development, clinical and business development expertise of the principal members of our management, scientific
and clinical team. Although we have entered into employment agreements with our executives and key employees, each of them may terminate their employment
with us at any time. We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees. Our recent acquisition of Anelixis and the resulting
integration of the company may increase the likelihood that employees depart in the foreseeable future.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing, sales and marketing personnel is critical to our success. Due to the small size of the
Company and the limited number of employees, each of our executives and key employees serves in a critical role. The loss of the services of our executive
officers or other key employees could impede the achievement of our development and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully
implement our business strategy. Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because
of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully develop, gain regulatory approval of, and
commercialize products. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on
acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience competition for
the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and
clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating drug product, nonclinical development, clinical development, regulatory strategy, and commercial strategy. Our
consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that
may limit their availability to provide services to us. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel, our ability to pursue our growth
strategy will be limited.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates and Other L.egal Compliance Matters

If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals, or the approvals may be for a narrow indication, we may
not be able to commercialize our product candidates, and our ability to generate revenue may be materially impaired.

Our product candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to a new drug application in the United States and by other regulatory authorities outside
the United States prior to commercialization in the respective regions. The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and outside the
United States, is expensive and takes several years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type,
complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. Failure to obtain marketing approval for a product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the
product candidate. We have not received approval to market any of our product candidates from regulatory authorities in any country. We have no experience in
filing and supporting the applications necessary to gain marketing approvals for our products and may engage third-party consultants to assist in this process.
Securing marketing approval requires the submission of extensive nonclinical and clinical data, and other supporting information to regulatory authorities for each
therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Securing marketing approval also requires the submission of information about the
product formulation and manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the regulatory authorities. Our product candidates may not be
effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may preclude our
obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to
accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require additional nonclinical, clinical or other data. In addition, varying
interpretations of the data obtained from nonclinical and clinical trials could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Changes in
marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations,
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or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may also cause delays in or prevent the approval of an application.

Any marketing approval we ultimately obtain may be for fewer or more limited indications than requested or subject to restrictions or post-approval
commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable or its market potential significantly impaired. In addition, regulatory agencies may not
approve the labeling claims that are necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of our product candidates.

In order to market and sell our products in the EU and other international jurisdictions outside of the United States, we or our third-party collaborators
must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and
may require additional nonclinical, clinical or health outcome data. In addition, the time required to obtain approval may differ substantially amongst international
jurisdictions. The regulatory approval process outside the United States generally includes all the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. In addition to
regulatory approval, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that the product be approved for reimbursement before the product can be approved
for sale in that country.

If we experience delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of our product candidates, the commercial prospects for our product
candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive post-marketing regulatory requirements and could be
subject to post-marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if
we experience unanticipated problems with our products, when and if any of them are approved.

Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their testing, manufacture, recordkeeping,
labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution, are subject to comprehensive regulation that are specific to those defined by regulatory
authorities in the countries where the product is approved. In the United States and other countries that follow the International Conference on Harmonization,
these requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements, cGMP requirements
relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents, including periodic inspections by the FDA
and other regulatory authorities, requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping.

The FDA, or other regulatory authorities, may also impose requirements for costly post-marketing studies or clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the
safety or efficacy of the product. The FDA closely regulates the post-approval marketing and promotion of drugs to ensure drugs are marketed only for the
approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved labeling. The FDA imposes stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications
regarding use of their products and if we promote our products beyond their approved indications, we may be subject to enforcement action for off-label
promotion. Violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act relating to the promotion of prescription drugs may lead to investigations alleging violations of
federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, as well as state consumer protection laws.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

. restrictions on such products, manufacturers, or manufacturing processes;

. restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

. restrictions on product distribution or use;
. requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;
. warning or untitled letters;

. withdrawal of the products from the market;
. refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
. recall of products;

. fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;
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. suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

. refusal to permit the import or export of our products;
. product seizure; or
. injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Non-compliance with EU requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with requirements related to the development of products
for the pediatric population, can also result in significant financial penalties. Similarly, failure to comply with the EU’s requirements regarding the protection of
personal information can also lead to significant penalties and sanctions.

Legislation regulating the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and
commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes intended to
contain healthcare costs and modify the regulation of drug and biologic products. These and other regulatory changes could prevent or delay marketing approval
of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidates for which we obtain marketing
approval.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures and regulations will be adopted in the future. Any of these measures and regulations
could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, result in reduced demand for our product candidates or
additional pricing pressures and affect our product development, testing, marketing approvals and post-market activities.

Laws, restrictions, and other regulatory measures are also imposed by healthcare laws and regulations in international jurisdictions and in those
jurisdictions we face the same issues as in the United States regarding difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval and commercialization of our product
candidates and which may affect the prices we may obtain.

In some countries, particularly the countries of the EU, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries,
pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement or
pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available
therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed,
possibly materially.

Our business operations and relationships with healthcare providers, physicians, third-party payers, and customers will be subject to applicable anti-
kickback, fraud and abuse and other broadly applicable healthcare laws, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, program exclusion,
contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payers will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which we
receive marketing approval. Our current and future arrangements may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws that may constrain the
business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we would market, sell and distribute the products for which we receive marketing approval. Even
though we will not control referrals of healthcare services or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payers, federal and state healthcare laws are and will
be applicable to our business. Such laws include, but are not limited to federal false claims, false statements and civil monetary penalties laws, including the federal civil
False Claims Act (“FCA”), the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), patient data privacy
and security regulation, including, in the United States, HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH”), the
federal transparency requirements under the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, and analogous state, local or foreign law.

Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of promotional and marketing activities, such as:
providing free trips, free goods, sham consulting fees and grants and other monetary benefits to prescribers; reporting to pricing services inflated average
wholesale prices that were then used by federal programs to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-label promotion; and submitting inflated best price
information to the Medicaid Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid rebates. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will
comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental
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authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or
other healthcare laws and regulations.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to
significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, fines, imprisonment, exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such
as Medicare and Medicaid, additional oversight and reporting obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business are found to be
not in compliance with applicable laws, that person or entity may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government
funded healthcare programs.

Laws, restrictions, and other regulatory measures are also imposed by anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, and other healthcare laws and regulations in
international jurisdictions, and in those jurisdictions we face the same issues as in the United State regarding exposure to criminal sanctions, civil penalties,
program exclusion, contractual damages, reputational harm, and diminished profits and future earnings.

We depend on our information technology systems and those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants. Our
internal computer systems, or those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches,
disruptions, or incidents, which could result in a material disruption of our development programs or loss of data or compromise the privacy, security, integrity
or confidentiality of sensitive information related to our business and have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition or results
of operations.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential information, including intellectual property, proprietary
business information and personal information. Our internal technology systems and infrastructure, and those of our current or future third-party collaborators,
service providers, contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access or use resulting from malware, natural
disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures, denial-of-service attacks, cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions over the Internet, hacking,
phishing and other social engineering attacks, persons inside our organizations (including employees or contractors), loss or theft, or persons with access to
systems inside our organization. Attacks on information technology systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity,
and they are being conducted by increasingly sophisticated and organized foreign governments, groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise.
In addition to extracting or accessing sensitive information, such attacks could include the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks,
social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the security, confidentiality, integrity and availability of information. The prevalent use
of mobile devices that access sensitive information also increases the risk of data security incidents which could lead to the loss of confidential information or
other intellectual property. While to our knowledge we have not experienced any material system failure, accident or security breach to date, if such an event were
to occur and cause interruptions in our operations or the operations of third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors and consultants, it could result in a
material disruption of our development programs and significant reputational, financial, legal, regulatory, business or operational harm. The costs to us to mitigate,
investigate and respond to potential security incidents, breaches, disruptions, network security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs and
security vulnerabilities could be significant, and while we have implemented security measures to protect our data security and information technology systems,
our efforts to address these problems may not be successful, and these problems could result in unexpected interruptions, delays, cessation of service and other
harm to our business and our competitive position.

For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or planned clinical trials for our product candidates could result in delays in our
regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any real or perceived security breach affects our
systems (or those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants), or results in the loss of or accidental, unlawful or unauthorized
access to, use of, release of, or other processing of personally identifiable information or damage to our data or applications or other data or applications relating to
our technology or product candidates, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liabilities and the further development
of our product candidates could be delayed. Such a breach may require notification to governmental agencies, the media or individuals pursuant to various foreign,
domestic (federal and state) privacy and security laws, if applicable, including HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and its implementing rules and regulations, as
well as regulations promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission and state breach notification laws. In addition, our liability insurance may not be sufficient in
type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related incidents.
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Any failure or perceived failure by us or any third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants to comply with our privacy,
confidentiality, data security or similar obligations, or any data security incidents or other security breaches that result in the accidental, unlawful or unauthorized
access to, use of, release of, processing of, or transfer of sensitive information, including personally identifiable information, may result in negative publicity, harm
to our reputation, governmental investigations, enforcement actions, regulatory fines, litigation or public statements against us, could cause third parties to lose
trust in us or could result in claims by third parties, including those that assert that we have breached our privacy, confidentiality, data security or similar
obligations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations. To the extent we maintain
individually identifiable health information, we could be subject to fines and penalties (including civil and criminal) under HIPAA for any failure by us or our
business associates to comply with HIPAA’s requirements. Moreover, data security incidents and other security breaches can be difficult to detect, and any delay in
identifying them may lead to increased harm. While we have implemented data security measures intended to protect our information, data, information
technology systems, applications and infrastructure, there can be no assurance that such measures will successfully prevent service interruptions or data security
incidents.

European data collection is governed by restrictive regulations governing the collection, use, processing and cross-border transfer of personal
information.

We may collect, process, use or transfer personal information from individuals located in the European Economic Area in connection with our business,
including in connection with conducting clinical trials in the EEA. Additionally, if any of our product candidates are approved, we may seek to commercialize
those products in the European Economic Area. The collection and use of personal health data in the European Economic Area is governed by the provisions of the
General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) (the “GDPR”), along with other European Union and country-specific laws and regulations. The United
Kingdom and Switzerland have also adopted data protection laws and regulations. These legislative acts (together with regulations and guidelines) impose
requirements relating to having legal bases for processing personal data relating to identifiable individuals and transferring such data outside of the European
Economic Area, including to the United States, providing details to those individuals regarding the processing of their personal data, keeping personal data secure,
having data processing agreements with third parties who process personal data, responding to individuals’ requests to exercise their rights in respect of their
personal data, reporting security breaches involving personal data to the competent national data protection authority and affected individuals, appointing data
protection officers or corporate representatives, conducting data protection impact assessments and record-keeping. The GDPR imposes additional responsibilities
and liabilities in relation to personal data that we process, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms ensuring compliance with the new data
protection rules. Failure to comply with the requirements of the GDPR and related national data protection laws of the member states of the European Economic
Area and other states in the European Economic Area may result in substantial fines, other administrative penalties and civil claims being brought against us,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. European data protection authorities may interpret the
GDPR and national laws differently and may impose additional requirements, which adds to the complexity of processing personal data in or from the EEA or
United Kingdom. Guidance on implementation and compliance practices are often updated or otherwise revised.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could
harm our business.

We may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current or future
laws and regulations may impair our nonclinical or clinical development or production efforts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may
result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

Even if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, we may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-
party payers and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, we may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-
party payers and others in the medical community. In addition, physicians, patients and third-party payers may prefer other novel products to ours. If our product
candidates do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenues and we may not become profitable. The degree of
market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

. the efficacy and safety and potential advantages and disadvantages compared to alternative treatments;

. the ability to offer our products for sale at competitive prices;
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. the convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

. the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

. the strength of our marketing and distribution support;
. the availability of third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement, including patient cost-sharing programs such as copays and deductibles;
. the ability to develop or partner with third-party collaborators to develop companion diagnostics;

. the prevalence and severity of any side effects; and

. any restrictions on the use of our products together with other medications.

If our current product candidates, or a future product candidate receives marketing approval and we, or others, later discover that the product is less
effective than previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, the ability to market the product could be compromised.

Clinical trials are conducted in carefully defined subsets of patients who have agreed to enter into clinical trials. Consequently, it is possible that our
clinical trials may indicate an apparent beneficial effect of a product candidate that is greater than the actual positive effect in a broader patient population or
alternatively fail to identify undesirable side effects. If, following approval of a product candidate, we, or others, discover that the product is less effective than
previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, any of the following events could occur:

. regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product or seize the product;
. the product may be required to be recalled or changes may be required to the way the product is administered;
. additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the product;

. regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a contraindication;

. the creation of a Medication Guide outlining the risks of the previously unidentified side effects for distribution to patients;

. additional restrictions may be imposed on the distribution or use of the product via a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy;
. we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients;

. the product may become less competitive; and

. our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our operations and business. The commercial prospects for our product candidates may be
harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired.
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We currently have no marketing and sales force. If we are unable to establish effective marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with
third parties to market and sell our product candidates, we may not be able to effectively market and sell our product candidates, if approved, or generate
product revenues.

We currently do not have a marketing or sales team for the marketing, sales and distribution of any of our product candidates that are able to obtain
regulatory approval. In order to commercialize any product candidates, we must build on a territory-by-territory basis marketing, sales, distribution, managerial
and other non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services, and we may not be successful in doing so. If our product
candidates receive regulatory approval, we intend to establish an internal sales and marketing team with technical expertise and supporting distribution capabilities
to commercialize our product candidates, which will be expensive and time-consuming, will require significant attention of our executive officers to manage and
may nonetheless fail to effectively market and sell our product candidates. Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities would adversely impact the commercialization of any of our products that we obtain approval to market. With respect to the commercialization of all
or certain of our product candidates, we may choose to collaborate, either globally or on a territory-by-territory basis, with third parties that have direct sales forces
and established distribution systems, either to augment our own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our own sales force and distribution systems. If
we are unable to enter into such arrangements when needed on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any of our product
candidates that receive regulatory approval, or any such commercialization may experience delays or limitations. If we are not successful in commercializing our
product candidates, either on our own or through collaborations with one or more third parties, our future product revenue will suffer, and we may incur significant
additional losses.

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing competing products before or more
successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization of new drug products is highly competitive. We face competition with respect to our current product candidates
and will face competition with respect to any product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future, from major pharmaceutical
companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide. There are several large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
that currently market and sell products or are pursuing the development of products for the treatment of the disease indications for which we are developing our
product candidates. Some of these competitive products and therapies are based on scientific approaches that are the same as or similar to our approach, and others
are based on entirely different approaches. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research
organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and
commercialization.

Specifically, there are a number of companies developing competing anti-CD40 and anti-CD40L therapeutics, including Novartis, Boehringer Ingelheim,
Astellas, Abbvie, Sanofi, UCB, Horizon Therapeutics (post acquisition of Viela Bio), Bristol Myers Squibb and Kiniksa. All of these companies are larger than
Eledon and have significantly greater resources to develop their drug candidates.

If approved, we expect that AT-1501 will face competition from numerous FDA-approved therapeutics for the prevention of transplant rejection, including
PROGRAF®, ASTAGRAF XL®, ENVARSUS XR®, NULOJIX®, CELLCEPT®, MYFORTIC®, and numerous other branded and generic immunosuppressive
agents. Multiple companies are working on islet cell and kidney transplant solutions that may ultimately potentially negate the need for immunosuppressive agents
in these indications altogether.

If approved, we expect AT-1501 will face competition from other FDA-approved therapeutics for the treatment of LN, FSGS or IgAN, including
LUPKYNIS™ and BENLYSTA®, and numerous other branded and generic medicines are already being used “off-label” to treat them.

We expect that AT-1501 will face competition from FDA-approved therapeutics for the treatment of ALS including RADICAVA®, riluzole, and numerous
other branded and generic immunosuppressive agents. Multiple pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including but not limited to Biogen, Ionis
Pharmaceuticals, Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Orion Pharma, Orphazyme, AZTherapies, Voyager Therapeutics, Apic Bio, Brainstorm Cell Therapeutics, Cytokinetics
and Amylyx Pharmaceuticals are also working on competing ALS pharmaceutical, gene therapy and cell therapy approaches.
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Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have
fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we may develop. In addition, our ability to compete may be
affected in many cases by insurers or other third-party payers seeking to encourage the use of generic products.

Generic products are currently available, with additional generic products expected to become available over the coming years, potentially creating pricing
pressure. If our product candidates achieve marketing approval, we expect that they will be priced at a significant premium over competitive generic products.

Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resources and
expertise in research and development, manufacturing, conducting nonclinical studies, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing
approved products than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated
among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller and other early stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through
collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and
management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or
necessary for, our programs.

The insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and
reimbursement for new or current products could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

The availability and extent of reimbursement by governmental and private payers is essential for most patients to be able to afford expensive treatments.
Sales of our product candidates will depend substantially, both domestically and internationally, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates will be
paid by health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit and similar healthcare management organizations, or reimbursed by government health
administration authorities, private health coverage insurers and other third-party payers. If reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we
may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough
to allow us to establish or maintain pricing sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our investment.

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the United States, the principal
decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by CMS, as CMS decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be covered and
reimbursed under Medicare. Private payers tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. It is difficult to predict what CMS will decide with respect to
reimbursement for fundamentally novel products such as ours, as there is no body of established practices and precedents for these new products. Reimbursement
agencies in Europe may be more conservative than CMS. Outside the United States, international operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price
controls and other market regulations, and we believe the increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe, Canada, and other countries has and will
continue to put pressure on the pricing and usage of our product candidates. In many countries, the prices of medical products are subject to varying price control
mechanisms as part of national health systems. In general, the prices of medicines under such systems are substantially lower than in the United States. Other
countries allow companies to fix their own prices for medicines but monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in
pricing regulation could restrict the amount that we are able to charge for our product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the
reimbursement for our products may be reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially reasonable revenues and
profits.
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Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payers, in the United States and internationally, to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause
such organizations to limit both coverage and level of reimbursement for new products approved and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment
for our product candidates. Increased expense is incurred to cover costs of health outcome focused research used to generate data necessary to justify the value of
our products in order to secure reimbursement. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product candidates, due to the
trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on
healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high
barriers are being erected to the entry of new products into the healthcare market.

In addition, many private payers contract with commercial vendors who sell software that provide guidelines that attempt to limit utilization of, and
therefore reimbursement for, certain products deemed to provide limited benefit to existing alternatives. Such organizations may set guidelines that limit
reimbursement or utilization of our products.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of any products that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials and will face an even greater
risk if we commercially sell any products that we may develop. If we cannot successfully defend against claims that our product candidates or products caused
injuries, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in decreased demand for any product candidates
or products that we may develop; injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention; withdrawal of clinical trial participants; significant costs to
defend the related litigation; substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; loss of revenue; reduced resources of our management to pursue our
business strategy; and the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop.

We currently hold $5.0 million in product liability insurance coverage in the aggregate, with a per incident limit of $5.0 million, which may not be
adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We may need to increase our insurance coverage as we expand our clinical trials or if we commence
commercialization of our product candidates. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable
cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We contract with third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for nonclinical and clinical trials and expect to continue to do so for
commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products at an
acceptable cost and quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

We have utilized, and intend to continue utilizing, third parties to formulate, manufacture, package, and distribute clinical supplies of our drug candidates.
We have no experience in manufacturing and do not have any manufacturing facilities. Currently, we rely on third parties for the manufacturing of drug substance
and drug product for nonclinical and clinical activities. Our manufacturing vendors utilize proprietary cell culture media, cell lines, buffers, manufacturing
equipment, manufacturing supplies, and storage buffers for the manufacturing of AT-1501 and other product candidates. These materials are custom-made and
available from only a limited number of sources. Although we believe that our third-party suppliers maintain a significant supply of these materials and equipment
on hand, any sustained disruption in this supply, including as a result of operational disruptions related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, could adversely affect
our operations. We do not have any long-term agreements in place with our current suppliers. If we are required to change manufacturers, we may experience
delays associated with finding an alternate manufacturer that is properly qualified to produce supplies of our products and product candidates in accordance with
regulatory requirements and our specifications. Any delays or difficulties in obtaining or in manufacturing, packaging or distributing approved product candidates
could negatively impact our clinical trials.
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We expect to rely on third-party manufacturers or third-party collaborators for the manufacture of commercial supply of any other product candidates for
which our collaborators or we obtain marketing approval. Despite drug substance and product risk management, this reliance on third parties presents a risk that
we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products or such quantities at an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair
our development or commercialization efforts. In addition, the operations of these third parties have been and may continue to be significantly disrupted by the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Any delay or performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers of drug substance or drug products could delay
clinical development or marketing approval. We do not currently have arrangements in place for redundant supply. If suppliers cannot supply us with our
requirements, we may be required to identify alternative manufacturers, which would lead us to incur added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any such
replacement.

Formulations and devices used in early studies are not final formulations and devices for commercialization. Additional changes may be required by the
FDA or other regulatory authorities on specifications and storage conditions. These may require additional studies and may result in a delay in our clinical trials
and commercialization activities.

We also expect to rely on other third parties to label, store, and distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Any performance failure on the part of our
distributors could delay clinical development or marketing approval of our product candidates or commercialization of our products, producing additional losses
and depriving us of potential product revenue.

We may be unable to establish any agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to establish agreements
with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including:

. reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;
. the possible breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party;
. the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how; and

. the possible termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or
inconvenient for us.

The third parties we rely on for manufacturing and packaging are also subject to regulatory review, and any regulatory compliance problems with these
third parties could significantly delay or disrupt our clinical or commercialization activities. Third-party manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP
regulations or similar regulatory requirements outside the United States. Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable
regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of
approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could
significantly and adversely affect supplies of our products. Additionally, macro-economic conditions may adversely affect these third parties, causing them to
suffer liquidity or operational problems. If a key third-party vendor becomes insolvent or is forced to lay off workers assisting with our projects, our results and
development timing could suffer.

Our product candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and products for access to manufacturing
facilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us.

Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates or products may adversely affect our future profit
margins and our ability to commercialize any products that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis.

We depend on CROs and other contracted third parties to perform nonclinical and clinical testing and certain other research and development
activities. As a result, the outcomes of the activities performed by these organizations will be, to a certain extent, beyond our control.

The nature of outsourcing a substantial portion of our business will require that we rely on CROs and other contractors to assist us with research and
development, clinical testing activities, patient enrollment, data collection, and regulatory submissions to the FDA or other regulatory bodies. As a result, our
success will depend partially on the success of these third parties in performing their responsibilities. Although we intend to pre-qualify our CROs and other
contractors and we believe that the contractors selected will be fully capable of performing their contractual obligations, we cannot directly control the
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adequacy and timeliness of the resources and expertise that they apply to these activities. Additionally, macro-economic conditions may affect our development
partners and vendors, which could adversely affect their ability to timely perform their tasks. If our contractors do not perform their obligations in an adequate and
timely manner, the pace of clinical development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our drug candidates could be significantly delayed, and our
prospects could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our technology and products or if the scope of the intellectual property
protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our
ability to successfully commercialize our technology and products may be impaired.

Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in relevant countries with respect to our proprietary technology
and products. We seek to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United States and internationally that are related to our novel
technologies and product candidates. This patent portfolio includes issued patents and pending patent applications covering pharmaceutical compositions and
methods of use.

The patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a
reasonable cost or in a timely manner. We may choose not to seek patent protection for certain innovations and may choose not to pursue patent protection in certain
jurisdictions, and under the laws of certain jurisdictions, patents or other intellectual property rights may be unavailable or limited in scope. It is also possible that we will
fail to identify patentable aspects of our discovery and nonclinical development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Moreover, in some circumstances,
we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the patents, covering technology that we license from
third parties. Therefore, these patents and applications may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has in
recent years been the subject of much litigation. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States. For example, India and China do not allow patents for methods of treating the human body. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag
behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some
cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our owned or licensed patents or pending
patent applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial
value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our technology or
products, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in either the patent laws
or interpretation of the patent laws in the EU, the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent
protection.

The risks described pertaining to our patents and other intellectual property rights also apply to the intellectual property rights that we license, and any
failure to obtain, maintain and enforce these rights could have a material adverse effect on our business. In some cases, we may not have control over the
prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of the patents that we license, and our licensors may fail to take the steps that we believe are necessary or desirable in
order to obtain, maintain and enforce the licensed patents. Any inability on our part to protect adequately our intellectual property may have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial position.

The USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with several procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar
provisions during the patent application process. In certain situations, non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application,
resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the market and this
circumstance would have a material adverse effect on our business.
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In addition, we have acquired rights to AT-1501 and other product candidates through a license agreement with The ALS Therapy Development Institute,
and may in the future enter into other license agreements with third parties for other intellectual property rights or assets. These license agreements may impose
various diligence, milestone payment, royalty, and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with our obligations under these agreements, or we are subject to a
bankruptcy, we may be required to make certain payments to the licensor, we may lose the exclusivity of our license, or the licensor may have the right to
terminate the license, in which event we would not be able to develop or market products covered by the license. Additionally, the milestone and other payments
associated with these licenses will make it less profitable for us to develop our drug candidates than if we had developed the licensed technology internally.

In some cases, patent prosecution of our licensed technology may be controlled solely by the licensor. If our licensors fail to obtain and maintain patent or
other protection for the proprietary intellectual property we license from them, we could lose our rights to the intellectual property or our exclusivity with respect
to those rights, and our competitors could market competing products using the intellectual property. In certain cases, we may control the prosecution of patents
resulting from licensed technology. In the event we breach any of our obligations related to such prosecution, we may incur significant liability to our licensing
partners. If disputes over intellectual property and other rights that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements on
acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and
unsuccessful.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability, and the ability of our collaborators, to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates
and use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. There is considerable intellectual property litigation in the
biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. We may become party to, or threatened with, future adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual
property rights with respect to our products and technology, including interference or derivation proceedings before the USPTO. Third parties may assert
infringement claims against us based on existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future.

If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to continue
developing and marketing our products and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. We could be
forced, including by court order, to cease commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages,
including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing
our product candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the
confidential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business.

Because competition in our industry is intense, competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our issued patents, patents of our licensors or other
intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming.
Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents. In addition,
in a patent infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe the patent’s claims narrowly,
or refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in
any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. We may also elect to enter into license
agreements in order to settle patent infringement claims or to resolve disputes prior to litigation, and any such license agreements may require us to pay royalties
and other fees that could be significant. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure.

We may need to license certain intellectual property from third parties, and such licenses may not be available or may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms.

A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights, that are important or necessary to the development of our products. It may be
necessary for us to use the patented or proprietary technology of third parties to commercialize our products, in which case we would be required to obtain a
license from these third parties on commercially reasonable terms,
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or our business could be harmed, possibly materially. If we were not able to obtain a license, or are not able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms,
our business could be harmed, possibly materially.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for some of our technology and product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how,
technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. Any NDAs or similar agreements entered into by the Company may not be
with all relevant parties, or adequately protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets. Moreover, to the extent we enter into such agreements, any of these parties
may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such
breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to
be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate them, from using
that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor, our competitive
position would be harmed.

We may be subject to claims of misappropriation of trade secrets from former employers of Company personnel.

Many of our employees and certain of our directors were previously employed at or affiliated with research foundations or other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies. Although we try to ensure that our employees and directors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work
for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these employees or directors have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary
information, of any such employee’s or director’s former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such
claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against
such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We expect our stock price to be volatile, and the market price of our common stock may drop unexpectedly.

The market price of our common stock could be subject to significant fluctuations. Market prices for securities of early-stage pharmaceutical,
biopharmaceutical, and other life sciences companies have historically been particularly volatile. Some of the factors that may cause the market price of our
common stock to fluctuate include:

. our ability to obtain regulatory approvals for our product candidates or other product candidates, and delays or failures to obtain such approvals;
. failure of any of our product candidates, if approved, to achieve commercial success;

. issues in manufacturing our approved products, if any, or product candidates;

. the results of our current and any future clinical trials of our product candidates;

. the entry into, or termination of, key agreements, including key commercial partner agreements;

. the initiation of, material developments in, or conclusion of litigation to enforce or defend any of our intellectual property rights or defend against the
intellectual property rights of others;

. announcements by commercial partners or competitors of new commercial products, clinical progress, or the lack thereof, significant contracts,
commercial relationships, or capital commitments;

. the introduction of technological innovations or new therapies that compete with our potential products;

. the loss of key employees;

. changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if any, who cover our common stock;

. general and industry-specific economic conditions that may affect our research and development expenditures;

. changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems; and
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. period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results.

Moreover, the stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of individual
companies. These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders have often instituted class action securities litigation
against those companies. Such litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management attention and resources, which could
significantly harm our profitability and reputation.

If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our operating results and our ability to operate our
business could be harmed.

Ensuring that we will have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that we can produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. Internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).

If we are unable to successfully maintain internal controls over financial reporting, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting, and our stock price,
may be adversely affected and we may be unable to maintain compliance with the applicable stock exchange listing requirements. Additionally, as we become a
larger company, we will become subject to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires our independent auditors to document and test our internal
controls. These additional requirements are costly, and our auditors may identify control deficiencies.

Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal controls may distract the officers and employees of the Company, entail substantial costs to modify
its existing processes and take significant time to complete. These changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of the internal controls of
the Company, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase
operating costs and harm the business. In addition, investors’ perceptions that the internal controls of the Company are inadequate or that we are unable to produce
accurate financial statements on a timely basis may harm the stock price of the Company.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of the Company, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our corporate charter and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of the Company that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could
also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock.
In addition, because the board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any
attempts by stockholders to replace or remove the current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of the board of directors.
Among other things, these provisions:

. establish a classified board of directors such that not all members of the board are elected at one time;
. allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;
. limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from the board;

. establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and nominations to our board of
directors;

. require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written consent;
. limit who may call stockholder meetings;

. authorize the board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison pill” that would
work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of
directors; and
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. require the approval of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal certain
provisions of the Company’s charter or bylaws.

We do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

We expect to retain our future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be
the sole source of gain, if any, for any stockholders for the foreseeable future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

Our executive offices are located in Irvine, California. We lease approximately 5,197 square feet of office space under an operating lease that expires in
September 2021. Additionally, the Company has operating leases for four serviced office spaces in Burlington, Massachusetts that expire on June 30, 2021.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Information pertaining to legal proceedings is provided under the heading “Legal Proceedings” in Note 5, Commitments and Contingencies, to the
consolidated financial statements and is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “ELDN”.

As of March 23, 2021, there were approximately 87 stockholders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid, and do not anticipate declaring or paying in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends on our common stock. Future
determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then existing conditions,
including our operating results, financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors that our board of directors
may deem relevant.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Per §229.301 of Regulation S-K, the Company, designated a Smaller Reporting Company as defined in §229.10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, is not required to
provide the disclosure required by this Item.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to help the reader understand the results of
operations and financial condition of the Company. The Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read
in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2020. In addition to historical information,
this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created thereby. See “Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this report. Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in our forward-
looking statements as a result of many factors, including those set forth under the Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this report, as well as, in
other reports and documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring dfter the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Legacy Operations and Acquisition of Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc.

On September 14, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), a privately held clinical stage biotechnology
company developing a next generation anti-CD40L antibody as a potential treatment for organ and cellular transplantation, autoimmune diseases, and ALS.
Concurrent with the Company’s acquisition of Anelixis on September 14, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Stock Purchase
Agreement”) with certain institutional and accredited investors (the “PIPE Investors”), pursuant to which the Company issued and sold approximately 217,200
shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock (the “PIPE Shares”) for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $108.15 million (the “Financing”). The Financing was
exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder, as a transaction by an issuer not involving
a public offering. At the closing of the Financing, the Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with the
Investors. Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, on December 22, 2020 the Company registered 12,065,875 shares of common stock, which may be
issued upon conversion of the PIPE Shares on its under its effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-251305). The proceeds from the private
placement will be used to fund the Company’s operations, including to advance up to Phase 2 clinical trials of AT-1501, a humanized IgG1 anti-CD40L antibody.

Prior to our acquisition of Anelixis, we had been focused on developing novel products for patients with disorders of the ear, nose, and throat (“ENT”). In
June 2020, we announced that our lead program did not achieve statistical significance for the primary efficacy endpoints in the treatment of acute otitis media. As
a result of this failure to achieve the primary study endpoint and expected need to reformulate the investigational drug, we suspended the clinical development of
our legacy ENT assets while we assess alternate development strategies, including out-licensing or a sale of these assets. Following the June 2020 announcement,
we significantly curtailed development expenses as we sought to identify strategic alternatives that would maximize stockholder value. As a result of these
activities, we acquired Anelixis and raised additional capital in September 2020, as described above.

Other Developments
Equity Distribution Agreement

On July 23, 2018, the Company filed a prospectus supplement (the “2018 Prospectus Supplement”) under which the Company may offer and sell, from
time to time, through Piper Jaffray, up to $9.8 million in shares of its common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2019, 1,401 shares were sold under the
2018 Prospectus Supplement for gross proceeds of approximately $110,000. No shares were sold during the year ended December 31, 2020. This agreement was
terminated in 2020. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2020, no additional amounts remained available to be offered and sold under the 2018 Prospectus
Supplement.

2019 Equity Offering

On April 30, 2019, the Company agreed to sell in a registered direct offering, an aggregate 191,617 shares of its common stock to certain investors for
gross proceeds of approximately $10.7 million under its effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-226286). In a concurrent private
placement, the Company also agreed to issue to such investors Series A warrants to purchase up to 191,617 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of
$72.00 with a term
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of eighteen months (the “Series A Warrants”) and Series B warrants to purchase up 191,6172 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $72.00 with a term
of five years (the “Series B Warrants”). The Series B Warrants become exercisable only upon the exercise of the Series A Warrants. In addition, the Company
agreed to issue to H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, the placement agent for the transaction, warrants to purchase up to 9,580 shares of common stock. The placement
agent warrants have substantially the same terms as the Series A Warrants, except that the placement agent warrants have an exercise price equal to $69.6375 and
will expire on April 20, 2024. We refer to the registered direct offering and the concurrent private placement collectively as the “2019 Equity Offering.”

Warrant Exercise Transaction

On January 10, 2020 and January 15, 2020, the Company entered into warrant exercise agreements (the “Exercise Agreements”) with the holders (the
“Holders”) of its Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants (collectively, the “Warrants™), issued in the 2019 Equity Offering, pursuant to which the Holders agreed
to exercise in cash their Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 383,234 shares of the Company’s common stock at a reduced exercise price of $12.87 per share, plus
an additional $2.25 per share for the issuance of the private placement warrants for gross proceeds (before placement agent fees and expenses) to the Company of
approximately $5.8 million (the “Exercise Transaction”).

Under the Exercise Agreements, the Company also agreed to issue to the Holders new warrants to purchase up to 383,234 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $12.96 per share, with an exercise period of five and a half years (the “Private Placement Warrants”). The Private Placement
Warrants transaction subsequently closed and the Private Placement Warrants were issued on January 14, 2020 with respect to the Warrants exercised on
January 10, 2020 and on or about January 17, 2020, with respect to the Warrants exercised on January 15, 2020. In addition, the Company agreed to issue to the
placement agent warrants to purchase up to 19,162 shares of common stock, representing 5.0% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock issued in the
Exercise Transaction. The placement agent warrants have substantially the same terms as the Private Placement Warrants issued to the Holders, except that the
placement agent warrants have an exercise price equal to $18.90. A warrant inducement expense of $4.8 million was incurred which was determined using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and was calculated as the difference between the fair value of the Warrants prior to, and immediately after, the reduction in the
exercise price on the date of repricing in addition to the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants issued.

Common Stock Exchange Agreements

On February 13, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P,,
Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P. and Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P. (the “Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Exchanging
Stockholders exchanged (the “February Exchange”) 210,888 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, for 3,796 shares of newly
designated Series X Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series X Preferred Stock”). The Company agreed to reimburse the Exchanging Stockholders for their
expenses in connection with the Exchange up to a total of $25,000, which was recorded as operating expense in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss.

On February 13, 2020, in connection with the February Exchange, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation setting forth the preferences, rights and
limitations of the Series X Preferred Stock with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. Each share of Series X Preferred Stock will be convertible into
55.5556 shares of common stock at the option of the holder at any time; subject to certain limitations, including, that the holder will be prohibited from converting
Series X Preferred Stock into common stock if, as a result of such conversion, the holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own a number of shares of
common stock above a conversion blocker, which is initially set at 9.99% of the total common stock then issued and outstanding immediately following the
conversion of such shares of Series X Preferred Stock. In the event of the Company’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of Series X Preferred Stock
will participate pari passu with any distribution of proceeds to holders of common stock. Holders of Series X Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends on
shares of Series X Preferred Stock equal (on an as-if-converted-to-common stock basis) to and in the same form as dividends actually paid on the common stock or
other junior securities of the Company. Shares of Series X Preferred Stock will generally have no voting rights, except as required by law and except that the
consent of a majority of the holders of the outstanding Series X Preferred Stock will be required to amend the terms of the Series X Preferred Stock.

On December 31, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Series X Exchange Agreement”) with Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P.,
Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P., Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P., MSI BVF SPV, L.L.C. (the “BVF Exchanging Stockholders”) and Cormorant
Global Healthcare Master Fund, LP (together with the BVF Exchanging Stockholders, the “Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Exchanging
Stockholders
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exchanged (the “Series X Exchange) 344,666 shares of the Company’s common stock, for 6,203.98 shares of Series X Preferred Stock.

In addition, on December 31, 2020 the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Warrant Exchange Agreement,” and together with the Series X
Exchange Agreement, the “Exchange Agreements”) with the BVF Exchanging Stockholders, pursuant to which the BVF Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the
“Warrant Exchange,” and together with the Series X Exchange, “the Exchanges™) 509,117 shares of the Common Stock for one or more pre-funded warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 509,117 shares of the Common Stock at a nominal exercise price (the “Warrants”).

Following the Exchanges, the Company will have 14,306,614 shares of Common Stock outstanding and 6,203.98 shares of Series X Preferred Stock
outstanding, which are convertible into 344,663 shares of Common Stock (after rounding for fractional shares)

September 2020 Stock Purchase Agreement

On September 14, 2020, Eledon entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional and accredited investors
(the “Investors™). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Eledon agreed to sell an aggregate of approximately 199,112 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $99.1 million (collectively, the “Financing”). Eledon had commitments for an additional $9.0 million in equity
financing that was contingent upon the satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, including stockholder approval of the issuance of the Company’s
common stock upon the conversion of the Company’s X1 Preferred Stock and the effective registration of its common stock. Subject to stockholder approval, each
share of Series X1 Preferred Stock was convertible into 55.5556 shares of Common Stock, as described below. The preferences, rights and limitations applicable to
the Series X1 Preferred Stock are set forth in the Certificate of Designation, as filed with the SEC. The Financing was exempt from registration pursuant to Section
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder, as a transaction by an issuer not involving a public offering. The Investors have acquired
the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends have been affixed to the
securities issued in this transaction.

On December 18, 2020, the Company held a special meeting of stockholders (the “Special Meeting”). At the Special Meeting, the Company’s
stockholders approved the issuance of the Company’s common stock, upon conversion of the Company’s Series X1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share,
issued in September 2020.

On December 23, 2020, the Company sold 1,004,111 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $9.0 million that was contingent upon the
satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, as described above.

Reverse Stock-Split

On October 5, 2020, the Company effected a reverse stock-split of its issued and outstanding common stock and options for common stock at a ratio of
one-for-eighteen. The Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware effecting the
reverse stock-split. The discussion in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations gives retroactive effect to the
reverse stock-split for all periods presented.

COVID-19 Impact

The COVID-19 pandemic and resulting global disruptions have adversely affected our business and operations, including, but not limited to, the operations
of third parties upon whom we rely. The effects of executive and similar government orders, shelter-in-place orders and our work-from-home policies may
negatively impact our productivity and disrupt our business. Although the impacts of COVID-19 have not been material to-date, we have experienced delays in
certain preclinical studies and resulting delays in data collection and have also experienced inefficiencies in planning and executing trials due to our limited ability
to conduct meetings with key third parties. In addition, in response to public health directives and orders, we have ceased all non-essential business travel and
implemented work-from-home policies for all of our employees, resulting in reduced productivity and limited business development and investor relations
activities. The magnitude of such effects which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on our ability to conduct our
business in the ordinary course. These and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions in our operations could negatively impact our business, operating results
and financial condition.
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The COVID-19 pandemic and resulting global disruptions have caused significant volatility in financial and credit markets. We have utilized a range of
financing methods to fund our operations in the past; however, current conditions in the financial and credit markets may limit the availability of funding or
increase the cost of funding. Due to the rapidly evolving nature of the global situation, it is not possible to predict the extent to which these conditions could
adversely affect our liquidity and capital resources in the future.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date
of the financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and
events, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

Business Combinations

Accounting for acquisitions requires extensive use of estimates and judgment to measure the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets
acquired, including in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) and liabilities assumed. Additionally, the Company must determine whether an acquired
entity is considered a business or a set of net assets because the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired can only be recognized as
goodwill in a business combination. The Company accounted for the acquisition of Anelixis as a business combination under the acquisition method of
accounting. Consideration paid to acquire Anelixis was measured at fair value and included the exchange of Anelixis’ common stock. The allocation of the
purchase price resulted in recognition of intangible assets related to goodwill and IPR&D. Acquired IPR&D is recognized at fair value and initially characterized
as an indefinite-lived intangible asset, irrespective of whether the acquired IPR&D has an alternative future use. The operating activity for Anelixis, the acquiree
for accounting purposes, was immediately integrated with Eledon post-acquisition, therefore it is not practical to segregate results of operations related specifically
to Anelixis since the date of acquisition.

During the measurement period, which extends no later than one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record certain adjustments to the
carrying value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. After the measurement period, all adjustments are recorded
in the consolidated statements of operations as operating expenses or income.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value of the net assets acquired under the acquisition method of accounting.
Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment as of October 1 of each year or earlier if indicators of impairment exist that would, more likely than not,
reduce the fair value from its carrying amount. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $1.9 million of goodwill impairment which was
included in the consolidated statements of operations. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company performs its goodwill impairment analysis at the reporting unit level, which aligns with the Company’s reporting structure and availability
of discrete financial information. The Company performs its annual impairment analysis by either comparing the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its
carrying amount or doing a qualitative assessment of a reporting unit’s fair value from the last quantitative assessment to determine if there is potential impairment.
The Company may do a qualitative assessment when the results of the previous quantitative test indicated the reporting unit’s estimated fair value was significantly
in excess of the carrying value of its net assets and it does not believe there have been significant changes in the reporting unit’s operations that would significantly
decrease its estimated fair value or significantly increase its net assets. If a quantitative assessment is performed the evaluation includes management estimates of
cash flow projections based on internal future projections and/or use of a market approach by looking at market values of comparable companies. Key assumptions
for these projections include revenue growth, future gross and operating margin growth, and its weighted cost of capital and terminal growth rates. The revenue
and margin growth are based on increased sales of new products as the Company maintains investments in research and development. Additional assumed value
creators may include increased efficiencies from capital spending. The resulting cash flows are discounted using a weighted average cost of capital. Operating
mechanisms and requirements to ensure that growth and efficiency assumptions will ultimately be
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realized are also considered in the evaluation, including timing and probability of regulatory approvals for Company products to be commercialized. The
Company’s market capitalization is also considered as a part of its analysis.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include personnel and facility-related expenses, outside contracted services including clinical trial costs,
manufacturing and process development costs, research costs and other consulting services and non-cash stock-based compensation. Research and development
costs are expensed as incurred. Amounts due under contracts with third parties may be either fixed fee or fee for service, and may include upfront payments,
monthly payments and payments upon the completion of milestones or receipt of deliverables. Non-refundable advance payments under agreements are capitalized
and expensed as the related goods are delivered or services are performed.

The Company’s contracts with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the on-going development of potential products. The financial
terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows to its vendors. Payments under the
contracts depend on factors such as the achievement of certain events, successful enrollment of patients, and completion of portions of the clinical trial or similar
conditions. The Company’s accrual for clinical trials is based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with clinical trial
centers and clinical research organizations. These contracts may be terminated by the Company upon written notice and the Company is generally only liable for
actual effort expended by the organizations to the date of termination, although in certain instances the Company may be further responsible for termination fees
and penalties. The Company estimates its research and development expenses and the related accrual as of each balance sheet date based on the facts and
circumstances known to the Company at that time. There have been no material adjustments to the Company’s prior period accrued estimates for clinical trial
activities through December 31, 2020.

Stock-Based Compensation

For stock options granted to employees and directors, the Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the grant-date
estimated fair value. The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using assumptions which are subjective and
require significant judgment and estimation by management. The risk-free rate assumption was based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon bonds
with an equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on historical volatilities of a group of comparable industry companies whose share prices
are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on companies in the pharmaceutical industry. The expected term of stock options represents the
weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to be outstanding. Because the Company does not have historical exercise behavior, the Company
determined the expected life assumption using the simplified method for stock options granted to employees, which is an average of the options ordinary vesting
period and the contractual term. For stock options granted to the board of directors, the Company determined the expected life assumption using the simplified
method as the starting point with an average period of twelve (12) months added to take into account for the extended range of time of 12 to 18 months vested
stock options granted to board of directors may be exercised upon termination. The expected dividend assumption was based on the Company’s history and
expectation of dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes
forfeitures on an actual basis and as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based compensation.

Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSU”) are measured and recognized based on the quoted market price
of our common stock on the date of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to nonemployees is recognized based on the estimated fair value of the stock options
on their grant date, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The awards generally vest over the period the Company expects to receive services
from the nonemployees. Similar to stock options granted to employees, the fair value of stock options granted nonemployees, determined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, involves assumptions that are subjective and require significant judgment and estimation by management. The risk-free rate assumption was
based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon bonds with an equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on historical volatilities of
a group of comparable industry companies whose share prices are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on companies in the pharmaceutical
industry. The expected term of stock options represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to be outstanding. Because the Company
does not have historical exercise behavior on stock options granted to nonemployees, the Company determined the contractual term is the appropriate period for
expected life on stock options granted to nonemployees. The expected dividend assumption was based on the Company’s history and expectation of
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dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes forfeitures on an
actual basis and as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based compensation.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The following table provides comparative results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019 $ Variance % Variance

Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 6,131 $ 8,128 $ (1,997) -25%
General and administrative 10,052 6,056 3,996 66%
Restructuring expense 2,282 — 2,282 100%
Goodwill impairment — 1,867 (1,867) -100%
Total operating expenses 18,465 16,051 2,414 15%
Loss from operations (18,465) (16,051) (2,414) 15%
Other income (expense), net 79 40 39 98%
Warrant inducement expense (4,829) — (4,829) 100%
Loss before income tax benefit (23,215) (16,011) (7,204) 45%
Income tax benefit 404 — 404 100%
Net loss and other comprehensive loss $ (22,811) $ (16,011) $ (6,800) 42%

Research and Development Expenses

The decrease in research and development expenses of $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to decreases in clinical costs
of $1.5 million and formulation development costs of $1.5 million, as well as decreases in personnel costs of $84,000, travel and meetings expense of $82,000, and
miscellaneous operating costs of $2,000. The decreases were partially offset by increases in stock-based compensation expense and consulting costs of $911,000
and $247,000, respectively. The decreases were made following the completion of our Phase 2a study of our legacy lead program in acute otitis media and the
subsequent suspension of development as we assessed strategic options. We expect our research and development costs to increase in future periods as we proceed
with the development of AT-1501.

General and Administrative Expenses

The increase in general and administrative expenses of $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to increases in merger related
costs of $2.9 million as a result of the Anelixis acquisition and $441,000 in administrative costs associated with operating a public company, as well as increases in
stock-based compensation expense and general operating costs of $953,000 and $80,000, respectively. The increases were offset by a decrease in litigation costs of
$281,000, as well as decreases in travel and meetings expense and personnel costs of $44,000 and $5,000, respectively. Following the completion of Anelixis
acquisition, we expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in future periods, as we have a larger headcount and incur expenses relating to the
development of a larger product pipeline.

Restructuring Expense

On June 11, 2020, following the prior announcement of topline results of the Phase 2a Clinical Trial of OP0201 in acute otitis media, the Board of the
Company approved a reduction in force. The restructuring was completed on June 30, 2020. Additionally, on September 3, 2020, the Board of the Company
accepted the resignation of Gregory Flesher as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board, effective as of the close of business on
September 4, 2020. Furthermore, following the acquisition of Anelixis, the severance terms of certain terminated employees were modified. The Company
incurred charges totaling $2.3 million for the estimated cash payments related to employee separation costs, including severance and post-employment health
benefits.
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Goodwill Impairment

The Company performed a goodwill impairment test as of December 31, 2019 and determined that the fair value of its goodwill was below its carrying
value. As a result, the Company recognized $1.9 million of goodwill impairment. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Other Income, Net

The change in other income, net was due to miscellaneous income of $35,000 related to disgorgement of profits on prohibited stock transactions by an
investor, a decrease in realized losses on foreign currency translation of $22,000, and a decrease in VAT tax of $3,000, partially offset by a decrease in interest

income of $21,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Warrant Inducement Expense

The Company recognized warrant inducement expense of $4.8 million as a result of the Warrant Exercise Transaction in addition to the fair value of the

Private Placement Warrants issued. (See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this filing).

Income Tax Benefit

The Company recognized an income tax benefit of $404,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 due to the current year change in deferred tax liability

for the acquired IPR&D related to the Anelixis acquisition.

Pro Forma Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The following table provides pro forma combined financial information presented to illustrate the estimated effects of the Anelixis acquisition based on
the historical financial statements and accounting records of the Company and Anelixis after giving effect to the acquisition. This pro forma information is not
necessarily indicative either of the combined results of operations that actually would have been realized by us had the Anelixis acquisition been consummated at
the beginning of the period for which the pro forma information is presented, or of future results. Additionally, the pro forma combined financial information does

not reflect any merger-related expenses.

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019 $ Variance % Variance
Revenue $ 120 $ 500 (380) (76)%
Operating expenses
Research and development 9,489 11,441 (1,952) 17)%
General and administrative 8,317 7,585 732 10%
Restructuring expense 2,282 — 2,282 100%
Goodwill impairment — 1,867 (1,867) 100%
Total operating expenses 20,088 20,893 (805) )%
Loss from operations (19,968) (20,393) 425 2)%
Other income, net 79 40 39 98%
Warrant inducement expense (4,829) — (4,829) 100%
Loss before income tax provision (24,718) (20,353) (4,365) 21%
Income tax benefit 404 — 404 100%
Net loss and other comprehensive loss $ (24,314) % (20,353) (3,961) 19%
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Revenue

The decrease in revenue of $380,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 was due to the difference in amount Anelixis earned from a research grant.
Anelixis had a $944,000 research grant agreement, which contained four research and productivity milestones. The current phase, which earned Anelixis $120,000,
was the fourth and final phase of this agreement.

Research and Development Expenses

The decrease in research and development expenses of approximately $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to decreases
in clinical costs and formulation development costs of approximately $2.2 million and $1.2 million, respectively, as well as a decrease in travel and meetings
expense of $82,000. The decreases were partially offset by an increase in stock-based compensation costs of $911,000, personnel costs of $343,000, consulting
services of $232,000, and $13,000 in general operating costs. As noted above, we expect research and development expenses to increase in future periods.

General and Administrative Expenses

The increase in general and administrative expenses of $732,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to increases in stock-based
compensation costs of $953,000 and costs associated with operating a publicly traded company of $510,000. The increase was offset by decreases in litigation
costs of $281,000, general operating costs of $245,000, personnel costs of $161,000, and travel and meetings expense of $44,000. As noted above, we expect our
general and administrative expenses to increase in future periods.

Restructuring Expense

On June 11, 2020, following the prior announcement of topline results of the Phase 2a Clinical Trial of OP0201 in acute otitis media, the Board of the
Company approved a reduction in force. The restructuring was completed on June 30, 2020. Additionally, on September 3, 2020, the Board of the Company
accepted the resignation of Gregory Flesher as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board, effective as of the close of business on
September 4, 2020. Furthermore, following the acquisition of Anelixis, the severance terms of certain terminated employees were modified. The Company
incurred charges totaling $2.3 million for the estimated cash payments related to employee separation costs, including severance and post-employment health
benefits.

Other Income, Net

The change in other income, net was due to miscellaneous income of $35,000 related to disgorgement of profits on prohibited stock transactions by an
investor, a decrease in realized losses on foreign currency translation of $22,000, and a decrease in VAT tax of $3,000, offset by a decrease in interest income of
$21,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Warrant Inducement Expense

The Company recognized warrant inducement expense of $4.8 million as a result of the Warrant Exercise Transaction in addition to the fair value of the
Private Placement Warrants issued. (See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this filing).

Income Tax Benefit

The Company recognized an income tax benefit of $404,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 due to the current year change in deferred tax liability.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $114.2 million, consisting of readily available cash and cash equivalents in
bank accounts and an accumulated deficit of $80.4 million. While we believe our cash and cash equivalents are not subject to excessive risk, we maintain
significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents at one or more financial institutions that are in excess of federally insured limits. To date, our operations have
been financed primarily by net proceeds from the sale of preferred and common stock and warrants, the issuance of convertible promissory notes.
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We do not have any approved products for commercial sale and have never generated revenue from product sales, and have incurred significant net losses
since our inception and expect to continue to incur net operating losses for the foreseeable future. We do not expect to receive any revenue from any product
candidates that we develop unless and until we obtain regulatory approval and commercialize our product candidates or enter into collaborative arrangements with
third parties. Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist of research and development expenses and general and administrative expenses.
Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted by the timing of when we pay or prepay these expenses. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with
our ongoing activities, particularly as we expand our clinical program with AT-1501, continue the research and development of, and seek marketing approval for,
our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses
related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution.

We will continue to require additional financing in order to advance our drug product through clinical development, to manufacture, obtain regulatory
approval for and to commercialize our product candidates, to develop, acquire or in-license other potential product candidates, and to fund operations for the
foreseeable future. Therefore, we will seek to raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including potentially
collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements. Adequate additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all.
Any such failure to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on our financial condition and on our ability to pursue our business plans and
strategies, and may cause us to delay the scope of or suspend one or more of our clinical trials, research and development programs or commercialization efforts,
out-license intellectual property rights to our product candidates or sell unsecured assets, or a combination of the above. Any of these actions could materially
harm our business. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders’ ownership interests will
be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholders’ rights. Debt financing, if available,
would result in fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as
incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise funds
through collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue
streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. Please see the section of this Annual Report titled
“Risk Factors” for additional risks associated with our substantial capital requirements and the challenges we may face in raising capital.
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We plan to continue to fund losses from operations and capital funding needs through cash on hand and future equity or debt financings, as well as
potential additional collaborations or strategic partnerships with other companies. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt could result in additional
dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in debt service obligations and could result in operating and financing covenants that
would restrict our operations.

See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the
caption “Recent Developments” for a discussion of additional sources of liquidity, including the 2019 Equity Offering, the Exercise Transaction and the Financing.

Our primary uses of capital are, and we expect will continue to be, funding research efforts and the development of our product candidates, compensation
and related expenses, hiring additional staff (including clinical, scientific, operational, financial, and management personnel) and costs associated with operating as
a public company. We expect to incur substantial expenditures in the foreseeable future for the development and potential commercialization of our product
candidates.

Cash Flows

The following table provides a summary of our net cash flow activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Net cash used in operating activities $ (15,212) $ (13,857)
Net cash provided by investing activities 11,035 —
Net cash provided by financing activities 109,581 9,676
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 105,404  $ (4,181)

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted primarily of our net loss of $22.8 million, partially offset by non-cash
items consisting primarily of depreciation and amortization of $183,000, warrant inducement expense of $4.8 million, net deferred income taxes of $404,000, and
stock-based compensation totaling $3.2 million. Additionally, cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 reflected a net decrease in
cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $180,000, due to a decrease in operating lease liability.

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted primarily of our net loss of $16.0 million, partially offset by non-cash
items consisting primarily of depreciation and amortization of $182,000, a goodwill impairment charge of $1.9 million, and stock-based compensation totaling
$1.3 million. Additionally, cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 reflected a net decrease in cash from changes in operating assets
and liabilities of $1.2 million, due to a decrease in our accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $1.4 million and a decrease in our operating lease liability of
$165,000, offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $354,000.

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of cash and cash equivalents received from the acquisition of
Anelixis.

There was no cash provided by or used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was comprised of $95.2 million in net proceeds from the 2020 Purchase
Agreement for the sale of 199,112 shares of Series X1 preferred stock, $5.4 million in net proceeds from the exercise of warrants by stockholders to purchase
approximately 0.4 million shares of common stock, and $9.0 million in net proceeds for the sale of approximately 1.0 million shares of common stock, offset by
$25,000 of cash paid in connection with the cancellation of common stock related to the Company’s reverse stock-split.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was comprised of $9.6 million in net proceeds from the 2019 Equity
Offering for the sale of approximately 3.4 million shares of common stock and $107,000 in net proceeds from the 2018 Prospectus for the sale of approximately

25,000 shares of common stock.
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Contractual Obligations

Per §229.303 of Regulation S-K, the Company, designated a Smaller Reporting Company as defined in §229.10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, is not required to
provide the disclosure required by this Item.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Per §229.305 of Regulation S-K, the Company, designated a Smaller Reporting Company as defined in §229.10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, is not required to
provide the disclosure required by this Item.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes listed under Part IV,
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are set forth beginning on page F-1 immediately following the signature
page hereof and incorporated by reference herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2020, our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company
in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures,
no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment
in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective in alerting them in a timely manner to material information required to be disclosed in our periodic reports filed with the SEC.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the preparation and
fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
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Our management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO Framework™) in its 2013 Internal
Control—Integrated Framework. Management believes that the COSO Framework is a suitable framework for its evaluation of financial reporting because it is
free from bias, permits reasonably consistent qualitative and quantitative measurements of our internal control over financial reporting, is sufficiently complete so
that those relevant factors that would alter a conclusion about the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting are not omitted and is relevant to an
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, our management has concluded that as of December 31, 2020, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

As a non-accelerated filer, we are not required to provide an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting issued by the Company’s
independent registered accounting firm.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter
ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

On March 30, 2021, the Company entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement (the “Sale Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies) to sell shares of
the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, having aggregate sales proceeds of up to $75,000,000, from time to time, through an “at the market”
equity offering program under which Jefferies will act as sales agent.

Under the Sale Agreement, the Company will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number of shares to be issued, the time period during
which sales are requested to be made, limitation on the number of shares that may be sold in any one trading day and any minimum price below which sales may
not be made. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Sale Agreement, Jefferies may sell the shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market offering” as
defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including sales made directly on The Nasdaq Capital Market or on any other
existing trading market for the common stock. The Company and Jefferies may each terminate the Sale Agreement at any time as set forth in the Sale Agreement.
Under the terms of the Sale Agreement, the Company may also sell shares to Jefferies acting as principal for Jefferies’ own account.

The compensation to Jefferies for sales of the Company’s common stock will be an amount equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of any shares of common
stock sold under the Sale Agreement. The Company has no obligation to sell any shares under the Sale Agreement, and may at any time suspend solicitation and
offers under the Sale Agreement.

The shares will be issued pursuant to a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 to be filed with the SEC. No sales may be made under the registration
statement until it has been declared effective by the SEC.

The foregoing description of the Sale Agreement is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such agreement, a copy of
which is filed herewith as Exhibit 1.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART II1

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our proxy statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “2021 Proxy Statement”), which we expect to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020,
including under headings “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers and Executive Compensation—Executive
Officers,” “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,” “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Director
Nomination Process” and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Committees of the Board of Directors”.

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy of the code is available on the
Corporate Governance section of our website, which is located at http://ir.eledon.com/corporate-governance/governance-overview. We intend to disclose on our
website any amendments to, or waivers from, the code of business conduct and ethics that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of
Item 5.05 of Form 8-K within four business days following the date of the amendment or waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2021 Proxy Statement, including under headings
“Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation,” “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Oversight of Risk”.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2021 Proxy Statement, including under headings
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2021 Proxy Statement, including under headings “Board
of Directors and Corporate Governance—Related Person Transactions,” “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance,” and “Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance—Committees of the Board of Directors”.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2021 Proxy Statement, including under headings
“Proposal No. 2—Ruatification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.
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Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

M

@

®3)

Exhibit
Number

Financial Statements:

PART IV

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are set forth
beginning on page F-1 immediately following the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financial Statement Schedules:

The financial statement schedules are omitted as they are either not applicable or the information required is presented in the financial statements
and notes thereto under Part I, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Exhibits:

Exhibit Description

1.1

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

Open Market Sales Agreement by and between the Registrant
and Jefferies, LLC dated March 30, 2021

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 14, 2020, by
and among Novus Therapeutics, Inc., Nautilus Merger Sub 1,

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of
Novus Therapeutics, Inc. (effecting, among other things a
reverse stock-split), filed with the Secretary of the State of
Delaware on May 9, 2017

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of
Novus Therapeutics, Inc. (effecting, among other things a
change in the corporation’s name to “Novus Therapeutics,
Inc.”), filed with the Secretary of the State of Delaware on
May. 9, 2017

Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Novus Therapeutics, Inc., (effecting, among
other things a reverse stock-split) effective as of October 5,
2020

Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of

Incorporated by Reference Filed
Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
X
8-K 001-36620 2.1 September 15, 2020
8-K 001-36620 3.1 September 26, 2014
8-K 001-36620 3.1 May 15, 2017
8-K 001-36620 3.2 May 15, 2017
8-K 001-36620 3.1 October 6, 2020
8-K 001-36620 3.1 January 5, 2021
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312520246314/d26397dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312514354857/d793658dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312517170677/d393884dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312517170677/d393884dex32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312520264806/d18987dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000110465921000921/tm211620d1_ex3-1.htm

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Incorporated by Reference Filed
Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
3.6 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, 8-K 001-36620 3.2 January 5, 2021
Inc.
3.7 Certificate of Designations of Series X Convertible 8-K 001-36620 3.1 February 19, 2020
Preferred Stock
3.8 Certificate of Designations of Series X1 Convertible 8-K 001-36620 3.1 September 15, 2020
Preferred Stock
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate 8-A/A 001-36620 4.1 June 23, 2017
4.2 Form of Warrant 8-K 001-36620 4.1 May 2, 2019
4.3 Form of Placement Agent Warrant 8-K 001-36620 4.2 May 2, 2019
4.4 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant 8-K 001-36620 4.1 January 16, 2020
4.5 Description of Securities X
10.2+* Form of Indemnification Agreement 8-K 001-36620 10.1 September 15, 2020
10.3 Lease Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2015, by and 10-Q 001-36620 10.2 August 9, 2017
between The Irvine Company LLC and Otic Pharma, Inc.
10.4 First Amendment to L.ease Agreement, dated April 19, 2018, 10-Q 001-36620 10.1 August 7, 2018
by and between The Irvine Company LLC and Novus
Therapeutics, Inc.
10.5 Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan 10-K 001-36620 10.11 April 2, 2018
10.6 Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-36620 10.2 August 7, 2018
10.7 Novus Therapeutics, Inc., 2014 Employee Stock Purchase 10-Q 001-36620 10.3 August 7, 2018
Plan
10.8* Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 9, X
2020, between Novus Therapeutics, Inc. and David-
Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
10.9 Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2021, X
between Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Jon Kuwahara
10.10 Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 15, 2021, X
between Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Paul Little
10.11 Novus Therapeutics, Inc., 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan X
16.1 Letter from Ernst & Young LLP, dated July 11, 2019 8-K 001-36620 16.1 July 12, 2019
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant 10-K 001-36620 21.1 March 17, 2020
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312517211880/d406180dex34.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312520041903/d888744dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312520246314/d26397dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312517211880/d406180dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312519135059/d740901dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312519135059/d740901dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312520008426/d873828dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312517252847/d406704dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001404281/000119312517252847/d406704dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000156459018019519/nvus-ex101_165.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000156459018007314/nvus-ex1011_429.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000156459018019519/nvus-ex102_213.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000156459018019519/nvus-ex103_212.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000119312519193205/d41118dex161.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1404281/000156459020011260/nvus-ex211_11.htm

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Incorporated by Reference Filed
Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
23.1 Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LLP, independent X
registered public accounting firm
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to X
Rules 13a-14(a)_and 15d-14(a)_under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to X
Rules 13a-14(a)_and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1# Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 X
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2# Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 X
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE = XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Document
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan

Schedules to and certain portions of these exhibits have
been omitted pursuant to Item 601 (b)(2) of Regulation S-
K. The omitted information is not material and may cause
competitive harm to the Registrant if publicly disclosed.

These certifications are not deemed filed by the SEC and
are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing we
make under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, irrespective of any general
incorporation language in any filings.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.

David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer
and Director (Principal

Executive Officer)

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ Paul Little

Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D. Chief Executive Officer and Director March 30, 2021
David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D. (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Paul Little Chief Financial Officer March 30, 2021
Paul Little (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Jon S. Kuwahara Senior Vice President Finance & Administration March 30, 2021
Jon S. Kuwahara (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Keith A. Katkin Chairman of the Board of Directors March 30, 2021
Keith A. Katkin
/s/ Gary A. Lyons Director March 30, 2021
Gary A. Lyons
/s/ John S. McBride Director March 30, 2021
John S. McBride
/s/ Walter Ogier Director March 30, 2021
Walter Ogier
/s/ June Lee, M.D. Director March 30, 2021
June Lee, M.D.
/s/ Steven Perrin President, Director March 30, 2021

Steven Perrin
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. Business Combination
Critical Audit Matter Description

As described in Notes 1, 2, 4, 7 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, on September 14, 2020, the Company acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc.
(“Anelixis”) pursuant to a merger agreement. The Company issued to the stockholders of Anelixis 175,488 shares of common stock and 140,026 shares of Series
X1 Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock (“Preferred Stock™). In addition, the Company assumed outstanding Anelixis stock options and warrants and replaced
them with the Company’s warrants and stock options. The Company applied the acquisition method of accounting to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities of
Anelixis. The allocation of the purchase price included an identified intangible asset that consisted of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) with an
estimated fair value of $32.4 million related to
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Anelixis’ clinical development program of AT-1501. The estimated fair value of the IPR&D was determined by management based on an external valuation
specialists’ analysis of replacement costs to recreate AT-1501 in its current clinical stage.

Given that the accounting for the transaction required management to make significant judgments in (1) assessing whether the acquisition should be accounted for
as a business combination or asset acquisition, (2) determining the accounting acquirer, and (3) estimating the fair value of the acquired IPR&D intangible asset,
auditing the transaction was challenging and complex as it required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to
involve a valuation specialist.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the accounting for the transaction included the following, among others, obtaining an understanding of management’s assessment
of the accounting treatment for the transaction through inspection of the merger agreement and evaluation of the Company’s analysis which considered the
significant terms of the merger agreement and the relevant accounting guidance. To test the estimated fair value of the acquired IPR&D intangible asset, we
evaluated the reasonableness of the valuation methodology, with the assistance of a valuation specialist, and tested the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data used by management to develop the assumptions. In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of management’s disclosures of the Anelixis
business combination.

Accounting and Presentation of Series X1 Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock
Critical Audit Matter Description

As described in Notes 2, 7 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, on September 14, 2020, the Company sold 199,112 shares of Preferred Stock for gross
proceeds of $99.1 million and issued 140,026 shares of Preferred Stock in connection with the acquisition of Anelixis. The Preferred Stock was contingently
convertible upon shareholder approval of the conversion of the Preferred Stock into 55.5556 shares of common stock and was redeemable if there was no
shareholder approval.

Auditing management’s accounting for the Preferred Stock and its appropriate classification was challenging due to the complex nature of the relevant accounting
guidance, as well as the extent of management’s judgements in the application of the guidance. Management determined that the Preferred Stock was neither
mandatorily redeemable nor did it require settlement into a variable number of shares of common stock. Management also evaluated the embedded conversion
features for bifurcation as embedded derivative instruments. This evaluation included determining if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded
conversion features were clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics of the Preferred Stock. Based on its terms, the Company determined that the
Preferred Stock was akin to an equity-like host. As a result, the Company concluded that the embedded conversion features were clearly and closely related to the
Preferred Stock. Management also analyzed the conversion provision and determined there was no beneficial conversion feature. In addition, management
classified the Preferred Stock outside of stockholders’ equity for the period prior to the shareholder approval of the conversion to common stock because the
approval was outside of the control of the Company.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

We obtained an understanding of management’s assessment of the accounting treatment of the transaction through inspection of the Certificate of Designations of
the Preferred Stock and evaluation of the Company’s analysis of the significant terms of the Preferred Stock, the related accounting guidance and its conclusions.

Our audit procedures related to the accounting for the transaction included, among others, the following: we evaluated management’s conclusions regarding the
classification and valuation of the Preferred Stock, tested the Company’s determination of the fair value of the Preferred Stock, and assessed the appropriateness of
management’s disclosures of the Preferred Stock and related transactions.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2019.

Irvine, California
March 30, 2021



ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2020 2019
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 114,195 $ 8,791
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,435 1,180
Total current assets 115,630 9,971
Property and equipment, net — 5
Operating lease asset, net 138 316
Goodwill 48,648 —
In-process research and development 32,386 —
Other assets 383 639
Total assets $ 197,185  $ 10,931
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,366 $ 329
Current operating lease liability 144 180
Accrued severance 12 —
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 961 813
Total current liabilities 2,483 1,322
Deferred tax liability 4,106 —
Non-current operating lease liability — 144
Total liabilities 6,589 1,466
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Stockholders’ equity:
Series X1 non-voting convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value,
515,000 shares authorized; 108,070 and no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively — —
Series X preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 shares authorized; no shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2020 and 2019; 15,160,397 and 720,408 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 15 1
Additional paid-in capital 270,974 67,046
Accumulated deficit (80,393) (57,582)
Total stockholders’ equity 190,596 9,465
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 197,185  $ 10,931

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Operating expenses
Research and development $ 6,131 $ 8,128
General and administrative 10,052 6,056
Restructuring expense 2,282 —
Goodwill impairment — 1,867
Total operating expenses 18,465 16,051
Loss from operations (18,465) (16,051)
Other income, net 79 40
Warrant inducement expense (4,829) —
Loss before income tax benefit (23,215) (16,011)
Income tax benefit 404 —
Net loss and other comprehensive loss $ (22,811) $ (16,011)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (15.72) $ (24.42)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 1,451,432 655,526

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)

Balance as of December 31, 2019

Issuance of common stock in connection with PIPE transaction, net of
issuance costs

Issuance of common stock in connection with exercise of warrants, net of
issuance costs

Issuance of common stock in connection with conversion of Series X preferred stock

Tssuance of common stock in connection with conversion of Series X preferred

stock

Issuance of common stock in connection with vesting of restricted stock units

Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition

Cancellation of common stock in connection with exchange for preferred stock

Cancellation of common stock in connection with reverse split

Issuance of preferred stock in connection with acquisition

Issuance of preferred stock in connection with PIPE transaction, net of
issuance costs

Fair value of options assumed in acquisition

Fair value of warrants assumed in acquisition

Warrant inducement expense

Stock-based compensation

Net loss and other comprehensive loss

Balance as of December 31, 2020

Balance as of December 31, 2018

Issuance of common stock at-the-market, net of issuance costs

Issuance of common stock and warrants in registered direct offering, net of
issuance costs

Issuance of common stock in connection with vesting of restricted stock units

Cancellation of common stock

Stock-based compensation

Net loss and other comprehensive loss

Balance as of December 31, 2019

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Series X1 Non-Voting Convertible Additional
Preferred Stock Series X Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

— $ — — 720,408 $ 1 $ 67,046 $  (57,582) $ 9,4¢

— — — 1,004,111 1 8,549 — 8,5¢

— — — 421,772 — 5,380 — 5,3t

— — (3,796) 210,888 — — — g
(231,068) — — 12,837,056 13 (13) — -
— — — 3,056 — — — g

— — — 175,488 — 1,194 — 1,1¢

— — 3,796 (210,889) — — — g

— — — (1,493) — (25) — (:
140,026 — — — — 69,723 — 69,7:
199,112 — — — — 95,226 — 95,2%
— — — — — 2,950 — 2198

— — — — — 12,944 — 12,9

— — — — — 4,829 — 4,8

— — — — — 3,171 — 3,10

= = = = = = (22,811) (22,8
108,070 $ — — 15,160,397  § 15§ 270,974 $  (80,393) $ 190,5¢
— $ — — 523,452 § 1 8§ 56,062 $  (41571) $ 14,4¢

— — — 1,401 — 107 — 1C

— — — 191,617 — 9,569 — 9,5¢

— — — 4,359 — — — -

— — — (421) — — — -

— — — — — 1,308 — 1,3(

— — — — — — (16,011) (16,0

= $ = = 720,408 $ 1§ 67,046 $  (57582) $  9.4¢




ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of operating lease asset
Goodwill impairment
Warrant inducement expense
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Operating lease liability
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Cash and cash equivalents received from acquisition
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Proceeds from issuance of non-voting preferred stock in connection with PIPE transaction, net
Proceeds from exercise of warrants, net
Cash paid for cancellation of common stock in connection with reverse split
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities
Conversion of Series X1 preferred stock into common stock

Issuance of common stock in acquisition

Issuance of non-voting convertible preferred stock in acquisition
Fair value of options assumed in acquisition

Fair value of warrants assumed in acquisition

Accrued offering costs

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Description of Business

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly Novus Therapeutics, Inc.) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing life-changing,
targeted medicines for persons living with an autoimmune disease, requiring an organ or cell-based transplant, or living with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
(“ALS”). We believe that this approach has the potential to allow us to: develop more precise therapies with a resulting potential for both increased efficacy and
safety; identify patients and indications more likely to respond to our treatment approaches; and pursue multiple indications for product candidates. Unless
otherwise indicated, references to the terms “Eledon,” “our,” “us,” “we”, or the “Company” refer to Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis.

» ”

On September 14, 2020, Novus Therapeutics, Inc. (“Novus”) acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), a privately held clinical stage
biotechnology company developing a next generation anti-CD40L antibody as a potential treatment for organ and cellular transplantation, autoimmune diseases,
and neurodegenerative diseases (see Note 10). Following the acquisition of Anelixis, Novus changed its name to Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Company has
continued to maintain its corporate headquarters in Southern California and has research and development facilities in the Boston, Massachusetts area.

In 2017, Otic Pharma, Ltd. (“Otic”) consummated a reverse merger with Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Tokai”), pursuant to which, among other things,
Tokai purchased from Otic and its stockholders all of the common and preferred shares of Otic in exchange for the issuance of a certain number of shares of
common stock of Tokai (the “Reverse Merger”). Following the Reverse Merger, Tokai changed its name to Novus Therapeutics, Inc.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). Eledon, a
Delaware corporation, owns 100% of the issued and outstanding common stock or other ownership interest in Anelixis Therapeutics, LLC, a Delaware
corporation, and Otic Pharma, Ltd., a private limited company organized under the laws of the State of Israel (“Otic”). Otic owns 100% of the issued and
outstanding common stock or other ownership interest in its U.S. subsidiary, Otic Pharma, Inc. The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiary is the
U.S. Dollar; however, certain expenses, assets and liabilities are transacted at the local currency. These transactions are translated from the local currency into U.S.
Dollars at exchange rates during or at the end of the reporting period. The activities of the Company’s foreign subsidiary are not significant to the consolidated
financial statements.

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions among the entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

Liquidity and Financial Condition

The Company has experienced recurring net losses and negative cash flows from operating activities since its inception. The Company recorded a net loss
of $22.8 million and used $15.2 million of cash in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash
and cash equivalents of $114.2 million, working capital of $113.1 million and an accumulated deficit of $80.4 million. Due to continuing research and
development activities, the Company expects to continue to incur net losses into the foreseeable future. In order to continue these activities, the Company will need
to raise additional funds through public or private debt and equity financings or strategic collaboration and licensing arrangements. The Company’s ability to raise
additional capital in the equity and debt markets is dependent on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the market demand for the Company’s common
stock, which itself is subject to a number of development and business risks and uncertainties, as well as the uncertainty that the Company would be able to raise
such additional capital at a price or on terms that are favorable to the Company. If the Company issues equity or convertible debt securities to raise additional
funding, its existing stockholders may experience dilution, it may incur significant financing costs, and the new equity or convertible debt securities may have
rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of its existing stockholders. If the Company issues debt securities to raise additional funding, it would incur
additional debt service obligations, it could become subject to additional restrictions limiting its ability to operate its business, and it may be required to further
encumber its assets.
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At the time of issuance of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s management performed an
analysis and concluded that the Company had sufficient cash resources to meet its anticipated cash needs through at least the next 12 months from the date of
issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

September 2020 Stock Purchase Agreement

On September 14, 2020, Eledon entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional and accredited investors
(the “Investors”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Eledon agreed to sell an aggregate of approximately 199,112 shares of Series X' non-voting Preferred
Stock (“Series X' Preferred Stock”) for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $99.1 million (collectively, the “Financing”). Eledon had commitments for
an additional $9.0 million in equity financing that was contingent upon the satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, including stockholder approval of
the issuance of the Company’s common stock upon the conversion of the Company’s Series X! Preferred Stock and the effective registration of its common
stock. Subject to stockholder approval, each share of Series X' Preferred Stock was convertible into 55.5556 shares of common stock, as described within this
document. The preferences, rights and limitations applicable to the Series X' Preferred Stock are set forth in the Certificate of Designation, as filed with the SEC.
The Financing was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder, as a transaction by an
issuer not involving a public offering. The Investors have acquired the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any
distribution thereof, and appropriate legends have been affixed to the securities issued in this transaction.

On December 18, 2020, the Company held a special meeting of stockholders (the “Special Meeting”). At the Special Meeting, the Company’s stockholders
approved the issuance of the Company’s common stock, upon conversion of the Company’s Series X1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, issued in
September 2020.

On December 23, 2020, the Company sold 1,004,111 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $9.0 million that was contingent upon the
satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, as described above.

Nasdaq Matters

On August 8, 2019, the Company received written notice (the “Notification Letter”) from The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) notifying the
Company that it was not in compliance with the minimum bid price requirements set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) for continued listing on The Nasdaq
Capital Market. Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) requires listed securities maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share, and Nasdaq Listing Rule
5810(c)(3)(A) provides that a failure to meet the minimum closing bid price requirement exists if the deficiency continues for a period of 30 consecutive business
days. Based on the closing bid price of the Company’s common stock for the 30 consecutive business days prior to the date of the Notification Letter, the Company
did not meet the minimum closing bid price requirement.

On October 19, 2020, the Company received written notice from Nasdaq notifying the Company that the closing bid price of the Company’s common
stock had been at $1.00 per share or greater for a period of ten consecutive trading days. Accordingly, the Company has regained compliance with Listing Rule
5550(a)(2) and this matter is now closed.

Reverse Stock-Split

On October 5, 2020, Eledon effected a reverse stock-split of its issued and outstanding common stock and options for common stock at a ratio of one-for-
eighteen. The Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware effecting the reverse
stock-split. The accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes, as well as other share and per-share data herein, give retroactive effect to the reverse
stock-split for all periods presented.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make informed estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. The most significant estimates in the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to stock-based
compensation, accruals for liabilities, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, impairment of long lived assets, including
goodwill, and other matters that affect the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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Actual results could differ materially from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions and the differences may be material to the consolidated
financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash represents cash deposits held at financial institutions. The Company considers all liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less and that can be liquidated without prior notice or penalty to be cash equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates their fair
value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term liquidity requirements, rather than for
investment purposes. The Company had $9.2 million and $0 cash equivalents at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements
Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value.
The Company measures the fair value of certain of its financial instruments on a recurring basis. A fair value hierarchy is used to rank the quality and

reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the
following three categories:

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as unadjusted quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities,
unadjusted quoted prices in the markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
There have been no transfers of assets for liabilities between these fair value measurement classifications during the periods presented.

The Company had no financial instruments, assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, all of the Company’s long-lived assets were located in the United States.

Financial instruments that are subject to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents. The Company’s policy is to invest cash in
institutional money market funds to limit the amount of credit exposure. At times, the Company maintains cash equivalents in short-term money market funds and
it has not experienced any losses on its cash equivalents.

The Company’s products will require approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and foreign regulatory agencies before commercial
sales can commence. There can be no assurance that its products will receive any of these required approvals. The denial or delay of such approvals may impact
the Company’s business in the future. In addition, after the approval by the FDA, there is still an ongoing risk of adverse events that did not appear during the
product approval process.

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including, but not limited to, new technological innovations,
clinical development risk, establishment of appropriate commercial partnerships, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with government and
environmental regulations, uncertainty of market acceptance of products, product liability, the volatility of its stock price and the need to obtain additional
financing.
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Our facilities and equipment, including those of our suppliers and vendors, may be affected by natural or man-made disasters. Our administrative office is
based in Irvine, California and we manage all our research and development activities through third parties that are located throughout the world. We have taken
precautions to safeguard our facilities, equipment and systems, including insurance, health and safety protocols, and off-site storage of computer data. However,
our facilities and systems, as well as those of our third-party suppliers and vendors, may be vulnerable to earthquakes, fire, storm, health emergencies, including
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, power loss, telecommunications failures, physical and software break-ins, software viruses and similar events which could
cause substantial delays in our operations, damage or destroy our equipment or inventory, and cause us to incur additional expenses and delay research and
development activities. In addition, the insurance coverage we maintain may not be adequate to cover our losses in any circumstance and may not continue to be
available to use on acceptable terms, or at all.

Business Combinations

Accounting for acquisitions requires extensive use of estimates and judgment to measure the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets
acquired, including in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) and liabilities assumed. Additionally, the Company must determine whether an acquired
entity is considered a business or a set of net assets because the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired can only be recognized as
goodwill in a business combination. The Company accounted for the acquisition of Anelixis as a business combination under the acquisition method of
accounting. Consideration paid to acquire Anelixis was measured at fair value and included the exchange of Anelixis’ common stock. The allocation of the
purchase price resulted in recognition of intangible assets related to goodwill and IPR&D. Acquired IPR&D is recognized at fair value and initially characterized
as an indefinite-lived intangible asset, irrespective of whether the acquired IPR&D has an alternative future use. The operating activity for Anelixis, the acquiree
for accounting purposes, was immediately integrated with Eledon post-acquisition, therefore it is not practical to segregate results of operations related specifically
to Anelixis since the date of acquisition.

During the measurement period, which extends no later than one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record certain adjustments to the
carrying value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. After the measurement period, all adjustments are recorded
in the consolidated statements of operations as operating expenses or income.

Reportable Segments

Operating segments under GAAP are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated
regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”), or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The
CODM is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the Company has determined that it operates in one business segment, which is the development of products
for therapeutic medicines selectively targeting critical pathways associated with the underlying molecular pathogenesis for patients with severe inflammation and
autoimmune diseases.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value of the net assets acquired under the acquisition method of accounting.
Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment as of October 1 of each year or if indicators of impairment exist that would, more likely than not, reduce the
fair value from its carrying amount.

The Company performs its goodwill impairment analysis at the reporting unit level, which aligns with the Company’s reporting structure and availability
of discrete financial information. The Company performs its annual impairment analysis by either comparing the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its
carrying amount or doing a qualitative assessment of a reporting unit’s fair value from the last quantitative assessment to determine if there is potential impairment.
The Company may do a qualitative assessment when the results of the previous quantitative test indicated the reporting unit’s estimated fair value was significantly
in excess of the carrying value of its net assets and it does not believe there have been significant changes in the reporting unit’s operations that would significantly
decrease its estimated fair value or significantly increase its net assets. If a quantitative assessment is performed the evaluation includes management estimates of
cash flow projections based on internal future projections and/or use of a market approach by looking at market values of comparable companies. Key assumptions
for these projections include revenue growth, future gross and operating margin growth, and its weighted cost of capital and terminal growth rates. The revenue
and margin growth is based on increased sales of new products as the Company maintains investments in research and development. Additional assumed value
creators may include increased efficiencies from capital spending. The resulting cash flows are discounted using a weighted average cost of capital. Operating
mechanisms and requirements to ensure that growth and efficiency assumptions will ultimately be
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realized are also considered in the evaluation, including timing and probability of regulatory approvals for Company products to be commercialized. The
Company’s market capitalization is also considered as a part of its analysis.

The Company’s annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill consists of one reporting unit. In accordance with the Company’s policy, the Company
completed its annual evaluation for impairment as of October 1, 2020 using the qualitative assessment and determined that no impairment existed. However, since
the acquisition of Anelixis was only 16 days prior to the goodwill impairment test date, the Company did not expect, and did not observe, any indicators of
impairment of goodwill at September 30, 2020 and deemed it appropriate to update its analysis as of December 31, 2020 to ensure that the status had not changed
over the three month period. It was determined that no impairment existed as of December 31, 2020. Due to declining market conditions in 2019, the Company
performed an additional goodwill impairment test as of December 31, 2019 and determined that the fair value of its goodwill was below its carrying value. As a
result, the Company recognized $1.9 million of goodwill impairment which was included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December
31, 2019. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets. Additions, major renewals and improvements are capitalized and repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. Leasehold improvements
are amortized over the remaining life of the initial lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets, whichever is shorter.

The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future undiscounted cash flows relating to the asset are less than its carrying
amount. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its fair value. Significant management judgment is
required in the forecast of future operating results that are used in the preparation of expected cash flows. No impairments of long-lived assets have been identified
during the years presented.

In-Process Research and Development

The fair value of IPR&D acquired through a business combination is capitalized as an indefinite-lived intangible asset until the completion or
abandonment of the related research and development activities. When the related research and development is completed, the asset will be assigned a useful life
and amortized.

The fair value of an IPR&D intangible asset is determined using the replacement cost method. This method involves arriving at an asset’s value by
reference to the present-day cost, in an arms-length transaction, of replacing that asset with a similar asset in a similar condition.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include personnel and facility-related expenses, outside contracted services including clinical trial costs,
manufacturing and process development costs, research costs and other consulting services and non-cash stock-based compensation. Research and development
costs are expensed as incurred. Amounts due under contracts with third parties may be either fixed fee or fee for service, and may include upfront payments,
monthly payments and payments upon the completion of milestones or receipt of deliverables. Non-refundable advance payments under agreements are capitalized
and expensed as the related goods are delivered or services are performed.

The Company’s contracts with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the on-going development of potential products. The financial
terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows to its vendors. Payments under the
contracts depend on factors such as the achievement of certain events, successful enrollment of patients, and completion of portions of the clinical trial or similar
conditions. The Company’s accrual for clinical trials is based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with clinical trial
centers and clinical research organizations. These contracts may be terminated by the Company upon written notice and the Company is generally only liable for
actual effort expended by the organizations to the date of termination, although in certain instances the Company may be further responsible for termination fees
and penalties. The Company estimates its research and development expenses and the related accrual as of each balance sheet date based on the
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facts and circumstances known to the Company at that time. There have been no material adjustments to the Company’s prior period accrued estimates for clinical
trial activities through December 31, 2020.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares and potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period determined
using the treasury-stock and if-converted methods. For purposes of the diluted net loss per share calculation, preferred stock, and stock options and warrants are
considered to be potentially dilutive securities and are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive.
Therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share was the same for the periods presented due to the Company’s net loss position.

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019

(In thousands, except share and per
share data)

Net loss $ (22,811) $ (16,011)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (15.72) $ (24.42)
Weighted-average number of common shares 1,451,432 655,526

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes stock options, warrants, and restricted stock units that are anti-dilutive. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, common share equivalents of 3,959,302 shares were anti-dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2019, common share equivalents of
487,275 shares were anti-dilutive.

Stock-Based Compensation

For stock options granted to employees and directors, the Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the grant-date
estimated fair value. The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using assumptions which are subjective and
require significant judgment and estimation by management. The risk-free rate assumption was based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon bonds
with an equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on historical volatilities of a group of comparable industry companies whose share prices
are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on companies in the pharmaceutical industry. The expected term of stock options represents the
weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to be outstanding. Because the Company does not have historical exercise behavior, the Company
determined the expected life assumption using the simplified method for stock options granted to employees, which is an average of the options ordinary vesting
period and the contractual term. For stock options granted to the board of directors, the Company determined the expected life assumption using the simplified
method as the starting point with an average period of twelve (12) months added to take into account for the extended range of time of 12 to 18 months vested
stock options granted to board of directors may be exercised upon termination. The expected dividend assumption was based on the Company’s history and
expectation of dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes
forfeitures on an actual basis and as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based compensation.

Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSU”) are measured and recognized based on the quoted market price
of our common stock on the date of grant.

In March 2020, the board of directors approved an increase of 28,816 shares issuable under the 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) and 7,204
shares issuable under the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).

On December 18, 2020, the Company held the Special Meeting, whereby the Company’s stockholders approved the 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan (the
“2020 Plan”). The aggregate number of shares of stock available for issuance under the 2020 Plan will initially be 4,860,000 shares of Common Stock, which
represents approximately 15% of the total issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as of the record date of the Special Meeting (calculated
on an as-converted basis and without regard to the potential application of beneficial ownership conversion limitations on the Preferred Stock) and may be
increased by the number of shares under the 2014 Plan that expire, terminate or are otherwise
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surrendered, cancelled, forfeited or repurchased by the Company. Based on projected utilization rates, the Board of Directors currently intends that the initial
shares under the 2020 Plan will be sufficient to fund the Company’s equity compensation needs for approximately 3 years.

The 2014 Plan was closed to new grants following the approval of the 2020 plan, and therefore, there were no shares reserved for issuance under the 2014
Plan as of December 31, 2020. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2020 Plan and ESPP was 4,167,044 and 24,077 shares, respectively, as of
December 31, 2020.

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to nonemployees is recognized based on the estimated fair value of the stock options
on their grant date, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The awards generally vest over the period the Company expects to receive services
from the nonemployees. Similar to stock options granted to employees, the fair value of stock options granted to nonemployees, is determined using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, involves assumptions that are subjective and require significant judgment and estimation by management. The risk-free rate
assumption was based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon bonds with an equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on
historical volatilities of a group of comparable industry companies whose share prices are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on companies in
the pharmaceutical industry. The expected term of stock options represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to be outstanding.
Because the Company does not have historical exercise behavior on stock options granted to nonemployees, the Company determined the contractual term is the
appropriate period for expected life on stock options granted to nonemployees. The expected dividend assumption was based on the Company’s history and
expectation of dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes
forfeitures on an actual basis and as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based compensation.

Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and the valuation allowance
recorded against net deferred tax assets. We assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered as deductions from future taxable income. The
evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance is performed on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis and includes a review of all available positive and negative
evidence. Factors reviewed include projections of pre-tax book income for the foreseeable future, determination of cumulative pre-tax book income after
permanent differences, earnings history, and reliability of forecasting. We have provided a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020
and 2019 because we believe it is more likely than not that a majority of our deferred tax assets will not be realized as of this date.

The Company evaluates the accounting for uncertainty in income tax recognized in its consolidated financial statements and determines whether it is more
likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of the benefit is recorded in its
consolidated financial statements. For those tax positions where it is “not more likely than not” that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized.
Where applicable, associated interest and penalties are also recorded. The Company has not accrued any liabilities for any such uncertain tax positions as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company is subject to U.S. federal and state tax authority examinations for all the years since inception due to net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. The net operating losses and tax credits are subject to adjustment until the statute closes on the year the attributes are ultimately
utilized.

The Company’s income tax returns are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and other
tax authorities. In addition, the calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The
Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining
if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or
processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the
Company believes it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of examinations by
tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes. The Company continually assesses the likelihood and amount of potential revisions
and adjusts the income tax provision, income taxes payable and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision become known. For
additional information, see Note 7. Income Taxes in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

No new accounting pronouncement issued or effective during the fiscal period had or is expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated

financial statements or disclosures.

Note 3. Prepaid Expenses, Other Assets, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Prepaid insurance

Prepaid clinical

Prepaid other

Insurance receivable

Other current assets

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

As of
December 31,

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued clinical

Accrued professional services

Accrued vacation

Accrued costs associated with PIPE financing
Accrued other

Total accrued expenses and other liabilities

Note 4. Goodwill
On September 14, 2020, the Company acquired Anelixis (see Note 10).

2019
1,157  $ 734
89 102
41 45
110 245
38 54
1435 § 1,180
As of
December 31,
2020 2019

31 $ 40
258 437
9 130
67 199
450 —
146 7
%1 $ 813

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Balance as of January 1, 2019
Impairments

Balance as of December 31, 2019
Acquisition of Anelixis

Balance as of December 31, 2020

The Company performed a goodwill impairment test as of December 31, 2019 and determined that the fair value of its goodwill was below its carrying
value. As a result, the Company recognized $1.9 million of goodwill impairment. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases office space under various operating leases. Total rent expense for all operating leases in the consolidated statements of operations

Total
$ 1,867
(1,867)
48,648
$ 48,648

and comprehensive loss was approximately $207,000 and $188,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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The Company has an operating lease for 5,197 square feet of office space in Irvine, California, that expires on September 30, 2021, as
amended. Additionally, the Company has operating leases for four serviced office spaces in Burlington, Massachusetts that expire on June 30, 2021. The
Burlington, Massachusetts office leases are considered short-term leases and are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company determines if a contract contains a lease at inception. Our office leases have a remaining term ranging from nine months to one year and do
not include options to extend the leases for additional periods.

Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date. Operating lease liabilities represent the present value of lease
payments not yet paid. Operating lease assets represent our right to use an underlying asset and are based upon the operating lease liabilities as adjusted for
prepayments or accrued lease payments, initial direct costs, lease incentives, and impairment of operating lease assets. To determine the present value of lease
payments not yet paid, we estimate incremental secured borrowing rates corresponding to the maturities of the leases. As we have no outstanding debt nor
committed credit facilities, secured or otherwise, we estimate this rate based on prevailing financial market conditions, comparable company and credit analysis,
and management’s judgment.

Our Irvine lease contains rent escalations over the lease term. We recognize expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Additionally, tenant incentives used to fund leasehold improvements are recognized when earned and reduce our right-of-use asset related to the lease. These are
amortized through the right-of-use asset as reductions of expense over the lease term. Our lease agreement does not contain any material residual value guarantees
or material restrictive covenants.

While we do not currently have any lease agreement with lease and non-lease components, we elected to account for lease and non-lease components as
separate components.

We have elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all applicable classes of underlying assets. Short-term disclosures include only those
leases with a term greater than one month and 12 months or less, and expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term
of 12 months or less, that do not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that we are reasonably certain to exercise, are not recorded on the consolidated
balance sheet.

The components of lease expense were as follows:

For the Year
Ended December 31, 2020

Operating lease cost(a) $ 195
() Includes variable operating lease expenses, which are immaterial.

Other information related to leases was as follows (in thousands, except lease term and discount rate):

For the Year
Ended December 31, 2020

Supplemental Cash Flows Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liability:

Operating cash flows from operating lease $ 188
Operating lease asset obtained in exchange for lease liability:

Operating lease $ —
Remaining lease term

Operating lease 0.75 years
Discount rate

Operating lease 3.25%
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Future payments under noncancelable operating leases having initial or remaining terms of one year or more are as follows for the succeeding fiscal year
and thereafter (in thousands):

Year ending

2021 146
Total minimum lease payments 146
Less imputed interest 2)
Present value of lease liabilities 144
Less current portion (144)
$ -

Future payments under short term leases with an initial term of 12 months or less total approximately $33,000 for 2021.

Grants and Licenses

ALS Therapy Development Foundation, Inc. License Agreement

In May 2015, Anelixis executed a License Agreement (the “Agreement”), which is an exclusive patent rights agreement with ALS Therapy Development
Foundation, Inc. (“ALSTDI”) for certain patents and “know-how” of ALSTDI. This agreement continues until the licensee terminates the agreement with ninety days
written notice. The Agreement requires license fees payable to ALSTDI, subject to the achievement of certain milestones and other conditions.

The first and second milestones of the Agreement are the dosing of the first subjects in a first toxicity study in non-human primates and the dosing of the
first patient in a Phase I Clinical Trial, respectively. Both of these milestones were achieved as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. The fee due for the achievement of
these milestones was $1,000,000 each. During 2018 and 2017, Anelixis issued $1,000,000 worth of its common stock in lieu of making a cash payment. There
were no milestones achieved during 2020 and 2019.

The Agreement was amended and restated in February 2020, and a first amendment to the restated license agreement was executed in September 2020. As
amended in September 2020, the remaining milestone payments for a first licensed product total $6.0 million. In the event that the Company develops a second
licensed product, the Company is obligated to pay up to $2.5 million in additional milestone payments.

In addition to the milestone payments, the Company is required to pay ALSTDI an amended annual license maintenance fee of $100,000 beginning on the
earlier of January 1, 2022, the Company’s first sublicense, or change in control, as defined in the Agreement.

Furthermore, the Company shall pay ALSTDI fees based on reaching certain levels of annual net sales of any product produced with the patent rights. A
royalty in the low single digits will be due on aggregate net sales. Upon the first calendar year of reaching $500 million in aggregate net sales, the Company shall
pay ALS TDI a one-time milestone payment of $15,000,000. Upon the first calendar year of reaching $1 billion in aggregate net sales, the Company is obligated to
pay ALSTDI a one-time milestone payment of $30,000,000.



Israeli Innovation Authority Grant

From 2012 through 2015, the Company received grants in the amount of approximately $537,000 from the Israeli Innovation Authority (previously the Office of
Chief Scientist) of the Israeli Ministry of Economy and Industry designated for investments in research and development. The grants are linked to the U.S. dollar and
bear annual interest of LIBOR. The grants are to be repaid as royalties from sales of the products developed by the Company from their investments in research and
development. Because the Company has not yet earned revenues related to these investments and cannot estimate potential royalties, no liabilities related to these grants
have been recorded as of each period presented. Repayment of the grant is contingent upon the successful completion of the Company’s research and development
programs and generating sales. The Company has no obligation to repay these grants, if the research and development program fails, is unsuccessful or aborted or if no
sales are generated. The Company had not yet generated sales as of December 31, 2020; therefore, no liability was recorded for the repayment in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Otodyne License Agreement

In November 2015, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Scientific Development and Research, Inc. and Otodyne, Inc.
(collectively, the “Licensors”) granting it exclusive worldwide rights to develop and commercialize OP0201, a potential first-in-class treatment option for patients
at risk for or with otitis media (middle ear inflammation with or without infection), which is often caused by ETD. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company
is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to seek approval for and commercialize at least one product for otitis media in the U.S. and key European
markets (France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and the United Kingdom). The Company is responsible for prosecuting, maintaining, and enforcing all intellectual
property and will be the sole owner of improvements. Under the agreement with the Licensors, the Company paid license fees totaling $750,000 and issued 9,780
common shares to the Licensors, which was expensed to research and development during the year ended December 31, 2015.

In December 2015, the Licensors completed transfer of all technology, including the active IND application to the Company. The Company is obligated to
pay up to $42.1 million in development and regulatory milestones if OP0201 is approved for three indications in the United States, two in Europe, and two in
Japan. The Company is also obligated to pay up to $36.0 million in sales based milestones, beginning with sales exceeding $1.0 billion in a calendar year. The
Company is also obligated to pay a tiered royalty for a period up to eight years, on a country-by-country basis. The royalty ranges from a low-single to mid-single
percentage of net sales. The Company made a $300,000 milestone payment in March 2019 related to the first patient enrolled in a phase 2 study, which is included

in research and development expenses in 2019. There were no other milestones achieved during the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.

Legal Matters

The Company is involved in various lawsuits and claims arising in the ordinary course of business, including actions with respect to intellectual property,
employment, and contractual matters. In connection with these matters, the Company assesses, on a regular basis, the probability and range of possible loss based
on the developments in these matters. A liability is recorded in the financial statements if it is believed to be probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount
of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable results could occur, assessing contingencies is highly
subjective and requires judgments about future events. The Company regularly reviews outstanding legal matters to determine the adequacy of the liabilities
accrued and related disclosures. The amount of ultimate loss may differ from these estimates. Each matter presents its own unique circumstances, and prior
litigation does not necessarily provide a reliable basis on which to predict the outcome, or range of outcomes, in any individual proceeding. Because of the
uncertainties related to the occurrence, amount, and range of loss on any pending litigation or claim, the Company does not consider a liability probable and is
currently unable to predict their ultimate outcome, and, with respect to any pending litigation or claim where no liability has been accrued, to make a meaningful
estimate of the reasonably possible loss or range of loss that could result from an unfavorable outcome. In the event that opposing litigants in outstanding litigation
proceedings or claims ultimately succeed at trial and any subsequent appeals on their claims, any potential loss or charges in excess of any established accruals,
individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and/or cash flows in the
period in which the unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probable, and potentially in future periods.
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Legal Proceedings

On September 22, 2014, Tokai, the legal predecessor of the Company, completed the initial public offering of its common stock (the “IPO”). On July 25,
2017, a purported stockholder of Tokai filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, entitled Peter B. Angelos v. Tokai
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., et al., No. 1:17-cv-11365-MLW. The lawsuit was filed against Tokai, Jodie P. Morrison, Lee H. Kalowski, Seth L. Harrison, Timothy J.
Barberich, David A. Kessler, Joseph A. Yanchik, III, and the underwriters of the IPO. The lawsuit alleges that Tokai made false and misleading statements and
omissions about its clinical trials for galeterone, in violation of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The lawsuit seeks, among
other things, unspecified compensatory damages, interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees.

On September 7, 2018, plaintiff filed an amended complaint. Defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint on October 15, 2018. Plaintiff opposed
defendants’ motion on November 19, 2018, defendants filed a reply in support of their motion on December 17, 2018, and plaintiff filed a sur-reply in support of
his opposition on January 8, 2019. On February 18, 2020, the court held a hearing on defendants’ motion to dismiss. The court also ordered the parties to confer
and notify it by March 10, 2020, if they reached an agreement to settle the case. On March 10, 2020, pursuant to the court’s order, the parties advised the court they
did not agree on a settlement. On July 15, 2020, plaintiff filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority, and on July 21, 2020, defendants filed a response. On October
9, 2020, the court entered an order granting defendants’ motion to dismiss and dismissing the action in its entirety. Judgment was entered on October 14, 2020. On
November 12, 2020, plaintiff filed a notice of appeal. On February 17, 2021, the parties submitted a stipulated motion to dismiss the appeal, following a settlement
payment to plaintiff by the Company’s insurance carrier of an immaterial amount. On February 18, 2021, the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit
granted the motion, enter judgment dismissing the appeal, and issued the mandate.

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and provide for
general indemnification. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves future claims that may be made against the Company
but have not yet been made. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been required to defend any action related to its indemnification obligations.
However, the Company may record charges in the future because of these indemnification obligations. No amounts associated with such indemnifications have
been recorded to date.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business activities. The Company accrues a
liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. There have been no
contingent liabilities requiring accrual at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Note 6. Income Taxes

Loss before income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Losses before income taxes:
uU.s. $ (23,408) $ (16,174)
Non-U.S. 193 163
Total $ (23,215) $ (16,011)
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Current:
Federal $ — $ —
State = —
Foreign — —
Deferred:
Federal (404) —
State — —
Foreign — =
(404) —
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (404) $ —

The Company is subject to income taxes under U.S. tax laws. The Company is subject to an Israeli corporate tax rate of 23% in 2020 and thereafter. The
Company was subject to a blended U.S. tax rate (federal as well as state corporate tax) of 21% in 2019 and 2020.

Significant judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and the valuation allowance
recorded against net deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using the enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which those tax assets
are expected to be realized. A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not the future realization of all or some of the deferred tax assets will
not be achieved. The evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance is performed on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis, and includes a review of all available
positive and negative evidence. Factors reviewed include projections of pre-tax book income for the foreseeable future, determination of cumulative pre-tax book
income after permanent differences, earnings history, and reliability of forecasting.

Based on its review, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that they would not realize the benefit of a portion of its deferred tax assets in
the future. This conclusion was based on historical and projected operating performance, as well as the Company’s expectation that its operations will not generate
sufficient taxable income in future periods to realize the tax benefits associated with the deferred tax assets within the statutory carryover periods. Therefore, the
Company has a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020.

The Company will continue to assess the need for a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets by evaluating both positive and negative evidence that
may exist. Any adjustment to the net deferred tax asset valuation allowance would be recorded in the statement of operations for the period that the adjustment is

determined to be required.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Statutory Federal income tax rate $ 4,875) $ (3,362)
Tax credits (215) (207)
Change in warrant fair market value 1,014 —
Stock-based compensation 252 141
Goodwill impairment — 392
Permanent items 627 4
Section 382 limitation on net operating losses and credits 10,562 —
Other 89 38
Change in valuation allowance (7,858) 2,994
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (404) $ —
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 5151 $ 9,947
Research and development tax credits 705 506
Accruals and reserves 14 43
Stock compensation 802 391
Depreciation and amortization 1,905 116
Lease liability 30 68

Total deferred tax assets 8,607 11,071
Right-of-use asset 29) (66)
Acquired IPR&D (6,801) —

Total deferred tax liabilities (6,830) (66)
Less: valuation allowance (5,883) (11,005)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,106) $ —

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of the year $ 548 $ 328
Additions from tax positions taken in the current year 233 214
Additions from tax positions taken in prior years 531 6
Reductions from tax positions taken in prior years (548) —
Tax settlements — —
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at the end of the year $ 764 $ 548

The deferred income tax assets have been offset by a valuation allowance, as realization is dependent on future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. The net valuation allowance decreased by $5.1 million.

The Company’s accounting for deferred taxes involves the evaluation of a number of factors concerning the realizability of its net deferred tax assets. The
Company primarily considered such factors as its history of operating losses, the nature of the Company’s deferred tax assets, and the timing, likelihood, and
amount, if any, of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences and carryforwards become deductible. At present, the Company
does not believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized; accordingly, a valuation allowance has been established.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $14.4 million and $38.6 million,
respectively, available to reduce future taxable income. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company also has state net operating loss carryforwards of $6.2
million and $0.9 million, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforwards incurred before 2018 begin expiring in 2035 if not utilized. The federal net
operating losses incurred since 2018 of $13.6 million do not expire. The state net operating losses begin to expire in 2035. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
Company had Israeli net operating losses of $7.9 million and $8.0 million, respectively, which carryforward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $966,000 and
$764,000, respectively. If not utilized, the carryforwards will begin expiring in 2035. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has state research and
development credit carryforwards or approximately $562,000 and $264,000, respectively, which will begin expiring in 2030 if not utilized.
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Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (“IRC) Sections 382 and 383, annual use of the Company’s net operating loss and research and development credit
carryforwards may be limited in the event a camulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within a three-year period. As part of the equity raise and
acquisition, the Company had an IRC Section 382/383 ownership change during 2020. The Company has removed $10.6 million of deferred tax assets related to
NOL and R&D credit carryforwards due to the Section 382 limitations. The Company’s ability to use its remaining net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards
may be further limited if the Company experiences additional Section 382 ownership change in connection with future changes in the Company’s stock ownership.

In the United States, the Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction, California and Massachusetts. The Company’s tax years for
2017 and forward are subject to examination by the Federal and California tax authorities due to the carryforward of unutilized net operating losses and research
and development credits.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax expense. There was no
accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company has not recorded any interest or penalties
in 2020 or 2019.

Note 7. Stockholders’ Equity
Equity Distribution Agreement

On July 23, 2018, the Company filed a prospectus and prospectus supplement (the “2018 Prospectus™) under which the Company may offer and sell, from
time to time, pursuant to an equity distribution agreement with Piper Jaffray & Co., up to $9.8 million in shares of its common stock. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, 1,401 shares were sold under the 2018 Prospectus for gross proceeds of approximately $110,000. No shares were sold during the year ended
December 31, 2020.

2019 Equity Offering

On April 30, 2019, the Company agreed to sell in a registered direct offering, an aggregate 191,617 shares of its common stock to certain investors for
gross proceeds of approximately $10.7 million under its effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-226286). In a concurrent private
placement, the Company also agreed to issue to such investors Series A warrants to purchase up to 191,617 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of
$72.00 with a term of eighteen months and Series B warrants to purchase up 191,617 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $72.00 with a term of five
years. The Series B warrants become exercisable only upon the exercise of the Series A warrants. In addition, the Company agreed to issue placement agent
warrants to purchase up to 9,580 shares of common stock representing 5.0% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock sold in this offering. The
placement agent warrants have substantially the same terms as the Series A Warrants, except that the placement agent warrants will have an exercise price equal to
$69.66 and will expire on April 30, 2024. We refer to the registered direct offering and the concurrent private placement collectively as the “2019 Equity
Offering”.

All the warrants issued in connection with the 2019 Equity Offering contained put options that allow the holders of the warrants the right to receive, for
each warrant share that would have been issuable upon an exercise immediately prior to the occurrence of an effective change in control event defined as a
fundamental transaction, the number of shares of common stock of the successor or acquiring corporation or of the Company, if it is the surviving corporation, and
any additional consideration receivable as a result of such fundamental transaction by a holder of the number of shares of common stock for which this warrant is
exercisable immediately prior to such fundamental transaction. The Company evaluated the embedded put option contained in the warrants under the guidance of
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and concluded that the requirements for contingent exercise provisions as well as the
settlement provision for scope exception in ASC 815-10-15-74 has been met. Accordingly, the put options contained in the warrants were not bi-furcated and
accounted for as freestanding derivative instruments.

Warrant Exercise Transactions

On January 10, 2020 and January 15, 2020, the Company entered into warrant exercise agreements (the “Exercise Agreements”) with the holders (the
“Holders”) of its Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants (collectively, the “Warrants™), issued in the 2019 Equity Offering, pursuant to which the Holders agreed
to exercise in cash their Warrants to purchase an
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aggregate of 383,234 shares of the Company’s common stock at a reduced exercise price of $12.87 per share, plus an additional $2.25 per share for the issuance of
the private placement warrants for gross proceeds (before placement agent fees and expenses) to the Company of approximately $5.8 million (the “Exercise
Transaction™).

Under the Exercise Agreements, the Company also agreed to issue to the Holders new warrants to purchase up to 383,235 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $12.96 per share, with an exercise period of five and a half years (the “Private Placement Warrants”). The Private Placement
Warrants transaction subsequently closed and the Private Placement Warrants were issued on January 14, 2020 with respect to the Warrants exercised on
January 10, 2020 and on or about January 17, 2020, with respect to the Warrants exercised on January 15, 2020. In addition, the Company agreed to issue to the
placement agent warrants to purchase up to 19,162 shares of common stock, representing 5.0% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock issued in the
Exercise Transaction. The placement agent warrants have substantially the same terms as the Private Placement Warrants issued to the Holders, except that the
placement agent warrants have an exercise price equal to $18.90. A warrant inducement expense of $4.8 million was recorded which was determined using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and was calculated as the difference between the fair value of the Warrants prior to, and immediately after, the reduction in the
exercise price on the date of repricing in addition to the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants issued.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Holders exercised approximately 64,171 Private Placement Warrants in a cashless exchange for 28,553 shares
of the Company’s common stock. Additionally, approximately 9,985 private placement warrants were exercised for 9,985 shares of the Company’s common stock
for gross proceeds of $188,773.

As of December 31, 2020, 337,822 warrants were exercisable into common stock. The shares of common stock underlying the registered direct and
private placement warrants are registered for offer and sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), pursuant to the Company’s

effective registration statements on Forms S-1.

The following table shows the warrant activity:

Rollforward of Warrant Activity

Registered direct Private placement

Registered direct Registered direct warrants, Private placement warrants,

warrants, series A warrants, series B placement agent warrants placement agent Total
Balance as of December 31, 2019 191,617 191,617 9,581 — — 392,
Issued — — — 383,235 19,162 402,
Exercised (191,617) (191,617) — (64,171) (9,985) (457,
Cancelled/Expired — — — — —
Balance as of December 31, 2020 — — 9,581 319,064 9,177 337,

Anelixis Acquisition

On September 14, 2020, the Company acquired Anelixis, after which Anelixis became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Under the terms of the
acquisition, the Company issued to the stockholders of Anelixis 175,488 shares of Company common stock and 140,026 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock. In
addition to the common stock and preferred stock issued in connection with the acquisition of Anelixis, certain outstanding warrants issued by Anelixis were not
settled upon completion of the acquisition, and instead were assumed and then replaced with Company warrants. As part of the acquisition, the Company assumed
and replaced options for the purchase of 1,346,398 shares of common stock with an estimated total fair value of approximately $6.0 million and 55,583.875
warrants for Series X1 Preferred Stock with an estimated fair value of approximately $12.9 million. The estimated fair value of the assumed and replaced options
and warrants attributed to pre-merger services were approximately $3.0 million and $12.9 million, respectively, and is included in other consideration amounts
transferred and added to goodwill (see Note 10).
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On December 18, 2020, at the Special Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the issuance of the Company’s common stock, upon conversion of
the Company’s Series X1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, issued in September 2020. As such, the shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock underlying the
assumed and replaced warrants in connection with the Anelixis acquisition were converted into shares of Eledon common stock.

As of December 31, 2020, 55,853.875 warrants were exercisable into Series X1 Preferred Stock. The shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock underlying the
assumed and replaced warrants in connection with the Anelixis acquisition are expected to be converted into shares of Eledon common stock in the second fiscal
quarter of 2021.

The following table shows the warrant activity:

Rollforward of Warrant Activity
Warrants assumed and

replaced in acquisition Total
Balance as of December 31, 2019 — =
Assumed and replaced 55,583.875 55,583.875
Exercised — —
Cancelled/Expired — —
Balance as of December 31, 2020 55,583.875 55,583.875

Common Stock Exchange Agreement

On February 13, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P,,
Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P. and Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P. (the “Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Exchanging
Stockholders exchanged (the “Exchange”) 210,888 shares of the Company’s common stock for 3,796 shares of newly designated Series X Convertible Preferred
Stock (the “Series X Preferred Stock”). The Company agreed to reimburse the Exchanging Stockholders for their expenses in connection with the Exchange up to
a total of $25,000, which was recorded as operating expense in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The
Exchange was completed on February 19, 2020.

On February 13, 2020, in connection with the Exchange, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation setting forth the preferences, rights and
limitations of the Series X Preferred Stock with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. The number of shares so designated shall be 10,000 and Series X
Preferred Stock shall have a par value of $0.001 per share. Each share of Series X Preferred Stock will be convertible into 55.5556 shares of common stock at the
option of the holder at any time; subject to certain limitations, including, that the holder will be prohibited from converting Series X Preferred Stock into common
stock if, as a result of such conversion, the holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own a number of shares of common stock above a conversion
blocker, which is initially set at 9.99% of the total common stock then issued and outstanding immediately following the conversion of such shares of Series X
Preferred Stock. In the event of the Company’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of Series X Preferred Stock will participate pari passu with any
distribution of proceeds to holders of common stock. Holders of Series X Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends on shares of Series X Preferred Stock
equal (on an as-if-converted-to-common stock basis) to and in the same form as dividends actually paid on the common stock or other junior securities of the
Company. Shares of Series X Preferred Stock will generally have no voting rights, except as required by law and except that the consent of a majority of the
holders of the outstanding Series X Preferred Stock will be required to amend the terms of the Series X Preferred Stock.

SEC Accounting Series Release No. 268, Presentation in Financial Statements of “Redeemable Preferred Stocks” (“ASR 268”) requires equity
instruments with redemption features that are not solely within the control of the issuer to be classified outside of permanent equity, often referred to as
classification in “temporary equity”).The Company evaluated Series X Preferred Stock redemption features and concluded that there are no redemption features
with the Series X Preferred Stock that are not solely within the control of the Company and permanent equity classification was appropriate. Series X Preferred
Stock has two (2) separate and distinct embedded features. They are: (1) optional conversion by holder and (2) redemption put feature upon fundamental
transaction.
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Each share of Series X Preferred Stock shall be convertible into 55.5556 shares of common stock, at the option of the holder, at any time after the date of
issuance. The Company evaluated the embedded optional conversion feature in accordance with the guidance under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and
determined it is exempt from derivative accounting as the embedded feature is deemed to be indexed to the Company’s own stock and classified in stockholder’s
equity if freestanding. Further, because the conversion ratio is fixed and equal to the ratio of the original exchange of 55.5556 common stock to each share of
Series X Preferred Stock, the Company concluded that there is no intrinsic value to the beneficial conversion feature.

Each share of Series X Preferred Stock contains redemption put features that allow the holders of the Series X Preferred Stock the right to receive, in lieu
of the right to receive conversion shares, for each conversion share that would have been issuable upon such conversion immediately prior to the occurrence of an
effective change in control (“Fundamental Transaction”), the same kind and amount of securities, cash or property as it would have been entitled to receive upon
the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction if it had been, immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction, the holder of one share of common stock. The
Company evaluated the redemption put feature contained in each Series X Preferred Stock under the guidance of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and
concluded that the embedded redemption put feature do not meet the definition of a derivative, if freestanding, under ASC 815 as net settlement could not be
achieved. Accordingly, the redemption put features contained in the Series X Preferred Stock were not bifurcated and accounted for as freestanding derivative
instruments.

On June 1, 2020 and June 10, 2020, the Exchanging Stockholders converted a total of 3,285 shares of Series X Preferred Stock into 182,500 shares of
common stock. On December 18, 2020, at the Special Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the issuance of the Company’s common stock, upon
conversion of the Company’s remaining 511 shares of Series X Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share. As of December 31, 2020, no shares of Series X
Preferred Stock remain outstanding.

September 2020 Stock Purchase Agreement

On September 14, 2020, Eledon entered into the Purchase Agreement with the Investors. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Novus agreed to sell an
aggregate of approximately 199,112 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $99.1 million, or net proceeds of
approximately $95.2 million after deducting offering costs, in the Financing. Eledon had commitments for an additional $9.0 million in equity financing that was
contingent upon the satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, including stockholders approval of the issuance of the Company’s common stock upon
the conversion of the Company’s X1 Preferred Stock and the effective registration of its common stock. Subject to stockholder approval, each share of Series X1
Preferred Stock is convertible into 55.5556 shares of Common Stock, as described below. The preferences, rights and limitations applicable to the Series X1
Preferred Stock are set forth in the Certificate of Designation, as filed with the SEC. The Financing is exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder, as a transaction by an issuer not involving a public offering. The Investors have acquired the securities
for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends have been affixed to the securities issued
in this transaction.

The Company records shares of preferred stock at their respective fair values on the dates of issuance, net of issuance costs. Holders of Series X1
Preferred Stock do not have voting rights and are entitled to receive dividends on shares of X1 Preferred Stock on an as-if converted to common stock basis equal
to dividends actually paid on shares of common stock. The shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock shall automatically be converted into shares of common stock
equal to the conversion ratio of 55.5556 upon stockholder approval of the conversion of the Series X1 Preferred Stock into shares of common stock in accordance
with the listing rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market.

The Company applied the guidance in ASC 480-10-S99-3A, SEC Staff Announcement: Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Securities, and
classified the Series X1 Preferred Stock outside of stockholders’ equity for the period prior to the shareholder approval of the conversion to common stock because
the Series X1 Preferred Stock will be redeemable at the option of the holders for cash equal to the closing price of the common stock on the last trading day prior
to the holder’s redemption request, if there was no shareholder approval.

The Company analyzed the conversion provision related to the Series X1 Preferred Stock and determined there was not
a contingent beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) that would be recognized when the contingency of stockholder approval is resolved.

On December 18, 2020, the Company held a Special Meeting. At the Special Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the issuance of the
Company’s common stock, upon conversion of the Company’s Series X1 Preferred Stock, par
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value $0.001 per share, issued in September 2020. As a result, 231,068 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock were converted into 12,837,056 shares of the
Company’s common stock. As of December 31, 2020, 108,070 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock remain outstanding.

On December 23, 2020, the Company sold 1,004,111 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $9.0 million that was contingent upon the
satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, as described above.

Exchange Agreements

On December 31, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Series X Exchange Agreement”) with Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P.,
Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P., Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P. , MSI BVF SPV, L.L.C. (collectively, the “BVF Exchanging Stockholders”) and
Cormorant Global Healthcare Master Fund, LP (together with the BVF Exchanging Stockholders, the “Series X Exchanging Stockholders™), pursuant to which the
Series X Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the “Series X Exchange”) 344,666 shares of the Company’s common stock for 6,203.98 shares of Series X
Convertible Preferred Stock.

In addition, on December 31, 2020 the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Warrant Exchange Agreement,” and together with the Series X
Exchange Agreement, the “Exchange Agreements”) with the BVF Exchanging Stockholders, pursuant to which the BVF Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the
“Warrant Exchange,” and together with the Series X Exchange, “the Exchanges”) 509,117 shares of the Common Stock for one or more pre-funded warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 509,117 shares of the Common Stock at a nominal exercise price (the “Warrants”).

The Company recorded the shares of Series X Convertible Preferred Stock and Warrants issuable as preferred stock and warrant subscriptions at
December 31, 2020 since the physical settlement of the Exchanges was made on January 5, 2021, whereby the transfer agent recorded the exchange of common
stock for the issuance of preferred stock and warrants. Following the Exchanges, the Company will have 14,306,614 shares of Common Stock outstanding and
6,203.98 shares of Series X Preferred Stock outstanding, which are convertible into 344,663 shares of Common Stock (after rounding for fractional shares).

Note 8. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stock compensation plans, the 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”), the 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) and
the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). The 2020 Plan permits the Company to make grants of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other stock-based awards to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, consultants and
advisors; however, incentive stock options may only be granted to the Company’s employees. The number of shares initially reserved for issuance under the 2020
Plan was 4,860,000 shares of common stock and may be increased by the number of shares under the 2014 Plan that expire, terminate or are otherwise
surrendered, cancelled, forfeited or repurchased by the Company. Options remain outstanding under the 2007, 2014 and the 2020 Plan. The number of shares
subject to and the exercise prices applicable to these outstanding options were adjusted in connection with the one-for-eighteen reverse stock-split. As of
December 31, 2020, there were 1,151 and 126,974 options outstanding under the 2007 Plan and 2014 Plan, respectively. Options granted under the 2007, 2014 and
2020 Plans generally expire ten years from the date of grant. The Company intends for the 2020 Plan to be its primary stock compensation plan in the future. As of
December 31, 2020, there were 692,956 options outstanding and 4,167,044 shares available to issue under the 2020 Plan.
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Stock Option and PRSU Activity

As of December 31, 2020, a total of 4,167,044 stock awards were available for grant under the 2020 Plan. The 2014 Plan was closed to new grants
following the approval of the 2020 Plan, and therefore, there were no shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan as of December 31, 2020.

The following table shows the stock option activity, as follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares ‘Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Issuable Average Contractual Intrinsic
Under Options Exercise Price Term Value
(In years)
Outstanding as of January 1, 2019 49,798 $ 233.45 81 $ —
Granted 42,244 28.87
Exercised — —
Forfeited / Canceled (639) 79.38
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 91,403 139.96 8.2 —
Granted 2,191,462 9.15
Options assumed in connection with acquisition 1,346,398 7.58
Exercised — —
Forfeited / Canceled (7,784) 586.16
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 3,621,479  $ 10.63 89 $ 23,938,701
Options vested and expected to vest as of
December 31, 2020 3,621,479 $ 15.21 89 $ 23,938,701
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2020 878,033 $ 16.00 82 % 6,297,510
The following table shows the PRSU activity, as follows:
Weighted
Average
Shares Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Issuable Average Contractual Intrinsic
Under PRSUs Exercise Price Term Value
(In years)
Outstanding as of January 1, 2019 4,358 $ 86.94 92 $ —
Granted 3,056 66.96
PRSUs Vested (4,358) 86.94
Forfeited / Canceled — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 3,056 66.96 9.2 —
Granted — —
PRSUs Vested (3,056) 66.96
Forfeited / Canceled — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 —  $ — $ —
PRSUs vested and expected to vest as of
December 31, 2020 — % — $ —
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2020 — 3 — $ —

As of December 31, 2020, the range of exercise prices was between $0.96 and $2,147 for options outstanding.
Intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the fair value of the common stock for the options
that had exercise prices that were lower than the fair value per share of the common stock on the date of exercise. There was no aggregate intrinsic value of options

exercised during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

As of December 31, 2020, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested equity awards was $17.1 million, which is expected
to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of 2.7 years.

F-27



Stock-based Compensation Expense

Total compensation expense related to all of the Company’s stock-based awards for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was comprised of the
following (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Stock-based compensation classified as:
Research and development expense $ 1,254 $ 343
General and administrative expense 1,917 965
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 3,171 $ 1,308

Stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 included no stock-based compensation expense related to performance-based
options granted during 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, PRSUs awarded to employees totaling 3,059 shares vested and resulted in the recognition of $205,000 in stock-
based compensation expense.

Valuation Assumptions

The following table presents the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted in the
periods presented, as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
Expected stock price volatility 77% - 107% 74% - 87%
Risk-free interest rate 0% - 1% 1% - 3%
Expected life of option (in years) 4-6 6
Estimated dividend yield 0% 0%

Note 9. Restructuring Expense

On June 11, 2020, following the announcement regarding the topline results from the phase 2a clinical trial of OP0201, Eledon announced that its board
of directors approved a plan to reduce the size of its workforce. The workforce reduction, which was completed in June 2020, was designed to reduce the
Company’s operating expenses while it is conducting a review of development and strategic alternatives.

On September 3, 2020, the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company accepted the resignation of Gregory Flesher as the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and a member of the Board. Mr. Flesher’s resignation was effective as of the close of business on September 4, 2020. The resignation of
Mr. Flesher was not the result of any dispute or disagreement with the Company on any matter relating to the Company’s operations, policies or practices.
Concurrent with his resignation, Mr. Flesher entered into a consulting agreement with the Company pursuant to which he will provide consulting and transition-
support services as requested by the Company at an hourly rate consistent with his target compensation.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Eledon incurred $2.3 million in expenses related to the workforce reduction and expects to pay these amounts in
the next six months.

Total liability for restructuring expenses and their utilization are summarized as follows (in thousands):

For the Year

Ended December 31,
2020
Accrued restructuring charges at beginning of period $ —
Charged 2,282
Paid (2,270)
Accrued restructuring charges at end of period $ 12
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Note 10. Business Acquisition

On September 14, 2020, the Company acquired Anelixis pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 14, 2020 (the
“Merger Agreement”), by and among Eledon, Nautilus Merger Sub 1, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Eledon (“First Merger Sub”),
Nautilus Merger Sub 2, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of Eledon (“Second Merger Sub”), and Anelixis. Pursuant to the
Merger Agreement, First Merger Sub merged with and into Anelixis, pursuant to which Anelixis was the surviving entity and became a wholly owned subsidiary
of Eledon (the “First Merger”). Immediately following the First Merger, Anelixis merged with and into Second Merger Sub, pursuant to which Second Merger Sub
was the surviving entity (the “Second Merger,” together with the First Merger, the “Merger”). The Merger is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for
U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the closing of the Merger, Eledon issued to the stockholders of Anelixis 175,488 shares of the common
stock of Eledon, par value $0.001 per share, and 140,026 shares of newly designated Series X' Preferred Stock. Subject to stockholder approval, each share of
Series X' Preferred Stock was convertible into approximately 55.5556 shares of common stock. The preferences, rights and limitations applicable to the Series
X! Preferred Stock are set forth in the Certificate of Designation, as filed with the SEC.

In addition to the common stock and preferred stock issued, certain outstanding warrants issued and equity awards granted by Anelixis were not settled
upon completion of the merger, and instead were assumed and then replaced with Eledon warrants and equity awards. The amounts for the assumed and replaced
warrants and equity awards attributed to pre-merger services are included in other consideration amounts transferred and added to goodwill.

The Company determined that FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805 (“ASC 805”), Business Combinations, is the authoritative guidance
in accounting for this transaction and for determining whether Anelixis was a dormant, non-operating entity that would not meet the definition of a business under
ASC 805. If Anelixis was not an operating entity, the acquisition would instead be considered a capital transaction and equivalent to the issuance of shares by
Novus for the net monetary assets of Anelixis accompanied by a recapitalization. Conversely, if Anelixis was determined to be a business, the acquisition method
of accounting would apply and the difference between the acquisition date fair value of the total consideration transferred and the aggregate values assigned to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed would be recorded as goodwill.

The Company evaluated the terms of the Merger Agreement and the transaction under the applicable accounting guidance and determined that Anelixis
satisfied the definition of a business under ASC 805 and as further clarified by ASU 2017-01. Based on this analysis, the Company accounted for the acquisition
of Anelixis as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting as it had determined that Anelixis’ assets acquired in the transaction included an
input and a substantive process that together significantly contributed to the ability to create outputs. Additionally, the Company was determined to be both the
legal and accounting acquirer as it had issued equity interests to acquire all of Anelixis’ equity interests. Goodwill generated from the acquisition was primarily
attributable to the expected synergies from combining operations and expanding market potential, together with certain intangible assets that do not qualify for
separate recognition. None of the approximately $48.6 million in goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Concurrently and in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with certain
institutional and accredited investors. Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to sell an aggregate of approximately 199,112 shares of
Series X! Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $99.1 million in the Financing. Eledon had commitments for an additional $9.0 million
in equity financing that was contingent upon the satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, including stockholder approval of the issuance of the
Company’s common stock upon the conversion of the Company’s Series X! Preferred Stock and the effective registration of its common stock. The merger was a
pre-requisite in order for the Financing to transpire; without the merger, those certain institutional and accredited investors would not have purchased the
Company’s Series X1 convertible preferred stock.

On December 18, 2020, the Company held the Special Meeting, whereby the Company’s stockholders approved the issuance of the Company’s common
stock, upon conversion of the Company’s Series X1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, issued in September 2020. As a result, approximately 231,068
shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock were converted into 12,837,056 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of December 31, 2020, approximately 108,070
shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock remain outstanding.
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On December 23, 2020, the Company sold 1,004,111 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $9.0 million that was contingent upon the
satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, as described above.

Acquisition Consideration

The following table summarizes the fair value of the purchase price consideration to acquire Anelixis (in thousands):

Description Amount

Fair value of purchase consideration:
Common shares issued (1) $ 1,194
Preferred shares issued (2) 69,723
Options assumed (3) 2,950
Warrants assumed (3) 12,944

Total purchase consideration $ 86,811

(1) The fair value of common shares issued in the merger is based on 175,488 shares issued on the September 14, 2020 acquisition date at the closing
price of the Company's common stock of $6.80 per share.

(2) The fair value of preferred shares issued in the merger is based on the amount per share of Series X1 preferred stock in the September 2020
Purchase Agreement.

(3) The fair value of the options and warrants assumed and replaced in the merger is based on applying the Black-Scholes valuation method using
appropriate inputs of volatility rates ranging from 82% to 83%, expected terms of 5.0 to 5.9 years and risk-free rates of 0.27% to 0.45%.

Purchase Price Allocation

The following is an allocation of the purchase price as of the September 14, 2020 acquisition closing date based upon a preliminary estimate of the fair
value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed by the Company in the acquisition (in thousands):

Description Amount

Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,035
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 26
Other non-current assets 11
Accounts payable (580)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (206)
Deferred tax liability (4,510)
Net identifiable assets acquired 5,776
Goodwill 48,649
Identifiable intangible assets 32,386
Net assets acquired $ 86,811

Acquisition costs of approximately $2.9 million were included in general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss.

Deferred Income Taxes

The net deferred tax liability was based upon the difference between the estimated book basis and tax basis of net assets acquired and an estimate for
the final pre-acquisition net operating losses of Anelixis.

Identifiable Intangible Assets

Through its acquisition of Anelixis, the Company acquired intangible assets that consisted of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) with an
estimated fair value of $32.4 million, related to its clinical development program of AT-
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1501. The estimated fair value of the IPR&D was determined by management based on an external valuation specialist’s analysis of replacement costs to recreate
AT-1501 in its current clinical stage. The replacement cost method contemplates the cost to recreate the utility of AT-1501 but in a form that is not a replica of AT-
1501. In this method, the replacement cost is determined and reduced for depreciation of the asset. In this context, depreciation has three components: (i) physical
deterioration, (ii) functional obsolescence, and (iii) economic obsolescence.

Goodwill

Under the acquisition method of accounting, goodwill of approximately $48.6 million would be generated after accounting for Anelixis’ assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets identified and valued.

Pro Forma Information (Unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information is presented to illustrate the estimated effects of the Merger based on the historical
financial statements and accounting records of Eledon and Anelixis after giving effect to the Merger and the Merger-related pro forma adjustments.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 combine the historical statements of
operations of Eledon and Anelixis, giving effect to the Merger as if it had occurred on January 1, 2019, the first day of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information has been presented for informational purposes only. The unaudited pro forma combined
financial information does not purport to represent the actual results of operations that Eledon and Anelixis would have achieved had the companies been
combined during the periods presented in the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements and is not intended to project the future results of operations that
the combined company may achieve after the Merger. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information does not reflect any potential cost savings that may
be realized as a result of the Merger and also does not reflect any restructuring or integration-related costs to achieve those potential cost savings.

Additionally, the unaudited pro forma combined financial information does not reflect any merger-related expenses incurred by the Company or pre-
merger Anelixis, which totaled approximately $3.4 million and were removed from general and administrative expenses in the pro forma calculations below. The
unaudited pro forma combined financial information also excludes certain other income and other expense items as part of the acquisition of Anelixis. For the year
ended December 31, 2020, a gain of approximately $655,000 due to the forgiveness of Anelixis debt was removed from pro forma other income. Approximately
$512,000 and $395,000 was excluded from pro forma other expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, for interest expenses related
to notes that were converted into equity interest in the Company.

Year Ended
December 31,
2020 2019

Revenue $ 120 $ 500
Operating expenses
Research and development 9,489 11,441
General and administrative 8,317 7,585
Restructuring expense 2,282 —
Goodwill impairment — 1,867

Total operating expenses 20,088 20,893
Loss from operations (19,968) (20,393)
Other income (expense), net 79 40
Warrant inducement expense (4,829) —
Loss before provision for income taxes (24,718) (20,353)
Income tax benefit 404 —
Net loss and other comprehensive loss $ (24,314) $ (20,353)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (15.44) $ (24.49)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 1,574,657 831,014
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Actual net loss and other comprehensive loss of Anelixis since September 14, 2020 that is included in our consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2020, is approximately $2.5 million. Anelixis did not recognize any revenue in 2020 since its acquisition by the Company.

Note 11. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events subsequent to December 31, 2020 through the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any material
subsequent events that occurred during this time have been properly recognized or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

On March 15, 2021, the Company appointed Paul Little as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. In that role, Mr. Little will also serve as the Company’s
principal financial officer, replacing Jon Kuwahara in that role. Mr. Kuwahara will continue to serve as the Company’s Senior Vice President of Finance and
Administration and principal accounting officer.

On March 30, 2021, the Company entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement (the “Sale Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies) to sell shares of
the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, having aggregate sales proceeds of up to $75,000,000, from time to time, through an “at the market”
equity offering program under which Jefferies will act as sales agent.

Under the Sale Agreement, the Company will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number of shares to be issued, the time period during
which sales are requested to be made, limitation on the number of shares that may be sold in any one trading day and any minimum price below which sales may
not be made. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Sale Agreement, Jefferies may sell the shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market offering” as
defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including sales made directly on The Nasdaq Capital Market or on any other
existing trading market for the common stock. The Company and Jefferies may each terminate the Sale Agreement at any time as set forth in the Sale Agreement.
Under the terms of the Sale Agreement, the Company may also sell shares to Jefferies acting as principal for Jefferies’ own account.

The compensation to Jefferies for sales of the Company’s common stock will be an amount equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of any shares of common
stock sold under the Sale Agreement. The Company has no obligation to sell any shares under the Sale Agreement, and may at any time suspend solicitation and
offers under the Sale Agreement.

The shares will be issued pursuant to a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 to be filed with the SEC. No sales may be made under the registration
statement until it has been declared effective by the SEC.

The foregoing description of the Sale Agreement is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such agreement, a copy of
which is filed herewith as Exhibit 1.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit 1.1
OPEN MARKET SALE AGREEMENTSM
March 30, 2021

JEFFERIES LLC
520 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), proposes, subject to the terms and conditions stated
herein, to issue and sell from time to time through Jefferies LL.C, as sales agent and/or principal (the “Agent”), shares of the Company’s
common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Shares”), having an aggregate offering price of up to $75,000,00 on the
terms set forth in this agreement (this “Agreement”).

Section 1. DEFINITIONS

(a) Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall
have the following respective meanings:

“Affiliate” of a Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, such first- mentioned Person. The term “control” (including the terms “controlling,”
“controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction
of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Agency Period” means the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and expiring on the earliest to occur of (x)
the date on which the Agent shall have placed the Maximum Program Amount pursuant to this Agreement and (y) the date this
Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 7.

“Commission” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Commission
thereunder.

“Floor Price” means the minimum price set by the Company in the Issuance Notice below which the Agent shall not sell
Shares during the applicable period set forth in the Issuance Notice, which may be adjusted by the Company at any time during the
period set forth in the Issuance Notice by delivering written notice of such change to the Agent and which in no event shall be less than
$1.00 without the prior written consent of the Agent, which may be withheld in the Agent’s sole discretion.

“Issuance Amount” means the aggregate Sales Price of the Shares to be sold by the Agent pursuant to any Issuance Notice.

“Issuance Notice” means a written notice delivered to the Agent by the Company in accordance with this Agreement in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit A that is executed by its Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer.

“Issuance Notice Date” means any Trading Day during the Agency Period that an Issuance Notice is delivered pursuant to
Section 3(b)(i).

“Issuance Price” means the Sales Price less the Selling Commission.

“Maximum Program Amount” means Common Shares with an aggregate Sales Price of the lesser of (a) the number or
dollar amount of Common Shares registered under the effective Registration Statement (defined below) pursuant to which the offering
is being made, (b) the number of authorized but unissued Common Shares (less Common Shares issuable upon exercise, conversion or
exchange of any outstanding securities of the Company or otherwise reserved from the Company’s authorized capital stock), (c) the
number or dollar amount of Common Shares permitted to be sold under Form S-3 (including General Instruction 1.B.6 thereof, if
applicable), or (d) the number or dollar amount of Common Shares for which the Company has filed a Prospectus (defined below).

“Person” means an individual or a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, incorporated or unincorporated
association, joint venture, joint stock company, governmental authority or other entity of any kind.

“Principal Market” means the Nasdaq Capital Market or such other national securities exchange on which the Common
Shares, including any Shares, are then listed.

“Sales Price” means the actual sale execution price of each Share placed by the Agent pursuant to this Agreement.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder.

“Selling Commission” means three percent (3%) of the gross proceeds of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement, or as
otherwise agreed between the Company and the Agent with respect to any Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement.



“Settlement Date” means the second business day following each Trading Day during the period set forth in the Issuance
Notice on which Shares are sold pursuant to this Agreement, when the Company shall deliver to the Agent the amount of Shares sold
on such Trading Day and the Agent shall deliver to the Company the Issuance Price received on such sales.

SM “Open Market Sale Agreement” is a service mark of Jefferies LLC



“Shares” shall mean the Company’s Common Shares issued or issuable pursuant to this Agreement.
“Trading Day” means any day on which the Principal Market is open for trading.
Section 2. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with, the Agent that as of (1) the date of this Agreement, (2) each
Issuance Notice Date, (3) each Settlement Date, (4) each Triggering Event Date and (5) as of each Time of Sale (each of the times
referenced above is referred to herein as a “Representation Date”), except as may be disclosed in the Prospectus (including any
documents incorporated by reference therein and any supplements thereto) on or before a Representation Date:

(a) Registration Statement. The Company has prepared and will file with the Commission on the date hereof a shelf
registration statement on Form S-3 that contains a base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”). Such registration statement registers the
issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares under the Securities Act. The Company may file one or more additional registration
statements from time to time that will contain a base prospectus and related prospectus or prospectus supplement, if applicable, with
respect to the Shares. Except where the context otherwise requires, such registration statement(s), including any information deemed to
be a part thereof pursuant to Rule 430B under the Securities Act, including all financial statements, exhibits and schedules thereto and
all documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the Securities Act
as from time to time amended or supplemented, is herein referred to as the “Registration Statement,” and the prospectus constituting a
part of such registration statement(s), together with any prospectus supplement filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b)
under the Securities Act relating to a particular issuance of the Shares, including all documents incorporated or deemed to be
incorporated therein by reference pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the Securities Act, in each case, as from time to time amended
or supplemented, is referred to herein as the “Prospectus,” except that if any revised prospectus is provided to the Agent by the
Company for use in connection with the offering of the Shares that is not required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 424(b)
under the Securities Act, the term “Prospectus” shall refer to such revised prospectus from and after the time it is first provided to the
Agent for such use. The Registration Statement at the time it originally became effective is herein called the “Original Registration
Statement.” As used in this Agreement, the terms “amendment” or “supplement” when applied to the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus shall be deemed to include the filing by the Company with the Commission of any document under the Exchange Act after
the date hereof that is or is deemed to be incorporated therein by reference.

All references in this Agreement to financial statements and schedules and other information which is “contained,”
“included” or “stated” in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus (and all other references of like import) shall be deemed to mean
and include all such financial statements and schedules and other information which is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference in
or otherwise deemed under the Securities Act to be a part of or included in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as the case
may be, as of any specified date; and all references in this Agreement to amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or
the Prospectus shall be deemed to



mean and include, without limitation, the filing of any document under the Exchange Act which is or is deemed to be incorporated by
reference in or otherwise deemed under the Securities Act to be a part of or included in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as
the case may be, as of any specified date.

At the time the Registration Statement was or will be originally declared effective and at the time the Company’s most recent
annual report on Form 10-K was filed with the Commission, if later, the Company met the then-applicable requirements for use of
Form S-3 under the Securities Act. During the Agency Period, each time the Company files an annual report on Form 10-K the
Company will meet the then-applicable requirements for use of Form S-3 under the Securities Act.

(b) Compliance with Registration Requirements. The Original Registration Statement and any Rule 462(b)
Registration Statement have been declared effective by the Commission under the Securities Act. The Company has complied to the
Commission’s satisfaction with all requests of the Commission for additional or supplemental information. No stop order suspending
the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement is in effect and no proceedings for such
purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the best knowledge of the Company, are contemplated or threatened by the
Commission.

The Prospectus when filed complied in all material respects with the Securities Act and, if filed with the Commission
through its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system (“EDGAR”) (except as may be permitted by Regulation S-T
under the Securities Act), was identical to the copy thereof delivered to the Agent for use in connection with the issuance and sale of
the Shares. Each of the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement and any post-effective amendment thereto, at
the time it became effective and at all subsequent times, complied and will comply in all material respects with the Securities Act and
did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As of the date of this Agreement, the Prospectus and any Free Writing
Prospectus (as defined below) considered together (collectively, the “Time of Sale Information”) did not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading. The Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, as of its date and at all subsequent times, did not and
will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein,
in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The representations and warranties set forth in the three
immediately preceding sentences do not apply to statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b)
Registration Statement, or any post-effective amendment thereto, or the Prospectus, or any amendments or supplements thereto, made
in reliance upon and in conformity with information relating to the Agent furnished to the Company in writing by the Agent expressly
for use therein, it being understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by the Agent to the Company consists of the
information described in Section 6 below. There are no contracts or other documents required to be described in the Prospectus or to
be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement which have not been described or filed as required. The Registration Statement and the
offer and sale of the Shares as contemplated hereby meet the requirements of Rule 415 under the Securities Act and comply in all
material respects with said rule.



(© Ineligible Issuer Status. The Company is not an “ineligible issuer” in connection with the offering of the Shares
pursuant to Rules 164, 405 and 433 under the Securities Act. Any Free Writing Prospectus that the Company is required to file
pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act has been, or will be, filed with the Commission in accordance with the requirements of
the Securities Act. Each Free Writing Prospectus that the Company has filed, or is required to file, pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the
Securities Act or that was prepared by or behalf of or used or referred to by the Company complies or will comply in all material
respects with the requirements of Rule 433 under the Securities Act including timely filing with the Commission or retention where
required and legending, and each such Free Writing Prospectus, as of its issue date and at all subsequent times through the completion
of the issuance and sale of the Shares did not, does not and will not include any information that conflicted, conflicts with or will
conflict with the information contained in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, including any document incorporated by
reference therein. Except for the Free Writing Prospectuses, if any, and electronic road shows, if any, furnished to you before first use,
the Company has not prepared, used or referred to, and will not, without your prior consent, prepare, use or refer to, any Free Writing
Prospectus.

(d) Incorporated Documents. The documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus, at the time they were filed with the Commission, complied in all material respects with the
requirements of the Exchange Act, as applicable, and, when read together with the other information in the Prospectus, do not contain
an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(e) Exchange Act Compliance. The documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in the
Prospectus, at the time they were or hereafter are filed with the Commission, and any Free Writing Prospectus or amendment or
supplement thereto complied and will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act, and, when read
together with the other information in the Prospectus, at the time the Registration Statement and any amendments thereto become
effective and at each Time of Sale (as defined below), as the case may be, will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

® Statistical and Market-Related Data. All statistical, demographic and market-related data included in the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus are based on or derived from sources that the Company believes, after reasonable inquiry, to
be reliable and accurate. To the extent required, the Company has obtained the written consent for the use of such data from such
sources.

(8 Disclosure Controls and Procedures; Deficiencies in or Changes to Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. The
Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange
Act), which (i) are designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to the Company’s principal executive officer and its principal
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financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in which the periodic reports required under the
Exchange Act are being prepared; (ii) have been evaluated by management of the Company for effectiveness as of the end of the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter; and (iii) are effective in all material respects to perform the functions for which they were
established. Since the end of the Company’s most recent audited fiscal year, there have been no significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (whether or not remediated) and no change in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. The Company is not aware of any change in its internal control over financial reporting that has
occurred during its most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

(h) This Agreement. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.

@) Authorization of the Shares. The Shares have been duly authorized for issuance and sale pursuant to this
Agreement and, when issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor pursuant to this Agreement, will be validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and the issuance and sale of the Shares is not subject to any preemptive rights, rights of first
refusal or other similar rights to subscribe for or purchase the Shares.

)] No Applicable Registration or Other Similar Rights. There are no persons with registration or other similar rights
to have any equity or debt securities registered for sale under the Registration Statement or included in the offering contemplated by
this Agreement, except for such rights as have been duly waived.

(k) No Material Adverse Change. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus,
subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus: (i) there has been
no material adverse change, or any development that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change, in (A) the
condition, financial or otherwise, or in the earnings, business, properties, operations, operating results, assets, liabilities or prospects,
whether or not arising from transactions in the ordinary course of business, of the Company and its subsidiaries, considered as one
entity or (B) the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or perform its obligations
hereunder (any such change being referred to herein as a “Material Adverse Change”); (ii) the Company and its subsidiaries,
considered as one entity, have not incurred any material liability or obligation, indirect, direct or contingent, including without
limitation any losses or interference with their business from fire, explosion, flood, earthquakes, accident or other calamity, whether or
not covered by insurance, or from any strike, labor dispute or court or governmental action, order or decree, that are material,
individually or in the aggregate, to the Company and its subsidiaries, considered as one entity, and have not entered into any material
transactions not in the ordinary course of business; and (iii) there has not been any material decrease in the capital stock or any material
increase in any short-term or long-term indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries and there has been no dividend or distribution
of any kind declared, paid or made by the Company or, except for dividends paid to the Company or other
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subsidiaries, by any of the Company’s subsidiaries on any class of capital stock, or any repurchase or redemption by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries of any class of capital stock.

Q)] Independent Accountants. KMJ Corbin & Company LLP, which has expressed its opinion with respect to the
financial statements (which term as used in this Agreement includes the related notes thereto) and supporting schedules filed with the
Commission as a part of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, is (i) an independent registered public accounting firm as
required by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the rules of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”), (ii)
in compliance with the applicable requirements relating to the qualification of accountants under Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X under the
Securities Act and (iii) a registered public accounting firm as defined by the PCAOB whose registration has not been suspended or
revoked and who has not requested such registration to be withdrawn.

(m) Financial Statements. The financial statements filed with the Commission as a part of the Registration Statement
and the Prospectus present fairly the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the dates indicated and
the results of their operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the periods specified. The supporting schedules
included in the Registration Statement present fairly the information required to be stated therein. Such financial statements and
supporting schedules have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis
throughout the periods involved, except as may be expressly stated in the related notes thereto. The interactive data in eXtensible
Business Reporting Language included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement fairly presents the information called
for in all material respects and has been prepared in accordance with the Commission’s rules and guidelines applicable thereto. The pro
forma combined financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and the related notes thereto incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement present fairly the information contained therein, have been prepared in accordance with the Commission’s rules
and guidance with respect to pro forma financial statements and have been properly presented on the bases described therein, and the
assumptions used in the preparation thereof are reasonable and the adjustments used therein are appropriate to give effect to the
transactions and circumstances referred to therein. No other financial statements or supporting schedules are required to be included in
the Registration Statement or the Prospectus. To the Company’s knowledge, no person who has been suspended or barred from being
associated with a registered public accounting firm, or who has failed to comply with any sanction pursuant to Rule 5300 promulgated
by the PCAOB, has participated in or otherwise aided the preparation of, or audited, the financial statements, supporting schedules or
other financial data filed with the Commission as a part of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(n) Company’s Accounting System. The Company and each of its subsidiaries make and keep accurate books and
records and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as applied in the United States and to
maintain accountability for assets; (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization; (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action

is taken with respect to any differences; and (v) the interactive data in
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eXtensible Business Reporting Language included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus fairly
presents the information called for in all material respects and is prepared in accordance with the Commission's rules and guidelines
applicable thereto.

(o) Incorporation and Good Standing_of the Company. The Company has been duly incorporated and is validly
existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the corporate power and
authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus and to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement. The Company is duly qualified as a foreign corporation
to transact business and is in good standing in the State of California and each other jurisdiction in which such qualification is required,
whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business, except where the failure to be so qualified and in

good standing would not be expected, individually or in the aggregate to result in a Material Adverse Change.

o €€

(p) Subsidiaries. Each of the Company’s “subsidiaries” (for purposes of this Agreement, as defined in Rule 405 under
the Securities Act) has been duly incorporated or organized, as the case may be, and is validly existing as a corporation, partnership or
limited liability company, as applicable, in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and has
the power and authority (corporate or other) to own, lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus. Each of the Company’s subsidiaries is duly qualified as a foreign corporation, partnership
or limited liability company, as applicable, to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification
is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business, except where the failure to be so
qualified and in good standing would not be expected, individually or in the aggregate to result in a Material Adverse Change. All of
the issued and outstanding capital stock or other equity or ownership interests of each of the Company’s subsidiaries have been duly
authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and are owned by the Company, directly or through subsidiaries, free
and clear of any security interest, mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance or adverse claim. None of the outstanding capital stock or
equity interest in any subsidiary was issued in violation of preemptive or similar rights of any security holder of such subsidiary. The
constitutive or organizational documents of each of the subsidiaries comply in all material respects with the requirements of applicable
laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization and are in full force and effect. The Company does not own or control, directly
or indirectly, any corporation, association or other entity other than the subsidiaries listed in Exhibit 21 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

(@ Capitalization and Other Capital Stock Matters. The authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock of the
Company is as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus under the caption “The Offering” and “Description of Capital
Stock” (other than for subsequent issuances, if any, pursuant to employee benefit plans described in the Prospectus or upon the exercise
of outstanding options or warrants, in each case described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus). The Common Shares
(including the Shares) conform in all material respects to the description thereof contained in the Prospectus. All of the issued and
outstanding Common Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and have been issued in
compliance with all federal and state securities laws. None of the



outstanding Common Shares was issued in violation of any preemptive rights, rights of first refusal or other similar rights to subscribe
for or purchase securities of the Company. There are no authorized or outstanding options, warrants, preemptive rights, rights of first
refusal or other rights to purchase, or equity or debt securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, any capital stock of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than those described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus. The descriptions of
the Company’s stock option, stock bonus and other stock plans or arrangements, and the options or other rights granted thereunder, set
forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus accurately and fairly presents the information required to be shown with respect
to such plans, arrangements, options and rights.

(r) Stock Exchange Listing. The Common Shares are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) or 12(g) of the Exchange
Act and are listed on the Principal Market, and the Company has taken no action designed to, or likely to have the effect of, terminating
the registration of the Common Shares under the Exchange Act or delisting the Common Shares from the Principal Market, nor has the
Company received any notification that the Commission or the Principal Market is contemplating terminating such registration or
listing. To the Company’s knowledge, it is in compliance with all applicable listing requirements of the Principal Market.

(s) Non-Contravention of Existing_Instruments; No Further Authorizations or Approvals Required. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries is in violation of its charter or by-laws, partnership agreement or operating agreement or similar
organizational documents, as applicable, or is in default (or, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, would be in default) (“Default”)
under any indenture, loan, credit agreement, note, lease, license agreement, contract, franchise or other instrument (including, without
limitation, any pledge agreement, security agreement, mortgage or other instrument or agreement evidencing, guaranteeing, securing or
relating to indebtedness) to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of them may be bound, or to
which any of their respective properties or assets are subject (each, an “Existing Instrument”), except for such Defaults as could not
be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Change. The Company’s execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus and the issuance and sale of the Shares (including the use of proceeds from the sale of the Shares as described in the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus under the caption “Use of Proceeds”) (i) have been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate action and will not result in any violation of the provisions of the charter or by-laws, partnership agreement or operating
agreement or similar organizational documents, as applicable, of the Company or any subsidiary (ii) will not conflict with or constitute
a breach of, or Default or a Debt Repayment Triggering Event (as defined below) under, or result in the creation or imposition of any
lien, charge or encumbrance upon any property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to, or require the consent of
any other party to, any Existing Instrument and (iii) will not result in any violation of any law, administrative regulation or
administrative or court decree applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries. No consent, approval, authorization or other order
of, or registration or filing with, any court or other governmental or regulatory authority or agency, is required for the Company’s
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus, except such as have been obtained or made by the Company and are in full force and effect
under the Securities Act and such as may be required under applicable state securities or blue sky laws or FINRA (as defined below).
As used herein, a



“Debt Repayment Triggering Event” means any event or condition which gives, or with the giving of notice or lapse of time would
give, the holder of any note, debenture or other evidence of indebtedness (or any person acting on such holder’s behalf) the right to
require the repurchase, redemption or repayment of all or a portion of such indebtedness by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

(3] No Material Actions or Proceedings. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, there is no action, suit,
proceeding, inquiry or investigation brought by or before any legal or governmental entity now pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened, against or affecting the Company or any of its subsidiaries, which could be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Change. No material labor dispute with the employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or with the employees of any principal supplier, manufacturer, customer or contractor of the Company, exists or, to the
knowledge of the Company, is threatened or imminent.

(w) Intellectual Property Rights. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, the
Company and its subsidiaries own, or have obtained valid and enforceable licenses for, the inventions, patent applications, patents,
trademarks, trade names, service names, copyrights, trade secrets and other intellectual property described in the Registration Statement
and the Prospectus as being owned or licensed by them or which are necessary for the conduct of their respective businesses as
currently conducted or as currently proposed to be conducted (collectively, “Intellectual Property”). To the Company's knowledge: (i)
there are no third parties who have rights to any Intellectual Property, except for customary reversionary rights of third-party licensors
with respect to Intellectual Property that is disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as licensed to the Company or
one or more of its subsidiaries; and (ii) there is no infringement by third parties of any Intellectual Property. There is no pending or, to
the Company’s knowledge, threatened action, suit, proceeding or claim by others: (A) challenging the Company’s rights in or to any
Intellectual Property, and the Company is unaware of any facts which would form a reasonable basis for any such action, suit,
proceeding or claim; (B) challenging the validity, enforceability or scope of any Intellectual Property, and the Company is unaware of
any facts which would form a reasonable basis for any such action, suit, proceeding or claim; or (C) asserting that the Company or any
of its subsidiaries infringes or otherwise violates, or would, upon the commercialization of any product or service described in the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus as under development, infringe or violate, any patent, trademark, trade name, service name,
copyright, trade secret or other proprietary rights of others, and the Company is unaware of any facts which would form a reasonable
basis for any such action, suit, proceeding or claim. The Company and its subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with the
terms of each agreement pursuant to which Intellectual Property has been licensed to the Company or any subsidiary, and all such
agreements are in full force and effect. The product candidates described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as under
development by the Company or any subsidiary fall within the scope of the claims of one or more patents owned by, or exclusively
licensed to, the Company or any subsidiary. The Company and its subsidiaries have taken reasonable steps to protect, maintain and
safeguard their Intellectual Property, including the execution of appropriate nondisclosure, confidentiality agreements and invention
assignment agreements and invention assignments with their employees, and no employee of the Company is in or has been in material
violation of any term of any employment contract, patent disclosure agreement, invention assignment agreement, non-competition
agreement, non-



solicitation agreement, nondisclosure agreement, or any restrictive covenant to or with a former employer where the basis of such
violation relates to such employee’s employment with the Company. The duty of candor and good faith as required by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office during the prosecution of the United States patents and patent applications included in the Intellectual
Property have been complied with in all material respects; and in all foreign offices having similar requirements, all such requirements
have been complied with in all material respects.

W) All Necessary Permits, etc. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company and each subsidiary
possess such valid and current certificates, authorizations or permits required by state, federal or foreign regulatory agencies or bodies
to conduct their respective businesses as currently conducted and as described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus
(“Permits”), except for such certificates, authorizations or permits whose failure to obtain would not be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Change. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is in violation of, or in default
under, any of the Permits (except for such violations or defaults that would not be expected, individually or in the aggregate to result in
a Material Adverse Change) or has received any notice of proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of, or non-compliance
with, any such certificate, authorization or permit, which, if the subject of an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding, would reasonably
be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Change.

w) Title to Properties. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company and its subsidiaries has good
and marketable title to all of the real and personal property and other assets reflected as owned in the financial statements referred to in
Section 2(m) above (or elsewhere in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, in each case free and clear of any security interests,
mortgages, liens, encumbrances, equities, adverse claims and other defects, except such as do not materially and adversely affect the
value of such property and do not materially interfere with the use made or proposed to be made of such property by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries. The real property, improvements, equipment and personal property held under lease by the Company or of its
subsidiary are held under valid and enforceable leases, with such exceptions as are not material and do not materially interfere with the
use made or proposed to be made of such real property, improvements, equipment or personal property by the Company or such
subsidiary.

x) Tax Law Compliance. The Company and its subsidiaries have filed all necessary federal, state and foreign income
and franchise tax returns or have properly requested extensions thereof and have paid all taxes required to be paid by any of them and,
if due and payable, any related or similar assessment, fine or penalty levied against any of them except as may be being contested in
good faith and by appropriate proceedings, and except for such exceptions as could not be expected, individually or in the aggregate to
result in a Material Adverse Change. The Company has made adequate charges, accruals and reserves in the applicable financial
statements referred to in Section 2(m) above in respect of all federal, state and foreign income and franchise taxes for all periods as to
which the tax liability of the Company or any of its subsidiaries has not been finally determined.

) Company Not an “Investment Company.” The Company is not, and will not be, either after receipt of payment for
the Shares or after the application of the proceeds therefrom as
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described under “Use of Proceeds” in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, required to register as an “investment company”
under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”).

(z) Insurance. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, each of the Company and its subsidiaries are insured
by recognized, financially sound and reputable institutions with policies in such amounts and with such deductibles and covering such
risks as, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, are generally deemed adequate and customary for their businesses including, but
not limited to, policies covering real and personal property owned or leased by the Company and its subsidiaries against theft, damage,
destruction, acts of vandalism and policies covering the Company and its subsidiaries for product liability claims and clinical trial
liability claims. The Company has no reason to believe that it or any of its subsidiaries will not be able (i) to renew its existing
insurance coverage as and when such policies expire or (ii) to obtain comparable coverage from similar institutions as may be necessary
or appropriate to conduct its business as now conducted and at a cost that could not be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Change. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has been denied any insurance coverage which it has sought or for which it
has applied.

(aa) No Price Stabilization or Manipulation;_Compliance with Regulation M. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has taken, directly or indirectly, any action designed to or that might cause or result in stabilization or manipulation of the
price of the Common Shares or of any “reference security” (as defined in Rule 100 of Regulation M under the Exchange Act
(“Regulation M”)) with respect to the Common Shares, whether to facilitate the sale or resale of the Shares or otherwise, and has taken

no action which would directly or indirectly violate Regulation M.

(bb) Related Party Transactions. There are no business relationships or related-party transactions involving the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other person required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus which
have not been described as required.

(co) FINRA Matters. All of the information provided to the Agent or to counsel for the Agent by the Company, its
counsel, its officers and directors and the holders of any securities (debt or equity) or options to acquire any securities of the Company
in connection with the offering of the Shares is true, complete, correct and compliant with Financial Industry Regulatory Authority,
Inc.’s (“FINRA”) rules and any letters, filings or other supplemental information provided to FINRA pursuant to FINRA Rules or
NASD Conduct Rules is true, complete and correct. The Company meets the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the Securities Act
specified in FINRA Rule 5110(b)(7)(C)().

(dd) No Unlawful Contributions or Other Payments. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries nor, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, any employee or agent of the Company or any
subsidiary, has made any contribution or other payment to any official of, or candidate for, any federal, state or foreign office in
violation of any law or of the character required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.
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(ee) Compliance with Environmental Laws. Except as described in the Prospectus and except as could not be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Change; (i) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is
in violation of any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, policy or rule of common law or any
judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including any judicial or administrative order, consent, decree or judgment, relating to
pollution or protection of human health, the environment (including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, groundwater, land
surface or subsurface strata) or wildlife, including, without limitation, laws and regulations relating to the release or threatened release
of chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, wastes, toxic substances, hazardous substances, petroleum or petroleum products (collectively,
“Hazardous Materials”) or to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of
Hazardous Materials (collectively, “Environmental L.aws”), (ii) the Company and its subsidiaries have all permits, authorizations and
approvals required under any applicable Environmental Laws and are each in compliance with their requirements, (iii) there are no
pending or threatened administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand letters, claims, liens, notices of
noncompliance or violation, investigation or proceedings relating to any Environmental Law against the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and (iv) there are no events or circumstances that might reasonably be expected to form the basis of an order for clean-up
or remediation, or an action, suit or proceeding by any private party or governmental body or agency, against or affecting the Company
or any of its subsidiaries relating to Hazardous Materials or any Environmental Laws.

(ff) Periodic Review of Costs of Environmental Compliance. In the ordinary course of its business, the Company
conducts a periodic review of the effect of Environmental Laws on the business, operations and properties of the Company and its
subsidiaries, in the course of which it identifies and evaluates associated costs and liabilities (including, without limitation, any capital
or operating expenditures required for clean-up, closure of properties or compliance with Environmental Laws or any permit, license or
approval, any related constraints on operating activities and any potential liabilities to third parties). No facts or circumstances have
come to the Company’s attention that could result in costs or liabilities that could be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result
in a Material Adverse Change.

(gg) ERISA Compliance. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company and its subsidiaries and any
“employee benefit plan” (as defined under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations and
published interpretations thereunder (collectively, “ERISA™)) established or maintained by the Company, its subsidiaries or their
“ERISA Affiliates” (as defined below) are in compliance in all material respects with ERISA. “ERISA Affiliate” means, with respect
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, any member of any group of organizations described in Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations and published interpretations thereunder (the “Code”) of which the
Company or such subsidiary is a member. No “reportable event” (as defined under ERISA) has occurred or is reasonably expected to
occur with respect to any “employee benefit plan” established or maintained by the Company, its subsidiaries or any of their ERISA
Affiliates. No “employee benefit plan” established or maintained by the Company, its subsidiaries or any of their ERISA Affiliates, if
such “employee benefit plan” were terminated, would have any “amount of unfunded benefit liabilities” (as defined under
ERISA). Neither the Company, its subsidiaries nor any of their ERISA Affiliates has incurred or reasonably expects to
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incur any liability under (i) Title IV of ERISA with respect to termination of, or withdrawal from, any “employee benefit plan” or
(ii) Sections 412, 4971, 4975 or 4980B of the Code. Each “employee benefit plan” established or maintained by the Company, its
subsidiaries or any of their ERISA Affiliates that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified and
nothing has occurred, whether by action or failure to act, which would cause the loss of such qualification.

(hh) Brokers. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, there is no broker, finder or other party that is entitled
to receive from the Company any brokerage or finder’s fee or other fee or commission as a result of any transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.

(ii) No Outstanding L.oans or Other Extensions of Credit. The Company does not have any outstanding extension of
credit, in the form of a personal loan, to or for any director or executive officer (or equivalent thereof) of the Company except for such
extensions of credit as are expressly permitted by Section 13(k) of the Exchange Act.

(1) Compliance with Laws. The Company and its subsidiaries have been and are in compliance with all applicable
laws, rules and regulations, except where failure to be so in compliance could not be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result
in a Material Adverse Change.

(kk) Dividend Restrictions. Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, no subsidiary of the Company is prohibited or
restricted, directly or indirectly, from paying dividends to the Company, or from making any other distribution with respect to such
subsidiary’s equity securities or from repaying to the Company or any other subsidiary of the Company any amounts that may from
time to time become due under any loans or advances to such subsidiary from the Company or from transferring any property or assets
to the Company or to any other subsidiary.

an Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery Laws. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries nor any director, officer,
or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor to the knowledge of the Company, any agent, affiliate or other person acting
on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries has, in the course of its actions for, or on behalf of, the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (i) used any corporate funds for any unlawful contribution, gift, entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to
political activity; (ii) made or taken any act in furtherance of an offer, promise, or authorization of any direct or indirect unlawful
payment or benefit to any foreign or domestic government official or employee, including of any government-owned or controlled
entity or public international organization, or any political party, party official, or candidate for political office; (iii) violated or is in
violation of any provision of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”), the UK Bribery Act 2010, or
any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption law; or (iv) made, offered, authorized, requested, or taken an act in furtherance of
any unlawful bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other unlawful payment or benefit. The Company and its
subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Company’s affiliates have conducted their respective businesses in compliance
with the FCPA and have instituted and maintain policies and procedures designed to ensure, and which are reasonably expected to
continue to ensure, continued compliance therewith.
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(mm) Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are, and have been conducted at
all times, in compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions
Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the money laundering statutes of all applicable jurisdictions, the rules and regulations thereunder
and any related or similar applicable rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by any governmental agency
(collectively, the “Money Laundering L.aws”) and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency,
authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Money Laundering Laws is
pending or, to the best knowledge of the Company, threatened.

(nn) Clinical Data and Regulatory Compliance. The preclinical tests and clinical trials, and other studies (collectively,
“studies™) that are described in, or the results of which are referred to in, the Registration Statement or the Prospectus were and, if still
pending, are being conducted in all material respects in accordance with the protocols, procedures and controls designed and approved
for such studies and with standard medical and scientific research procedures; each description of the results of such studies is accurate
and complete in all material respects and fairly presents the data derived from such studies, and the Company and its subsidiaries have
no knowledge of any other studies the results of which are inconsistent with, or otherwise call into question, the results described or
referred to in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus; the Company and its subsidiaries have made all such filings and obtained all
such approvals as may be required by the Food and Drug Administration of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services or any
committee thereof or from any other U.S. or foreign government or drug or medical device regulatory agency, or health care facility
Institutional Review Board (collectively, the “Regulatory Agencies™); neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received any
notice of, or correspondence from, any Regulatory Agency requiring the termination, suspension or modification of any clinical trials
that are described or referred to in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus; and the Company and its subsidiaries have each
operated and currently are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable rules, regulations and policies of the Regulatory
Agencies.

(o0) Sanctions. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, directors, officers, or employees, nor, to the
knowledge of the Company, after due inquiry, any agent, affiliate or other person acting on behalf of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is currently the subject or the target of any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”) or the U.S. Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, Her
Majesty’s Treasury of the United Kingdom, or other relevant sanctions authority (collectively, “Sanctions”); nor is the Company or any
of its subsidiaries located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject or the target of Sanctions, including, without
limitation, Crimea, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, and Syria; and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of this
offering, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any subsidiary, or any joint venture partner or other person or
entity, for the purpose of financing the activities of or business with any person, or in any country or territory, that at the time of such
financing, is the subject or the target of Sanctions or in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person (including any
person participating in the transaction whether as underwriter, advisor, investor or otherwise) of applicable Sanctions. For the past five
years, the Company and its subsidiaries have not knowingly engaged in and are not now knowingly engaged in any dealings or
transactions with any person
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that at the time of the dealing or transaction is or was the subject or the target of Sanctions or with any Sanctioned Country.

(pp) Sarbanes-Oxley. The Company is in compliance, in all material respects, with all applicable provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(q@) Duties, Transfer Taxes, Etc. No stamp or other issuance or transfer taxes or duties and no capital gains, income,
withholding or other taxes are payable by the Agent in the United States or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or
therein in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by the Company or the sale and delivery by the
Company of the Shares.

(1r) Cybersecurity. The Company and its subsidiaries’ information technology assets and equipment, computers,
systems, networks, hardware, software, websites, applications, and databases (collectively, “IT Systems”) are adequate for, and operate
and perform in all material respects as required in connection with the operation of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries as
currently conducted, free and clear of all material bugs, errors, defects, Trojan horses, time bombs, malware and other corruptants. The
Company and its subsidiaries have implemented and maintained commercially reasonable physical, technical and administrative
controls, policies, procedures, and safeguards to maintain and protect their material confidential information and the integrity,
continuous operation, redundancy and security of all IT Systems and data, including “Personal Data,” used in connection with their
businesses. “Personal Data” means (i) a natural person’s name, street address, telephone number, e-mail address, photograph, social
security number or tax identification number, driver’s license number, passport number, credit card number, bank information, or
customer or account number; (ii) any information which would qualify as “personally identifying information” under the Federal Trade
Commission Act, as amended; (iii) “personal data” as defined by GDPR; (iv) any information which would qualify as “protected health
information” under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology for
Economic and Clinical Health Act (collectively, “HIPAA”); and (v) any other piece of information that allows the identification of such
natural person, or his or her family, or permits the collection or analysis of any data related to an identified person’s health or sexual
orientation. There have been no breaches, violations, outages or unauthorized uses of or accesses to same, except for those that have
been remedied without material cost or liability or the duty to notify any other person, nor any incidents under internal review or
investigations relating to the same. The Company and its subsidiaries are presently in material compliance with all applicable laws or
statutes and all judgments, orders, rules and regulations of any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, internal
policies and contractual obligations relating to the privacy and security of IT Systems and Personal Data and to the protection of such
IT Systems and Personal Data from unauthorized use, access, misappropriation or modification.

(ss) Compliance with Data Privacy Laws. The Company and its subsidiaries are, and at all prior times were, in
material compliance with all applicable state and federal data privacy and security laws and regulations, including without limitation
HIPAA, and the Company and its subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable actions to prepare to comply with, and since May
25, 2018, have been and currently are in compliance with, the European Union General Data
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Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) (EU 2016/679) (collectively, the “Privacy Laws”). To ensure compliance with the Privacy Laws, the
Company and its subsidiaries have in place, comply with, and take appropriate steps reasonably designed to ensure compliance in all
material respects with their policies and procedures relating to data privacy and security and the collection, storage, use, disclosure,
handling, and analysis of Personal Data (the “Policies”). The Company and its subsidiaries have at all times made all disclosures to
users or customers required by applicable laws and regulatory rules or requirements, and none of such disclosures made or contained in
any Policy have, to the knowledge of the Company, been inaccurate or in violation of any applicable laws and regulatory rules or
requirements in any material respect. The Company further certifies that neither it nor any subsidiary: (i) has received notice of any
actual or potential liability under or relating to, or actual or potential violation of, any of the Privacy Laws, and has no knowledge of
any event or condition that would reasonably be expected to result in any such notice; (ii) is currently conducting or paying for, in
whole or in part, any investigation, remediation, or other corrective action pursuant to any Privacy Law; or (iii) is a party to any order,
decree, or agreement that imposes any obligation or liability under any Privacy Law.

() Other Underwriting Agreements. The Company is not a party to any agreement with an agent or underwriter for
any other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction.

(uu) Compliance with Health Care L.aws. The Company and its subsidiaries are, and at all times have been, in
compliance with all Health Care Laws. For purposes of this Agreement, “Health Care Laws” means: (i) the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. Section 301 et seq.), the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. Section 201 et seq.), and the regulations
promulgated thereunder; (ii) all applicable federal, state, local and foreign health care fraud and abuse laws, including, without
limitation, the Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7b(b)), the Civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. Section 3729 et seq.), the
criminal false statements law (42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7b(a)), 18 U.S.C. Sections 286 and 287, the health care fraud criminal
provisions under the U.S. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) (42 U.S.C. Section 1320d et seq.),
the Stark Law (42 U.S.C. Section 1395nn), the civil monetary penalties law (42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7a), the exclusion law (42 U.S.C.
Section 1320a-7), the Physician Payments Sunshine Act (42 U.S.C. Section 1320-7h), and applicable laws governing government
funded or sponsored healthcare programs; (iii) HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical
Health Act (42 U.S.C. Section 17921 et seq.); (iv) the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health
Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010; (v) licensure, quality, safety and accreditation requirements under applicable federal,
state, local or foreign laws or regulatory bodies; and (vi) all other local, state, federal, national, supranational and foreign laws, relating
to the regulation of the Company or its subsidiaries, and (vii) the directives and regulations promulgated pursuant to such statutes and
any state or non-U.S. counterpart thereof. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received written notice of any claim,
action, suit, proceeding, hearing, enforcement, investigation, arbitration or other action from any court or arbitrator or governmental or
regulatory authority or third party alleging that any product operation or activity is in violation of any Health Care Laws nor, to the
Company’s knowledge, is any such claim, action, suit, proceeding, hearing, enforcement, investigation, arbitration or other action
threatened. The Company and its subsidiaries have filed, maintained or submitted all material reports, documents, forms, notices,
applications, records, claims, submissions and supplements or amendments as required by any Health Care Laws, and all such reports,
documents, forms, notices, applications,
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records, claims, submissions and supplements or amendments were complete and accurate on the date filed in all material respects (or
were corrected or supplemented by a subsequent submission). Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to any
corporate integrity agreements, monitoring agreements, consent decrees, settlement orders, or similar agreements with or imposed by
any governmental or regulatory authority. Additionally, neither the Company, any of its subsidiaries nor any of their respective
employees, officers, directors, or agents has been excluded, suspended or debarred from participation in any U.S. federal health care
program or human clinical research or, to the knowledge of the Company, is subject to a governmental inquiry, investigation,
proceeding, or other similar action that could reasonably be expected to result in debarment, suspension, or exclusion.

Any certificate signed by any officer or representative of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and delivered to the Agent or
counsel for the Agent in connection with an issuance of Shares shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the
Agent as to the matters covered thereby on the date of such certificate.

The Company acknowledges that the Agent and, for purposes of the opinions to be delivered pursuant to Section 4(0) hereof,
counsel to the Company and counsel to the Agent, will rely upon the accuracy and truthfulness of the foregoing representations and
hereby consents to such reliance.

Section 3. ISSUANCE AND SALE OF COMMON SHARES

(a) Sale of Securities. On the basis of the representations, warranties and agreements herein contained, but subject to
the terms and conditions herein set forth, the Company and the Agent agree that the Company may from time to time seek to sell Shares
through the Agent, acting as sales agent, or directly to the Agent, acting as principal, as follows, with an aggregate Sales Price of up to
the Maximum Program Amount, based on and in accordance with Issuance Notices as the Company may deliver, during the Agency
Period.

(b) Mechanics of Issuances.

(i) Issuance Notice. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, on any Trading Day during the Agency
Period on which the conditions set forth in Section 5(a) and Section 5(b) shall have been satisfied, the Company may exercise its right to
request an issuance of Shares by delivering to the Agent an Issuance Notice; provided, however, that (A) in no event may the Company
deliver an Issuance Notice to the extent that (I) the sum of (x) the aggregate Sales Price of the requested Issuance Amount, plus (y) the
aggregate Sales Price of all Shares issued under all previous Issuance Notices effected pursuant to this Agreement, would exceed the
Maximum Program Amount; and (B) prior to delivery of any Issuance Notice, the period set forth for any previous Issuance Notice
shall have expired or been terminated. An Issuance Notice shall be considered delivered on the Trading Day that it is received by e-mail
to the persons set forth in Schedule A hereto and confirmed by the Company by telephone (including a voicemail message to the
persons so identified), with the understanding that, with adequate prior written notice, the Agent may modify the list of such persons
from time to time.
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(ii) Agent Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, upon the receipt of an
Issuance Notice, the Agent will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal sales and trading practices to place
the Shares with respect to which the Agent has agreed to act as sales agent, subject to, and in accordance with the information specified
in, the Issuance Notice, unless the sale of the Shares described therein has been suspended, cancelled or otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties to this Agreement may modify an Issuance Notice
at any time provided they both agree in writing to any such modification.

(iii) Method of Offer and Sale. The Shares may be offered and sold (A) in privately negotiated transactions with the
consent of the Company; (B) as block transactions; or (C) by any other method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market
offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) under the Securities Act, including sales made directly on the Principal Market or sales made into
any other existing trading market of the Common Shares. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to require either party to agree to
the method of offer and sale specified in the preceding sentence, and (except as specified in clauses (A) and (B) above) the method of
placement of any Shares by the Agent shall be at the Agent’s discretion.

@iv) Confirmation to the Company. If acting as sales agent hereunder, the Agent will provide written confirmation to
the Company no later than the opening of the Trading Day next following the Trading Day on which it has placed Shares hereunder
setting forth the number of shares sold on such Trading Day, the corresponding Sales Price and the Issuance Price payable to the
Company in respect thereof.

W) Settlement. Each issuance of Shares will be settled on the applicable Settlement Date for such issuance of Shares
and, subject to the provisions of Section 5, on or before each Settlement Date, the Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to,
electronically transfer the Shares being sold by crediting the Agent or its designee’s account at The Depository Trust Company through
its Deposit/Withdrawal At Custodian (DWAC) System, or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the
parties hereto and, upon receipt of such Shares, which in all cases shall be freely tradable, transferable, registered shares in good
deliverable form, the Agent will deliver, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, the related Issuance Price in same day funds
delivered to an account designated by the Company prior to the Settlement Date. The Company may sell Shares to the Agent as
principal at a price agreed upon at each relevant time Shares are sold pursuant to this Agreement (each, a “Time of Sale”).

(vi) Suspension or Termination of Sales. Consistent with standard market settlement practices, the Company or the
Agent may, upon notice to the other party hereto in writing or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable email), suspend any
sale of Shares, and the period set forth in an Issuance Notice shall immediately terminate; provided, however, that (A) such suspension
and termination shall not affect or impair either party’s obligations with respect to any Shares placed or sold hereunder prior to the
receipt of such notice; (B) if the Company suspends or terminates any sale of Shares after the Agent confirms such sale to the
defaults in its obligation to deliver Shares on a Settlement Date, the Company agrees that it will hold the Agent harmless against any
loss, claim, damage or expense (including, without limitation, penalties, interest and reasonable legal fees and expenses), as incurred,
arising out of or
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in connection with such default by the Company. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that, in performing its obligations under
this Agreement, the Agent may borrow Common Shares from stock lenders in the event that the Company has not delivered Shares to
settle sales as required by subsection (v) above, and may use the Shares to settle or close out such borrowings. The Company agrees
that no such notice shall be effective against the Agent unless it is made to the persons identified in writing by the Agent pursuant to
Section 3(b)(i).

(vii) No Guarantee of Placement, Etc. The Company acknowledges and agrees that (A) there can be no assurance that
the Agent will be successful in placing Shares; (B) the Agent will incur no liability or obligation to the Company or any other Person if
it does not sell Shares; and (C) the Agent shall be under no obligation to purchase Shares on a principal basis pursuant to this
Agreement, except as otherwise specifically agreed by the Agent and the Company.

(viii) Material Non-Public Information. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company and the
Agent agree that the Company shall not deliver any Issuance Notice to the Agent, and the Agent shall not be obligated to place any
Shares, during any period in which the Company is in possession of material non-public information.

(© Fees. As compensation for services rendered, the Company shall pay to the Agent, on the applicable Settlement
Date, the Selling Commission for the applicable Issuance Amount (including with respect to any suspended or terminated sale pursuant

(d) Expenses. The Company agrees to pay all costs, fees and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of
its obligations hereunder and in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including without limitation (i) all expenses
incident to the issuance and delivery of the Shares (including all printing and engraving costs); (ii) all fees and expenses of the registrar
and transfer agent of the Shares; (iii) all necessary issue, transfer and other stamp taxes in connection with the issuance and sale of the
Shares; (iv) all fees and expenses of the Company’s counsel, independent public or certified public accountants and other advisors;
(v) all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, printing, filing, shipping and distribution of the Registration
Statement (including financial statements, exhibits, schedules, consents and certificates of experts), the Prospectus, any Free Writing
Prospectus (as defined below) prepared by or on behalf of, used by, or referred to by the Company, and all amendments and
supplements thereto, and this Agreement; (vi) all filing fees, attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred by the Company or the Agent in
connection with qualifying or registering (or obtaining exemptions from the qualification or registration of) all or any part of the Shares
for offer and sale under the state securities or blue sky laws or the provincial securities laws of Canada, and, if requested by the Agent,
preparing and printing a “Blue Sky Survey” or memorandum and a “Canadian wrapper,, and any supplements thereto, advising the
Agent of such qualifications, registrations, determinations and exemptions; (vii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of the Agent’s
counsel, including the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for the Agent in connection with, FINRA review, if any, and approval of
the Agent’s participation in the offering and distribution of the Shares; (viii) the filing fees incident to FINRA review, if any; (ix) the
costs and expenses of the Company relating to investor presentations on any “road show” undertaken in connection with the marketing
of the offering of the Shares, including, without limitation, expenses associated with the preparation or dissemination of any electronic
road show, expenses associated
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with the production of road show slides and graphics, fees and expenses of any consultants engaged in connection with the road show
presentations with the prior approval of the Company, travel and lodging expenses of the representatives, employees and officers of the
Company and of the Agent and any such consultants, and the cost of any aircraft chartered in connection with the road show; and
(x) the fees and expenses associated with listing the Shares on the Principal Market. The fees and disbursements of Agent’s counsel
pursuant to subsections (vi) and (vii) above shall not exceed (A) $50,000 in connection with the entry into this Agreement and the
transactions related hereto and (B) $15,000 in connection with each Triggering Event Date (as defined below) on which the Company is
required to provide a certificate pursuant to Section 4(o).

Section 4. ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

The Company covenants and agrees with the Agent as follows, in addition to any other covenants and agreements made
elsewhere in this Agreement:

(a) Exchange Act Compliance. During the Agency Period, the Company shall (i) file, on a timely basis, with the
Commission all reports and documents required to be filed under Section 13, 14 or 15 of the Exchange Act in the manner and within the
time periods required by the Exchange Act; and (ii) either (A) include in its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and its annual reports on
Form 10-K, a summary detailing, for the relevant reporting period, (1) the number of Shares sold through the Agent pursuant to this
Agreement and (2) the net proceeds received by the Company from such sales or (B) prepare a prospectus supplement containing, or
include in such other filing permitted by the Securities Act or Exchange Act (each an “Interim Prospectus Supplement”), such
summary information and, at least once a quarter and subject to this Section 4, file such Interim Prospectus Supplement pursuant to
Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act (and within the time periods required by Rule 424(b) and Rule 430B under the Securities Act)).

(b) Securities Act Compliance. After the date of this Agreement, the Company shall promptly advise the Agent in
writing (i) of the receipt of any comments of, or requests for additional or supplemental information from, the Commission; (ii) of the
time and date of any filing of any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement or
any amendment or supplement to the Prospectus, any Free Writing Prospectus; (iii) of the time and date that any post-effective
amendment to the Registration Statement or any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement becomes effective; and (iv) of the issuance by the
Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto, any
Rule 462(b) Registration Statement or any amendment or supplement to the Prospectus or of any order preventing or suspending the
use of any Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus, or of any proceedings to remove, suspend or terminate from listing or quotation
the Common Shares from any securities exchange upon which they are listed for trading or included or designated for quotation, or of
the threatening or initiation of any proceedings for any of such purposes. If the Commission shall enter any such stop order at any time,
the Company will use its best efforts to obtain the lifting of such order as soon as reasonably practicable. Additionally, the Company
agrees that it shall comply with the provisions of Rule 424(b) and Rule 433, as applicable, under the Securities Act and will use its
reasonable efforts to confirm that any filings made by the Company under such Rule 424(b) or Rule 433 were received in a timely
manner by the Commission.
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(© Amendments and Supplements to the Prospectus and Other Securities Act Matters. If any event shall occur or
condition exist as a result of which it is necessary to amend or supplement the Prospectus so that the Prospectus does not include an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances when the Prospectus is delivered to a purchaser, not misleading, or if in the opinion of the Agent or counsel for the Agent
it is otherwise necessary to amend or supplement the Prospectus to comply with applicable law, including the Securities Act, the
Company agrees (subject to Section 4(d) and 4(f)) to promptly prepare, file with the Commission and furnish at its own expense to the
Agent, amendments or supplements to the Prospectus so that the statements in the Prospectus as so amended or supplemented will not
include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the
light of the circumstances when the Prospectus is delivered to a purchaser, be misleading or so that the Prospectus, as amended or
supplemented, will comply with applicable law including the Securities Act. Neither the Agent’s consent to, or delivery of, any such
amendment or supplement shall constitute a waiver of any of the Company’s obligations under Sections 4(d) and 4(f).

(d) Agent’s Review of Proposed Amendments and Supplements. Prior to amending or supplementing the Registration
Statement (including any registration statement filed under Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act) or the Prospectus (excluding any
amendment or supplement through incorporation of any report filed under the Exchange Act), the Company shall furnish to the Agent
for review, a reasonable amount of time prior to the proposed time of filing or use thereof, a copy of each such proposed amendment or
supplement, and the Company shall not file or use any such proposed amendment or supplement without the Agent’s prior consent
(which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), and to file with the Commission within the applicable period

specified in Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act any prospectus required to be filed pursuant to such Rule.

(e) Use of Free Writing Prospectus. Neither the Company nor the Agent has prepared, used, referred to or distributed,
or will prepare, use, refer to or distribute, without the other party’s prior written consent, any “written communication” that constitutes a
“free writing prospectus” as such terms are defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act with respect to the offering contemplated by
this Agreement (any such free writing prospectus being referred to herein as a “Free Writing Prospectus”).

® Free Writing Prospectuses. The Company shall furnish to the Agent for review, a reasonable amount of time prior
to the proposed time of filing or use thereof, a copy of each proposed free writing prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto
to be prepared by or on behalf of, used by, or referred to by the Company and the Company shall not file, use or refer to any proposed
free writing prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto without the Agent’s consent (which shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed). The Company shall furnish to the Agent, without charge, as many copies of any free writing
prospectus prepared by or on behalf of, or used by the Company, as the Agent may reasonably request. If at any time when a
prospectus is required by the Securities Act (including, without limitation, pursuant to Rule 173(d)) to be delivered in connection with
sales of the Shares (but in any event if at any time through and including the date of this Agreement) there occurred or occurs an event
or development as a result of which any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of, used by, or referred to by the Company
conflicted or would conflict with the information contained in the
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Registration Statement or included or would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or would omit to state a material
fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances prevailing at that subsequent time, not
misleading, the Company shall promptly amend or supplement such free writing prospectus to eliminate or correct such conflict or so
that the statements in such free writing prospectus as so amended or supplemented will not include an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances prevailing at such
subsequent time, not misleading, as the case may be; provided, however, that prior to amending or supplementing any such free writing
prospectus, the Company shall furnish to the Agent for review, a reasonable amount of time prior to the proposed time of filing or use
thereof, a copy of such proposed amended or supplemented free writing prospectus and the Company shall not file, use or refer to any
such amended or supplemented free writing prospectus without the Agent’s consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed).

() Filing of Agent Free Writing Prospectuses. The Company shall not take any action that would result in the Agent
or the Company being required to file with the Commission pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act a free writing prospectus
prepared by or on behalf of the Agent that the Agent otherwise would not have been required to file thereunder.

(h) Copies of Registration Statement and Prospectus. After the date of this Agreement through the last time that a
prospectus is required by the Securities Act (including, without limitation, pursuant to Rule 173(d)) to be delivered in connection with
sales of the Shares, the Company agrees to furnish the Agent with copies (which may be electronic copies) of the Registration
Statement and each amendment thereto, and with copies of the Prospectus and each amendment or supplement thereto in the form in
which it is filed with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act or Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, both in such quantities as
the Agent may reasonably request from time to time; and, if the delivery of a prospectus is required under the Securities Act or under
the blue sky or securities laws of any jurisdiction at any time on or prior to the applicable Settlement Date for any period set forth in an
Issuance Notice in connection with the offering or sale of the Shares and if at such time any event has occurred as a result of which the
Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made when such Prospectus
is delivered, not misleading, or, if for any other reason it is necessary during such same period to amend or supplement the Prospectus
or to file under the Exchange Act any document incorporated by reference in the Prospectus in order to comply with the Securities Act
or the Exchange Act, to notify the Agent and to request that the Agent suspend offers to sell Shares (and, if so notified, the Agent shall
cease such offers as soon as practicable); and if the Company decides to amend or supplement the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus as then amended or supplemented, to advise the Agent promptly by telephone (with confirmation in writing) and to prepare
and cause to be filed promptly with the Commission an amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus as
then amended or supplemented that will correct such statement or omission or effect such compliance; provided, however, that if during
such same period the Agent is required to deliver a prospectus in respect of transactions in the Shares, the Company shall promptly
prepare and file with the Commission such an amendment or supplement.
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@) Blue Sky Compliance. The Company shall cooperate with the Agent and counsel for the Agent to qualify or
register the Shares for sale under (or obtain exemptions from the application of) the state securities or blue sky laws or Canadian
provincial securities laws of those jurisdictions designated by the Agent, shall comply with such laws and shall continue such
qualifications, registrations and exemptions in effect so long as required for the distribution of the Shares. The Company shall not be
required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to take any action that would subject it to general service of process in any such
jurisdiction where it is not presently qualified or where it would be subject to taxation as a foreign corporation. The Company will
advise the Agent promptly of the suspension of the qualification or registration of (or any such exemption relating to) the Shares for
offering, sale or trading in any jurisdiction or any initiation or threat of any proceeding for any such purpose, and in the event of the
issuance of any order suspending such qualification, registration or exemption, the Company shall use its best efforts to obtain the
withdrawal thereof as soon as reasonably practicable.

)] Earnings Statement. As soon as practicable, the Company will make generally available to its security holders and
to the Agent an earnings statement (which need not be audited) covering a period of at least twelve months beginning with the first
fiscal quarter of the Company occurring after the date of this Agreement which shall satisfy the provisions of Section 11(a) of the
Securities Act and Rule 158 under the Securities Act.

k) Listing; Reservation of Shares. (a) The Company will maintain the listing of the Shares on the Principal Market;
and (b) the Company will reserve and keep available at all times, free of preemptive rights, Shares for the purpose of enabling the
Company to satisfy its obligations under this Agreement.

Q)] Transfer Agent. The Company shall engage and maintain, at its expense, a registrar and transfer agent for the
Shares.

(m) Due Diligence. During the term of this Agreement, the Company will reasonably cooperate with any reasonable
due diligence review conducted by the Agent in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation,
providing information and making available documents and senior corporate officers, during normal business hours and at the
Company’s principal offices, as the Agent may reasonably request from time to time.

(n) Representations and Warranties. The Company acknowledges that each delivery of an Issuance Notice and each
delivery of Shares on a Settlement Date shall be deemed to be (i) an affirmation to the Agent that the representations and warranties of
the Company contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement are true and correct as of the date of such Issuance Notice or of such
Settlement Date, as the case may be, as though made at and as of each such date, except as may be disclosed in the Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated by reference therein and any supplements thereto); and (ii) an undertaking that the Company
will advise the Agent if any of such representations and warranties will not be true and correct as of the Settlement Date for the Shares
relating to such Issuance Notice, as though made at and as of each such date (except that such representations and warranties shall be
deemed to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended and supplemented relating to such Shares).
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(o) Deliverables at Triggering Event Dates;_Certificates. The Company agrees that on or prior to the date of the first
Issuance Notice and, during the term of this Agreement after the date of the first Issuance Notice, upon:

(A)the filing of the Prospectus or the amendment or supplement of any Registration Statement or Prospectus (other
than a prospectus supplement relating solely to an offering of securities other than the Shares or a prospectus filed pursuant to Section
4(a)(ii)(B)), by means of a post-effective amendment, sticker or supplement, but not by means of incorporation of documents by
reference into the Registration Statement or Prospectus;

(B)the filing with the Commission of an annual report on Form 10-K or a quarterly report on Form 10-Q (including
any Form 10-K/A or Form 10-Q/A containing amended financial information or a material amendment to the previously filed annual
report on Form 10-K or quarterly report on Form 10-Q), in each case, of the Company; or

(C)the filing with the Commission of a current report on Form 8-K of the Company containing amended financial
information (other than information “furnished” pursuant to Item 2.02 or 7.01 of Form 8-K or to provide disclosure pursuant to Item
8.01 of Form 8-K relating to reclassification of certain properties as discontinued operations in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 144) that is material to the offering of securities of the Company in the Agent’s reasonable discretion;

(any such event, a “Triggering Event Date”), the Company shall furnish the Agent (but in the case of clause (C) above only if the
Agent reasonably determines that the information contained in such current report on Form 8-K of the Company is material) with a
certificate as of the Triggering Event Date, in the form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel, substantially similar to
the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel, modified, as necessary, to relate to the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus as amended or supplemented, (A) confirming that the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this
Agreement are true and correct on the date of such certificate as if made on such date, (B) confirming that the Company has performed
all of its obligations hereunder to be performed on or prior to the date of such certificate and as to the matters set forth in Section 5(a)
(iii) hereof, and (C) containing any other certification that the Agent shall reasonably request. The requirement to provide a certificate
under this Section 4(o) shall be waived for any Triggering Event Date occurring at a time when no Issuance Notice is pending or a
suspension is in effect, which waiver shall continue until the earlier to occur of the date the Company delivers instructions for the sale
of Shares hereunder (which for such calendar quarter shall be considered a Triggering Event Date) and the next occurring Triggering
Event Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company subsequently decides to sell Shares following a Triggering Event Date
when a suspension was in effect and did not provide the Agent with a certificate under this Section 4(o), then before the Company
delivers the instructions for the sale of Shares or the Agent sells any Shares pursuant to such instructions, the Company shall provide
the Agent with a certificate in conformity with this Section 4(0) dated as of the date that the instructions for the sale of Shares are
issued.

(p) Legal Opinions. On or prior to the date of the first Issuance Notice and on or prior to each Triggering Event Date
with respect to which the Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 4(o) for which no waiver is applicable and
excluding the date of this
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Agreement, a negative assurances letter and the written legal opinions of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, counsel to the Company,
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr, LLP, counsel to the Agent, and Honigman LLP, intellectual property counsel to the Company,
with respect to certain intellectual property matters, each dated the date of delivery, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Agent and its counsel, substantially similar to the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel, modified, as necessary, to
relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented. In lieu of such opinions for subsequent
periodic filings, in the discretion of the Agent, the Company may furnish a reliance letter from such counsel to the Agent, permitting
the Agent to rely on a previously delivered opinion letter, modified as appropriate for any passage of time or Triggering Event Date
(except that statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or
supplemented as of such Triggering Event Date).

(@ Comfort Letter. On or prior to the date of the first Issuance Notice and on or prior to each Triggering Event Date
with respect to which the Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 4(o) for which no waiver is applicable and
excluding the date of this Agreement, the Company shall cause KMJ Corbin & Company LLP, the independent registered public
accounting firm who has audited the financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, including
any required pro forma financial statements, to furnish the Agent a comfort letter, dated the date of delivery, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel, substantially similar to the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel;
provided, however, that any such comfort letter will only be required on the Triggering Event Date specified to the extent that it
contains financial statements filed with the Commission under the Exchange Act and incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by
reference into a Prospectus. If requested by the Agent, the Company shall also cause a comfort letter to be furnished to the Agent
within ten (10) Trading Days of the date of occurrence of any material transaction or event requiring the filing of a current report on
Form 8-K containing material amended financial information of the Company, including the restatement of the Company’s financial
statements. The Company shall be required to furnish no more than one comfort letter hereunder per calendar quarter.

(r) Secretary’s Certificate. On or prior to the date of the first [ssuance Notice and on or prior to each Triggering Event Date,
the Company shall furnish the Agent a certificate executed by the Secretary of the Company, signing in such capacity, dated the date of
delivery (i) certifying that attached thereto are true and complete copies of the resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the
Company authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby
(including, without limitation, the issuance of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement), which authorization shall be in full force and
effect on and as of the date of such certificate, (ii) certifying and attesting to the office, incumbency, due authority and specimen
signatures of each Person who executed this Agreement for or on behalf of the Company, and (iii) containing any other certification that
the Agent shall reasonably request.

(s) Agent’s Own Account;_Clients’ Account. The Company consents to the Agent trading, in compliance with
applicable law, in the Common Shares for the Agent’s own account and for the account of its clients at the same time as sales of the
Shares occur pursuant to this Agreement.
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(3] Investment Limitation. The Company shall not invest, or otherwise use the proceeds received by the Company
from its sale of the Shares in such a manner as would require the Company or any of its subsidiaries to register as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act.

() Market Activities. The Company will not take, directly or indirectly, any action designed to or that might be
reasonably expected to cause or result in stabilization or manipulation of the price of the Shares or any other reference security, whether
to facilitate the sale or resale of the Shares or otherwise, and the Company will, and shall cause each of its affiliates to, comply with all
applicable provisions of Regulation M. If the limitations of Rule 102 of Regulation M (“Rule 102”) do not apply with respect to the
Shares or any other reference security pursuant to any exception set forth in Section (d) of Rule 102, then promptly upon notice from
the Agent (or, if later, at the time stated in the notice), the Company will, and shall cause each of its affiliates to, comply with Rule 102
as though such exception were not available but the other provisions of Rule 102 (as interpreted by the Commission) did apply. The
Company shall promptly notify the Agent if it no longer meets the requirements set forth in Section (d) of Rule 102.

W) Notice of Other Sale. Without the written consent of the Agent, the Company will not, directly or indirectly, offer
to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or otherwise dispose of any Common Shares or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for Common Shares (other than Shares hereunder), warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire Common Shares, during
the period beginning on the third Trading Day immediately prior to the date on which any Issuance Notice is delivered to the Agent
hereunder and ending on the third Trading Day immediately following the Settlement Date with respect to Shares sold pursuant to such
Issuance Notice; and will not directly or indirectly enter into any other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction offer to sell,
sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or otherwise dispose of any Common Shares (other than the Shares offered pursuant to this
Agreement) or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Common Shares, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire, Common
Shares prior to the termination of this Agreement; provided, however, that such restrictions will not be required in connection with the
Company’s (i) issuance or sale of Common Shares, options to purchase Common Shares or Common Shares issuable upon the exercise
of options or other equity awards pursuant to any employee or director share option, incentive or benefit plan, share purchase or
ownership plan, long-term incentive plan, dividend reinvestment plan, inducement award under Nasdaq rules or other compensation
plan of the Company or its subsidiaries, as in effect on the date of this Agreement, (ii) issuance or sale of Common Shares issuable
upon exchange, conversion or redemption of securities or the exercise or vesting of warrants, options or other equity awards
outstanding at the date of this Agreement, (iii) modification of any outstanding options, warrants of any rights to purchase or acquire
Common Shares, and (iv) issuance or sale of Common Shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Common Shares as
consideration for mergers, acquisitions or other business combinations, joint ventures or strategic alliances occurring after the date of
this Agreement and which are not used for capital-raising purposes, provided that the aggregate number of Common Shares issued or
sold under this subsection (iv) shall not exceed 5% of the number of Common Shares outstanding immediately prior to giving effect to
such sale of issuance.
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Section 5.

(a)

CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF ISSUANCE NOTICES AND TO SETTLEMENT

Conditions Precedent to the Right of the Company to Deliver an Issuance Notice and the Obligation of the Agent

to Sell Shares. The right of the Company to deliver an Issuance Notice hereunder is subject to the satisfaction, on the date of delivery
of such Issuance Notice, and the obligation of the Agent to use its commercially reasonable efforts to place Shares during the applicable
period set forth in the Issuance Notice is subject to the satisfaction, on each Trading Day during the applicable period set forth in the
Issuance Notice, of each of the following conditions:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

have delivered the certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Section 4(o) on or before the date on which
delivery of such certificate is required pursuant to Section 4(0). The Company shall have performed, satisfied and
complied with all covenants, agreements and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed, satisfied or
complied with by the Company at or prior to such date, including, but not limited to, the covenants contained in
Section 4(m), Section 4(q) and Section 4(r).

No Injunction. No statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, ruling or injunction shall have been enacted,
entered, promulgated or endorsed by any court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction or any self-
regulatory organization having authority over the matters contemplated hereby that prohibits or directly and
materially adversely affects any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no proceeding shall have
been commenced that may have the effect of prohibiting or materially adversely affecting any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

Material Adverse Changes. Except as disclosed in the Prospectus and the Time of Sale Information, (a) in the
judgment of the Agent there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Change; and (b) there shall not have
occurred any downgrading, nor shall any notice have been received by the Company of any intended or potential
downgrading or of any review for a possible change that does not indicate the direction of the possible change, in
the rating accorded any securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries by any “nationally recognized
statistical rating organization” as such term is defined for purposes of Section 3(a)(62) of the Exchange Act.

No Suspension of Trading in or Delisting of Common Shares; Other Events. The trading of the Common Shares
(including without limitation the Shares) shall not have been suspended by the Commission, the Principal Market
or FINRA and the Common Shares (including without limitation the Shares) shall have been approved for listing
or quotation on and shall not have been delisted from the Nasdaq Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange or
any of their constituent markets. There shall not have occurred (and be continuing in the case of occurrences
under clauses (i) and (ii) below) any of the following: (i) trading or quotation in any of
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the Company’s securities shall have been suspended or limited by the Commission or by the Principal Market or
trading in securities generally on the Principal Market shall have been suspended or limited, or minimum or
maximum prices shall have been generally established on any of such stock exchanges by the Commission or the
FINRA; (ii) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by any of federal or New York, authorities; or
(iii) there shall have occurred any outbreak or escalation of national or international hostilities or any crisis or
calamity, or any change in the United States or international financial markets, or any substantial change or
development involving a prospective substantial change in United States’ or international political, financial or
economic conditions, as in the judgment of the Agent is material and adverse and makes it impracticable to market
the Shares in the manner and on the terms described in the Prospectus or to enforce contracts for the sale of
securities.

(b) Documents Required to be Delivered on each Issuance Notice Date. The Agent’s obligation to use its
commercially reasonable efforts to place Shares hereunder shall additionally be conditioned upon the delivery to the Agent on or before
the Issuance Notice Date of a certificate in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, executed by the Chief Executive
Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to the effect that all conditions to the delivery of such Issuance Notice
shall have been satisfied as at the date of such certificate (which certificate shall not be required if the foregoing representations shall be
set forth in the Issuance Notice).

(o) No Misstatement or Material Omission. The Agent shall not have advised the Company that the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus or the Time of Sale Information, or any amendment or supplement thereto, contains an untrue statement of
fact that in the Agent’s reasonable opinion is material, or omits to state a fact that in the Agent’s reasonable opinion is material and is
required to be stated therein or is necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.

Section 6. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONTRIBUTION

(a) Indemnification of the Agent. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Agent, its officers and
employees, and each person, if any, who controls the Agent within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act against any
loss, claim, damage, liability or expense, as incurred, to which the Agent or such officer, employee or controlling person may become
subject, under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, other federal or state statutory law or regulation, or the laws or regulations of
foreign jurisdictions where Shares have been offered or sold or at common law or otherwise (including in settlement of any litigation),
insofar as such loss, claim, damage, liability or expense (or actions in respect thereof as contemplated below) arises out of or is based
upon (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement, or any amendment
thereto, including any information deemed to be a part thereof pursuant to Rule 430B under the Securities Act, or the omission or
alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading;
or (ii) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Free Writing Prospectus that the Company
has used, referred to or filed, or is required to file, pursuant to Rule 433(d) of the Securities Act or the Prospectus (or any
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amendment or supplement thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and to reimburse the Agent and each
such officer, employee and controlling person for any and all documented expenses (including the reasonable fees and disbursements of
counsel chosen by the Agent) as such expenses are reasonably incurred by the Agent or such officer, employee or controlling person in
connection with investigating, defending, settling, compromising or paying any such loss, claim, damage, liability, expense or action;
provided, however, that the foregoing indemnity agreement shall not apply to any loss, claim, damage, liability or expense to the extent,
but only to the extent, arising out of or based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission
made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Agent expressly for use in the
Registration Statement, any such Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), it being
understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by the Agent to the Company consists of the information set forth in the
first sentence of the ninth paragraph under the caption “Plan of Distribution” in the Prospectus beginning with the words: “Jefferies and
its affiliates may in the future provide various investment banking, commercial banking, financial advisory and other financial services .
...” (the “Agent Information”). The indemnity agreement set forth in this Section 6(a) shall be in addition to any liabilities that the
Company may otherwise have.

(b) Indemnification of the Company and Company Officers and Directors. The Agent agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the Company, each of its directors, each of its officers who signed the Registration Statement and each person, if any, who
controls the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act against any loss, claim, damage, liability or
expense, as incurred, to which the Company or any such director, officer or controlling person may become subject, under the
Securities Act, the Exchange Act, other federal or state statutory law or regulation, or the laws or regulations of foreign jurisdictions
where Shares have been offered or sold or at common law or otherwise (including in settlement of any litigation), insofar as such loss,
claim, damage, liability or expense (or actions in respect thereof as contemplated below) arises out of or is based upon (i) any untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement, or any amendment thereto, including
any information deemed to be a part thereof pursuant to Rule 430B under the Securities Act, or the omission or alleged omission
therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; or (ii) any untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Free Writing Prospectus that the Company has used, referred to
or filed, or is required to file, pursuant to Rule 433(d) of the Securities Act or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement
thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; but, for each of (i) and (ii) above, only to the extent arising out of or
based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in reliance upon and in conformity
with written information furnished to the Company by the Agent expressly for use in the Registration Statement, any such Free Writing
Prospectus or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), it being understood and agreed that the only such information
furnished by the Agent to the Company consists of the Agent Information, and to reimburse the Company and each such director,
officer and controlling person for any and all documented expenses (including the reasonable and documented fees and disbursements
of counsel chosen by the Company) as such expenses are reasonably incurred by
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the Company or such officer, director or controlling person in connection with investigating, defending, settling, compromising or
paying any such loss, claim, damage, liability, expense or action. The indemnity agreement set forth in this Section 6(b) shall be in
addition to any liabilities that the Agent or the Company may otherwise have.

(o) Notifications and Other Indemnification Procedures. Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this
Section 6 of notice of the commencement of any action, such indemnified party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against
an indemnifying party under this Section 6, notify the indemnifying party in writing of the commencement thereof, but the omission to
so notify the indemnifying party will not relieve it from any liability which it may have to any indemnified party for contribution or
otherwise than under the indemnity agreement contained in this Section 6 or to the extent it is not prejudiced as a proximate result of
such failure. In case any such action is brought against any indemnified party and such indemnified party seeks or intends to seek
indemnity from an indemnifying party, the indemnifying party will be entitled to participate in, and, to the extent that it shall elect,
jointly with all other indemnifying parties similarly notified, by written notice delivered to the indemnified party promptly after
receiving the aforesaid notice from such indemnified party, to assume the defense thereof with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such
indemnified party; provided, however, if the defendants in any such action include both the indemnified party and the indemnifying
party and the indemnified party shall have reasonably concluded that a conflict may arise between the positions of the indemnifying
party and the indemnified party in conducting the defense of any such action or that there may be legal defenses available to it and/or
other indemnified parties which are different from or additional to those available to the indemnifying party, the indemnified party or
parties shall have the right to select separate counsel to assume such legal defenses and to otherwise participate in the defense of such
action on behalf of such indemnified party or parties. Upon receipt of notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of
such indemnifying party’s election to so assume the defense of such action and approval by the indemnified party of counsel, the
indemnifying party will not be liable to such indemnified party under this Section 6 for any legal or other expenses subsequently
incurred by such indemnified party in connection with the defense thereof unless (i) the indemnified party shall have employed separate
counsel in accordance with the proviso to the preceding sentence (it being understood, however, that the indemnifying party shall not be
liable for the fees and expenses of more than one separate counsel (together with local counsel), representing the indemnified parties
who are parties to such action), which counsel (together with any local counsel) for the indemnified parties shall be selected by the
indemnified party (in the case of counsel for the indemnified parties referred to in Section 6(a) or Section 6(b) above), (ii) the
indemnifying party shall not have employed counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party to represent the indemnified party
within a reasonable time after notice of commencement of the action or (iii) the indemnifying party has authorized in writing the
employment of counsel for the indemnified party at the expense of the indemnifying party, in each of which cases the fees and expenses
of counsel shall be at the expense of the indemnifying party and shall be paid as they are incurred.

(d) Settlements. The indemnifying party under this Section 6 shall not be liable for any settlement of any proceeding
effected without its written consent, but if settled with such consent or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff, the indemnifying
party agrees to indemnify the indemnified party against any loss, claim, damage, liability or expense by reason of such settlement or
judgment. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, if at any time an indemnified party shall
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have requested an indemnifying party to reimburse the indemnified party for fees and expenses of counsel as contemplated by Section
6(b) hereof, the indemnifying party agrees that it shall be liable for any settlement of any proceeding effected without its written
consent if (i) such settlement is entered into more than 60 days after receipt by such indemnifying party of the aforesaid request; and
(ii) such indemnifying party shall not have reimbursed the indemnified party in accordance with such request prior to the date of such
settlement. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified party, effect any settlement, compromise
or consent to the entry of judgment in any pending or threatened action, suit or proceeding in respect of which any indemnified party is
or could have been a party and indemnity was or could have been sought hereunder by such indemnified party, unless such settlement,
compromise or consent includes an unconditional release of such indemnified party from all liability on claims that are the subject
matter of such action, suit or proceeding.

(e) Contribution. If the indemnification provided for in this Section 6 is for any reason held to be unavailable to or
otherwise insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of any losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses referred to
therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the aggregate amount paid or payable by such indemnified party, as incurred,
as a result of any losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses referred to therein (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the
relative benefits received by the Company, on the one hand, and the Agent, on the other hand, from the offering of the Shares pursuant
to this Agreement; or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is
appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company, on the one
hand, and the Agent, on the other hand, in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, claims, damages,
liabilities or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by the Company, on the
one hand, and the Agent, on the other hand, in connection with the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to
be in the same respective proportions as the total gross proceeds from the offering of the Shares (before deducting expenses) received
by the Company bear to the total commissions received by the Agent. The relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and the
Agent, on the other hand, shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any such untrue or alleged untrue statement
of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company, on the one
hand, or the Agent, on the other hand, and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or
prevent such statement or omission.

The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses referred to above
shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 6(b), any reasonable and documented legal or other fees or
expenses reasonably incurred by such party in connection with investigating or defending any action or claim. The provisions set forth
in Section 6(b) with respect to notice of commencement of any action shall apply if a claim for contribution is to be made under this
Section 6(e); provided, however, that no additional notice shall be required with respect to any action for which notice has been given
under Section 6(b) for purposes of indemnification.

The Company and the Agent agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 6(e) were
determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of
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allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in this Section 6(e).

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 6(e), the Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the
agent fees received by the Agent in connection with the offering contemplated hereby. No person guilty of fraudulent
misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was
not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. For purposes of this Section 6(e), each officer and employee of the Agent and each
person, if any, who controls the Agent within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act shall have the same rights to
contribution as the Agent, and each director of the Company, each officer of the Company who signed the Registration Statement, and
each person, if any, who controls the Company with the meaning of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act shall have the same rights
to contribution as the Company.

Section 7. TERMINATION & SURVIVAL

(a) Term. Subject to the provisions of this Section 7, the term of this Agreement shall continue from the date of this
Agreement until the end of the Agency Period, unless earlier terminated by the parties to this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.

(b) Termination; Survival Following Termination.

(i) Either party may terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Agency Period, by giving written notice as
required by this Agreement, upon ten (10) Trading Days’ notice to the other party; provided that, (A) if the
Company terminates this Agreement after the Agent confirms to the Company any sale of Shares, the Company
Section 7 and Section 8 shall survive termination of this Agreement. If termination shall occur prior to the
Settlement Date for any sale of Shares, such sale shall nevertheless settle in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement.

(ii) In addition to the survival provision of Section 7(b)(i), the respective indemnities, agreements, representations,
warranties and other statements of the Company, of its officers and of the Agent set forth in or made pursuant to
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the
Agent or the Company or any of its or their partners, officers or directors or any controlling person, as the case
may be, and, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, will survive delivery of and payment for the Shares

sold hereunder and any termination of this Agreement.
Section 8. MISCELLANEOUS

(a) Press Releases and Disclosure. The Company may issue a press release describing the material terms of the
transactions contemplated hereby as soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, and may file with the Commission a
Current Report on Form 8-K, with this Agreement attached as an exhibit thereto, describing the material terms of the transactions
contemplated hereby, and the Company shall consult with the Agent prior to making such
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disclosures, and the parties hereto shall use all commercially reasonable efforts, acting in good faith, to agree upon a text for such
disclosures that is reasonably satisfactory to all parties hereto. No party hereto shall issue thereafter any press release or like public
statement (including, without limitation, any disclosure required in reports filed with the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act)
related to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written approval of the other party hereto,
except as may be necessary or appropriate in the reasonable opinion of the party seeking to make disclosure to comply with the
requirements of applicable law or stock exchange rules. If any such press release or like public statement is so required, the party
making such disclosure shall consult with the other party prior to making such disclosure, and the parties shall use all commercially
reasonable efforts, acting in good faith, to agree upon a text for such disclosure that is reasonably satisfactory to all parties hereto.

(b) No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship. The Company acknowledges and agrees that (i) the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, including the determination of any fees, are arm’s-length commercial transactions between the
Company and the Agent, (ii) when acting as a principal under this Agreement, the Agent is and has been acting solely as a principal is
not the agent or fiduciary of the Company, or its stockholders, creditors, employees or any other party, (iii) the Agent has not assumed
nor will assume an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Company with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or
the process leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Agent has advised or is currently advising the Company on other matters) and
the Agent does not have any obligation to the Company with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby except the obligations
expressly set forth in this Agreement, (iv) the Agent and its respective affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that
involve interests that differ from those of the Company, and (v) the Agent has not provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax
advice with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and the Company has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and
tax advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate.

(© Research Analyst Independence. The Company acknowledges that the Agent’s research analysts and research
departments are required to and should be independent from their respective investment banking divisions and are subject to certain
regulations and internal policies, and as such the Agent’s research analysts may hold views and make statements or investment
recommendations and/or publish research reports with respect to the Company or the offering that differ from the views of their
respective investment banking divisions. The Company understands that the Agent is a full service securities firm and as such from
time to time, subject to applicable securities laws, may effect transactions for its own account or the account of its customers and hold
long or short positions in debt or equity securities of the companies that may be the subject of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

(d) Notices. All communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be mailed, hand delivered or telecopied and
confirmed to the parties hereto as follows:

If to the Agent:

Jefferies LLC

520 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10022
Facsimile:

Attention: General Counsel
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with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

WilmerHale

7 World Trade Center

250 Greenwich Street

New York, NY 10007

Attention: Lisa Firenze, Esq.

Email: lisa.firenze@wilmerhale.com

If to the Company:
Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
19900 MacArthur Blvd., Suite 550
Irvine, California 92612
Attention: Paul Little
Email: plittle@eledon.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, LLP
555 Mission Street, Suite 3000
San Francisco, CA 94105

Attention: Ryan A. Murr
Email: rmurr@gibsondunn.com

Any party hereto may change the address for receipt of communications by giving written notice to the others in accordance with this
Section 8(d).

(e) Successors. This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, and to the benefit
of the employees, officers and directors and controlling persons referred to in Section 6, and in each case their respective successors,
and no other person will have any right or obligation hereunder. The term “successors” shall not include any purchaser of the Shares as
such from the Agent merely by reason of such purchase.

® Partial Unenforceability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any Article, Section, paragraph or provision of this
Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other Article, Section, paragraph or provision hereof. If any Article,
Section, paragraph or provision of this Agreement is for any reason determined to be invalid or unenforceable, there shall be deemed to
be made such minor changes (and only such minor changes) as are necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

(g) Governing Law Provisions. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal
laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and
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to be performed in such state. Any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or based upon this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby (“Related Proceedings”) may be instituted in the federal courts of the United States of America located in the
Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York or the courts of the State of New York in each case located in the Borough of
Manhattan in the City of New York (collectively, the “Specified Courts”), and each party irrevocably submits to the exclusive
jurisdiction (except for proceedings instituted in regard to the enforcement of a judgment of any such court (a “Related Judgment”), as
to which such jurisdiction is non-exclusive) of such courts in any such suit, action or proceeding. Service of any process, summons,
notice or document by mail to such party’s address set forth above shall be effective service of process for any suit, action or other
proceeding brought in any such court. The parties irrevocably and unconditionally waive any objection to the laying of venue of any
suit, action or other proceeding in the Specified Courts and irrevocably and unconditionally waive and agree not to plead or claim in
any such court that any such suit, action or other proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

(h) General Provisions. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement and
supersedes all prior written or oral and all contemporaneous oral agreements, understandings and negotiations with respect to the
subject matter hereof. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each one of which shall be an original, with the
same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument, and may be delivered by facsimile transmission or by
electronic delivery of a portable document format (PDF) file. This Agreement may not be amended or modified unless in writing by all
of the parties hereto, and no condition herein (express or implied) may be waived unless waived in writing by each party whom the
condition is meant to benefit. The Article and Section headings herein are for the convenience of the parties only and shall not affect
the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

[Signature Page Immediately Follows]
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If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement, kindly sign and return to the Company the
enclosed copies hereof, whereupon this instrument, along with all counterparts hereof, shall become a binding agreement in accordance
with its terms

Very truly yours,

ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:
[s/

David-Alexandre C. Gros,
M.D.

Name: David-Alexandre
C. Gros, M.D.

Title: Chief Executive
Officer

The foregoing Agreement is hereby confirmed and accepted by the Agent in New York, New York as of the date first above
written.

JEFFERIES LLC

By: /s/ Michael Magarro
Name: Michael Magarro
Title: Managing Director



EXHIBIT A

ISSUANCE NOTICE
[Date]
Jefferies LLC
520 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attn: [ ]
Reference is made to the Open Market Sale Agreement between (the “Company”) and Jefferies LLC (the “Agent”) dated
as of ___, 2021. The Company confirms that all conditions to the delivery of this Issuance Notice are satisfied as of the date
hereof.

Date of Delivery of Issuance Notice (determined pursuant to Section 3(b)(i)):

Issuance Amount (equal to the total Sales Price for such Shares):
$

Number of days in selling period:

First date of selling period:

Last date of selling period:

Settlement Date(s) if other than standard T+2 settlement:

Floor Price Limitation (in no event less than $1.00 without the prior written consent of the Agent, which consent may be withheld in the
Agent’s sole discretion): $ per share

Comments:

By:
Name:
Title:



The Company

David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D., Chief Executive Officer
Paul Little, Chief Financial Officer

The Agent
Michael Magarro
Donald Lynaugh

Jack Fabbri

Schedule A

Notice Parties



Exhibit 4.5
DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following description of our capital stock is intended as a summary only and therefore is not a complete description of our capital stock. This description is
based upon, and is qualified by reference to, our certificate of incorporation, our by-laws and applicable provisions of Delaware corporate law. You should read our
certificate of incorporation and by-laws, which are filed as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, to which this exhibit is also appended.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares of common stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock.
Common Stock

Annual Meeting. Annual meetings of our stockholders are held on the date designated in accordance with our by-laws. Written notice must be mailed to each
stockholder entitled to vote not less than ten nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting. The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of record of a
majority of our issued and outstanding shares entitled to vote at such meeting constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business at meetings of the stockholders.
Special meetings of the stockholders may be called for any purpose only by the board of directors, and business transacted at any special meetings of stockholders
shall be limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of such meeting. Except as may be otherwise provided by applicable law, our
restated certificate of incorporation or our by-laws, all elections shall be decided by a plurality, and all other questions shall be decided by a majority, of the votes
cast by stockholders entitled to vote thereon at a duly held meeting of stockholders at which a quorum is present.

Voting Rights. Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters to be voted upon by stockholders.

Dividends. The holders of common stock, after any preferences of holders of any preferred stock, are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by the
board of directors out of legally available funds.

Liquidation and Dissolution. If we are liquidated or dissolved, the holders of the common stock will be entitled to share in our assets available for distribution to
stockholders in proportion to the amount of common stock they own. The amount available for common stockholders is calculated after payment of liabilities.

Holders of any preferred stock may be entitled to receive a preferential share of our assets before the holders of the common stock receive any assets.

Other Rights. Holders of the common stock have no right to:

. convert the stock into any other security;

. have the stock redeemed;

. purchase additional stock; or

. maintain their proportionate ownership interest.

The common stock does not have cumulative voting rights. Holders of shares of the common stock are not required to make additional capital contributions.
Transfer Agent and Registrar. Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company is transfer agent and registrar for the common stock.

Preferred Stock



We are authorized to issue “blank check” preferred stock, which may be issued in one or more series upon authorization of our board of directors. Our board of
directors is authorized to fix the designation of the series, the number of authorized shares of the series, dividend rights and terms, conversion rights, voting rights,
redemption rights and terms, liquidation preferences and any other rights, powers, preferences and limitations applicable to each series of preferred stock. The
authorized shares of our preferred stock are available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, unless such action is required by applicable law or
the rules of any stock exchange on which our securities may be listed. If the approval of our stockholders is not required for the issuance of shares of our preferred
stock, our board may determine not to seek stockholder approval.

A series of our preferred stock could, depending on the terms of such series, impede the completion of a merger, tender offer or other takeover attempt. Our board
of directors will make any determination to issue preferred shares based upon its judgment as to the best interests of our stockholders. Our directors, in so acting,
could issue preferred stock having terms that could discourage an acquisition attempt through which an acquirer may be able to change the composition of our
board of directors, including a tender offer or other transaction that some, or a majority, of our stockholders might believe to be in their best interests or in which
stockholders might receive a premium for their stock over the then-current market price of the stock.

Series X and Series X1 Convertible Preferred Stock

Each share of Series X Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series X Preferred Stock”) and the Series X1 Convertible Preferred Stock, par
value $0.001 per share (the “Series X1 Preferred Stock,” and together with the Series X Preferred Stock, the “Convertible Preferred Stock™), is convertible into
55.5555556 shares of Common Stock at the option of the holder at any time; subject to certain limitations, including, that the holder will be prohibited from
converting the Convertible Preferred Stock into Common Stock if, as a result of such conversion, the holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own a
number of shares of Common Stock above a conversion blocker, which is initially set at 9.99% or 9.9% of the total Common Stock then issued and outstanding
immediately following the conversion of such shares of Series X Preferred Stock or Series X1 Preferred Stock, respectively. In the event of the Company’s
liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock will participate pari passu with any distribution of proceeds to holders of
Common Stock. Holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends on shares of the Convertible Preferred Stock, on an as-if-converted-to-
Common-Stock basis (without regard to any beneficial ownership limitations), and in the same form as dividends actually paid on shares of the Common Stock.
Shares of the Convertible Preferred Stock will generally have no voting rights, except as required by law and except that the consent of a majority of the holders of
either series of outstanding Convertible Preferred Stock will be required to amend the terms of the such series.

As long as any shares of the Convertible Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Company will not, without the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
then outstanding shares of either series of the Convertible Preferred Stock, as applicable, (a) alter or change adversely the powers, preferences or rights given to
either series of the Convertible Preferred Stock, (b) alter or amend the Certificate of Designation for either series of the Convertible Preferred Stock (c) amend its
certificate of incorporation or other charter documents in any manner that adversely affects any rights of the holders of either series of the Convertible Preferred
Stock, (d) increase the number of authorized shares of either series of the Convertible Preferred Stock, or (e) enter into any agreement with respect to any of the
foregoing. The Convertible Preferred Stock does not have a preference upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company.

Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and Delaware Law That May Have Anti-Takeover Effects

Staggered Board; Removal of Directors

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws divide our board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms. In addition, a director is only able to
be removed for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all of our stockholders would be entitled to cast in an annual

election of directors. Any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of our board of directors, may only be filled by
vote of a majority of our directors then in office. The classification of our board of



directors and the limitations on the removal of directors and filling of vacancies could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party
from seeking to acquire, control of our company.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Meetings

Our certificate of incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special
meeting of such holders and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such holders. Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws also provide that, except
as otherwise required by law, special meetings of our stockholders can only be called by our board of directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals

Our by-laws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, including proposed
nominations of persons for election to our board of directors. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or nominations specified in the
notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of our board of directors or by a stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting who
is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely written notice in proper form to our secretary of the stockholder’s intention to bring such business
before the meeting. These provisions could have the effect of delaying until the next stockholder meeting stockholder actions that are favored by the holders of a
majority of our outstanding voting securities.

Delaware Business Combination Statute

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Subject to certain exceptions, Section 203 prevents a publicly-held Delaware corporation
from engaging in a “business combination” with any “interested stockholder” for three years following the date that the person became an interested stockholder,
unless the interested stockholder attained such status with the approval of our board of directors or unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed
manner. A “business combination” includes, among other things, a merger or consolidation involving us and the “interested stockholder” and the sale of more than
10% of our assets. In general, an “interested stockholder” is any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock and any entity
or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by such entity or person.

Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws

The Delaware General Corporation Law provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is required to amend
a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws, unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws, as the case may be, requires a greater
percentage. Our by-laws may be amended or repealed by a majority vote of our board of directors or by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the
votes that all of our stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors. In addition, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the
votes that all of our stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors is required to amend or repeal or to adopt any provisions inconsistent
with any of the provisions of our certificate of incorporation described above under “-Staggered Board; Removal of Directors” and “-Stockholder Action by
Written Consent; Special Meetings.”



Exhibit 10.8
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Executive Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of September 9, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by
and between Novus Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) and David-Alexandre Gros (“Executive™).

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to employ Executive on a full-time basis as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
Executive wishes to work on a full-time basis as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive wish to enter into this Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth below.
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows

1. Employment. The Company agrees to employ Executive, and Executive hereby accepts
such employment on an at-will basis, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, for a period commencing on the
Effective Date and ending on the date that this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 7 below (the “Employment Term”).

2. Position; Duties. During the Employment Term, Executive shall serve as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. In such position, Executive shall report to the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and shall have
such duties and authority as are customary to such position and as otherwise determined from time to time by the Board. During the
Employment Term, Executive agrees to devote Executive’s full time and reasonable best efforts to the performance of Executive’s
duties to the Company. The foregoing shall not be construed to prohibit Executive from engaging in activities relating to serving on
civic and charitable boards or committees, and managing personal investments.

3. Base Salary;_Sign-on Bonus; Performance Bonus.

(a) During the Employment Term, the Company shall pay Executive an initial base salary at
the annualized rate of $500,000, payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s usual payment
practices. Executive’s base salary may be increased in the sole discretion of the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board
(the “Committee”). Executive’s annual base salary, as in effect from time to time, is hereinafter referred to as the “Base Salary.”

(b) Within 30 days from the Effective Date, the Company will pay a one-time signing bonus
in the amount of $92,000.

(o) If, at any time during the Measurement Period (defined below), the market value of the
Company’s Common Stock, as quoted on the Nasdaq Stock Market or other principal exchange on which the Company’s Common
Stock is traded (the “Common Stock”), exceeds $1



billion (determined on an as-converted basis) for either 30 consecutive calendar days (the first such occurrence being the
“Capitalization Milestone”), or (ii) upon a Change of Control of the Company, then the Company shall pay to Executive the sum of
$10,000,000, which the Company shall have the right (in the Company’s sole and absolute discretion) to pay in cash, Company
Common Stock or a combination of cash and Common Stock (the “Performance Bonus”). The value of any Common Stock issued to
Executive pursuant to this Section 3(c) shall be based on the 10-day volume-weighted average price of the Common Stock ending one
trading day before the payment date. The Performance Bonus shall be paid within 30 days of the date when Capitalization Milestone is
achieved, or such later date as may be specified by Executive (but in no event later than March 15 of the following year in which the
Performance Bonus is earned). For purposes of this Section 3(c), the “Measurement Period” shall mean either: (i) the duration of the
Employment Term in the event that Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause or without Good Reason, or (ii) in the case of a
termination of Executive’s employment by the Company without Cause or by Executive for Good Reason, then either: (x) the duration
of the Employment Term, plus a period of nine months post-termination, if such termination occurs prior to December 31, 2022, or (y)
if such termination occurs on or after December 31, 2022, then the duration of the Employment Term, plus a period of six months post-
termination.

4. Incentive Compensation; Equity Awards.

(a) During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual cash bonus based on
performance objectives established by the Committee each year (the “Annual Bonus”). Executive’s target Annual Bonus amount will be
the percentage of Base Salary designated as the target by the Committee, which annual target amount shall equal 60% of the Base
Salary then in effect (the “Annual Target Bonus™). Notwithstanding the preceding, the Annual Bonus, if any, may be below (including
zero), at, or above the target based upon the achievement of the performance objectives.

(b) As of the Effective Date, Executive shall be hereby granted an option to purchase up to 18,278.140
shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock (“Preferred Stock™) at a price of $500 per share (the “Preferred Option”). The Preferred Option
shall vest and become exercisable with respect to 4,569.535 shares on the first anniversary of the Effective Date, and then with respect
to 380.795 shares monthly thereafter over the following 36 months, subject to Executive’s continued service through each applicable
vesting date. In the event that the Anelixis Acquisition is not consummated within 30 days from the Effective Date, then the Preferred
Option shall expire at such time.

(o) If, during the Employment Term, the majority of the Assumed Warrants (defined below) are exercised in
full, then at such time, Executive shall receive a proportionate grant of Common Stock that in the aggregate shall be equal to one
percent of the total number of shares of Common Stock on a fully-diluted basis (excluding all of the Assumed Warrants and any shares
issued upon the exercise of the Assumed Warrants, but including any outstanding Preferred Stock on an as-converted basis, without
regard to any beneficial ownership conversion limitations that may otherwise apply) immediately following such exercise of the
majority of such Assumed Warrants (the “Incentive Shares”). For the avoidance of doubt, the number of shares of Common Stock that
comprise the Incentive Shares shall be determined as of the date the majority of the
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Assumed Warrants are exercised, provided, that, in the event the Assumed Warrants are not fully exercised at such time, any unissued
Incentive Shares shall be issued if and when such additional portion of the Assumed Warrants are exercised. The Incentive Shares shall
be issued within 30 days following the exercise in full of the applicable Assumed Warrants, or such later date as may be directed by the
Executive, but not later than March 15 of the following year after such milestone is met; provided, however, that the Company shall
have the right (in the Company’s sole and absolute discretion) to pay the Incentive Shares in cash, Company Common Stock or a
combination of cash and Common Stock. The value of any Common Stock issued to Executive pursuant to this Section 4(c) shall be
based on the 10-day volume-weighted average price of the Common Stock ending one trading day before the payment date. For
purposes of this Section 4(c), the “Assumed Warrants” shall mean those certain Common Stock warrants representing the right to
acquire approximately 18,896,646 shares of Common Stock issued by Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), as and when assumed
by the Company upon the Company’s acquisition of Anelixis (the “Anelixis Acquisition”).

(d) The Preferred Option and Incentive Shares will be subject to stockholder approval no later than the 2021
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

5. Employee Benefits. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be entitled to
participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans as in effect from time to time (collectively “Employee Benefits”), on the same
basis as those benefits are generally made available to other senior executives of the Company, in each case to the extent that Executive
is eligible under the terms of such plans or programs.

6. Business Expenses. During the Employment Term, reasonable business expenses incurred
by Executive in the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder shall be advanced or promptly reimbursed by the Company in
accordance with Company policies.

7. Termination. The Employment Term and Executive’s employment may be terminated by
the Company at any time and for any reason upon Notice to Executive and by Executive upon at least 30 days’ advance Notice of any
such resignation of Executive’s employment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the provisions of this Section 7
shall exclusively govern Executive’s rights to payment of compensation, severance, Employee Benefits and business expenses upon
termination of employment with the Company.

(a) By the Company for Cause; By Executive without Good Reason.
1) The Employment Term and Executive’s employment may be terminated by the
Company for Cause and shall terminate automatically upon the effective date of Executive’s resignation without Good Reason.

(A) For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means any of the following events:
(i) Executive’s conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any crime involving dishonesty or moral turpitude or
any felony; or (ii) a good faith finding by the Company that Executive has (x) engaged in dishonesty, willful misconduct or
gross negligence in connection with the performance of his duties or services to the Company,
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(y) breached any confidentiality, inventions, and non-solicitation agreement between Executive and the Company, or (z)
violated Company policies or procedures in a manner that has materially injured, or is reasonably likely to materially injure,
the Company’s business or reputation. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Executive’s employment will be
deemed to have been terminated for Cause if it is determined subsequent to Executive’s termination of employment that
grounds for termination for Cause existed at the time of Executive’s termination of employment. The determination of Cause
shall be made by the Board, in its good faith discretion.

(B) For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means any of the following
are undertaken without Executive’s prior written consent: (i) a material adverse change in Executive’s duties, responsibilities,
title or reporting relationship, or (ii) a material reduction in Executive’s annualized base salary without his prior written
consent (other than aggregate reductions of up to 15% in connection with, and in an amount substantially proportionate to,
reductions made by the Company to the annualized base salaries of its other senior executives). To terminate Executive’s
employment for Good Reason, Executive must (x) provide notice to the Company of the event giving rise to the Good
Reason within 90 days after such event occurs, (y) provide the Company with at least 30 days to cure, and (z) if not cured,
resign for Good Reason within 30 days following expiration of the cure period.

(i) If Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, or if
Executive resigns without Good Reason, Executive shall be entitled to receive:

(A) the Base Salary accrued through the date of termination,
payable as soon as practicable following the date of such termination or as otherwise required by applicable law;

(B) any Annual Bonus earned, but unpaid, as of the date of
termination for the year immediately preceding the year in which such termination occurs, paid on the date when
bonuses are otherwise paid to Company executives, and in all events by March 15th of the calendar year following
the year in which such termination occurs;

© reimbursement, within 30 days following submission by
Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting documentation, for any unreimbursed business expenses
properly incurred by Executive in accordance with Company policy prior to the date of Executive’s termination;
provided, that claims for such reimbursement (accompanied by appropriate supporting documentation) are
submitted to the Company within 30 days following the date of Executive’s termination of employment; and

(D) such Employee Benefits, if any, as to which Executive may be
entitled under the employee benefit plans of the Company, which shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the
applicable plans (the amounts described in



clauses (A) through (D) hereof, the “Accrued Rights”).

Following such termination of Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or resignation by Executive
without Good Reason, except as set forth in this Section 7(a)(ii), Executive shall have no further rights to any compensation
or any other benefits under this Agreement.

(b) Disability or Death.

@) The Employment Term and Executive’s employment shall terminate
automatically upon Executive’s death and may be terminated by the Company upon Executive’s Disability. For purposes of this
Agreement, a “Disability” shall be deemed to have occurred if Executive has for sixty (60) consecutive days or one hundred twenty
(120) non-consecutive days in any twelve (12) month period been disabled in a manner which has rendered Executive unable to
perform the essential functions of Executive’s job duties with or without reasonable accommodation.

(ii) If the Executive’s employment terminates due to Disability or death, then
Executive shall be entitled to pro rata acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based vesting,
including the Preferred Option, determined on the basis of each completed month of service (or portion thereof) that the Executive
served as an employee hereunder following the last applicable vesting date (or, if not such vesting date had yet occurred, the applicable
grant date) and prior to termination of employment, with any applicable options remaining exercisable thereafter for a period of 12
months; and

(iii) Upon termination of Executive’s employment for either Disability or death,
Executive or Executive’s estate (as the case may be) shall be entitled to receive (A) the Accrued Rights and (B) a pro rata portion of the
Annual Target Bonus for the year in which the termination of service occurs, payable on the date when bonuses are otherwise paid to
Company executives and in all events by March 15 of the calendar year following the year in which such termination occurs.

Executive shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.

(o) By the Company without Cause; By Executive with Good Reason. The Employment
Term and Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Company at any time without Cause or by Executive with Good Reason,
provided that Executive shall be eligible to receive the severance benefits set forth below in this Section 7(c), as applicable.

)] Termination not in connection with a Change in Control. If Executive’s employment is
terminated by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of death or Disability) or if Executive resigns with Good Reason, in
either event, not in connection with a Change in Control, Executive shall be entitled to receive:
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(A) the Accrued Rights; and

(B) subject to Executive’s execution and non-revocation of a release of
claims in the form provided by the Company and within the time period specified therein and Executive’s
continued compliance with the provisions of Section 8 and the PIIA Agreement:

@)) payment of an amount equal to 1.0 times the Executive’s annual Base Salary at the time of
termination, which shall be payable to Executive in equal installments in accordance with the
Company’s normal payroll practices, for 12 months following the date that the release of claims
becomes effective and irrevocable (provided, however, that if the period during which the release
could become effective and irrevocable spans two calendar years, payments of such installments
shall not commence until the first normal payroll date in the second calendar year);

2 a pro rata portion of the Annual Target Bonus for the year in which the termination of service
occurs, payable on the date when bonuses are otherwise paid to Company executives and in all
events by March 15 of the calendar year following the year in which such termination occurs;

3) that portion of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based vesting that would have vested
based on continued employment for 12 months following the termination shall accelerate and
become vested on date that the release of claims becomes effective and irrevocable; and

4) subject to Executive’s timely election of continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”), and subject to Executive’s copayment
of premium amounts at the active employees’ rate, the Company shall pay the remainder of the
premiums for Executive’s participation in the Company’s group health plans pursuant to COBRA
for a period ending on the earlier of (i) the 12-month anniversary of the date of termination; (ii)
Executive becoming eligible for other group health benefits, or (iii) the expiration of Executive’s
rights under COBRA; provided, however, that in the event that the benefits provided herein would
subject the Company or any of its affiliates to any tax or penalty under the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act or Section 105(h) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), Executive and the Company agree to work together in good faith to restructure the
foregoing benefit.

Following Executive’s termination of employment by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of Executive’s death
or Disability) or Executive’s resignation with Good Reason not in connection with a Change in Control, except as set forth in
this Section 7(c)(i), Executive shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.
For purposes of this Agreement, a termination shall be deemed in
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connection with a Change in Control if such termination occurs either within 90 days before the consummation of a Change
in Control or within 12 months after the consummation of a Change in Control.

Termination in connection with a Change in Control. If Executive’s employment is terminated

by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of death or Disability) or if Executive resigns with Good Reason, in either event
in connection with a Change in Control, Executive shall be entitled to receive in lieu of the benefits set forth in Section 7(c)(i):

(A)

(B)

the Accrued Rights; and

subject to Executive’s execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in the form provided

by the Company and within the time period specified therein and Executive’s continued compliance with the
provisions of Section 8 and the PIIA Agreement:

(M

)

3)

payment of an amount equal to 1.5 times the sum of Executive’s annual Base Salary plus the Annual
Target Bonus for the year in which the termination occurs, which amount shall be payable to
Executive in a single lump sum on the next regular payroll date following the date that the release of
claims becomes effective and irrevocable

full acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based vesting,
including the Preferred Option; and

subject to Executive’s timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA, and subject to
Executive’s copayment of premium amounts at the active employees’ rate, the Company shall pay
the remainder of the premiums for Executive’s participation in the Company’s group health plans
pursuant to COBRA for a period ending on the earlier of (i) the 18-month anniversary of the date of
termination; (ii) Executive becoming eligible for other group health benefits, or (iii) the expiration
of Executive’s rights under COBRA; provided, however, that in the event that the benefits provided
herein would subject the Company or any of its affiliates to any tax or penalty under the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act or Section 105(h) of the Code, Executive and the Company
agree to work together in good faith to restructure the foregoing benefit.

For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events: (i) any “person” (as
such term is used in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Act”)) or “group” (as such
term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Act), other than the Company or its subsidiaries or any benefit plan of the Company or its
subsidiaries is or becomes a “beneficial owner” (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Act) of more than 50% of
the Voting Stock of the Company; (ii) the Company transfers all or substantially all of its assets (unless the shareholders of the
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Company immediately prior to such transaction beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in substantially the same proportion as they
owned the Voting Stock of the Company, all of the Voting Stock or other ownership interests of the entity or entities, if any, that
succeed to the business of the Company or the Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of another
corporation); or (iii) any merger, reorganization, consolidation or similar transaction unless, immediately after consummation of such
transaction, the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to the transaction hold, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the
Voting Stock of the Company or the Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of another corporation.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Anelixis Acquisition and any concurrent private placement of Preferred Stock be
deemed to constitute a Change in Control. For purposes of this Change in Control definition, “Voting Stock” means securities or
ownership interests of any class or classes having general voting power under ordinary circumstances, in the absence of contingencies,
to elect the directors of a corporation, including securities that are convertible into voting stock (e.g., warrants and convertible preferred
stock), even if subject to beneficial ownership blockers or other limits on the ability to acquire such securities. Following Executive’s
termination of employment by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of Executive’s death or Disability) or by Executive
with Good Reason in connection with a Change in Control, except as set forth in this Section 7(c)(ii), Executive shall have no further
rights to any compensation or any other benefits under this Agreement.

(d) Notice of Termination. Any termination of employment by the Company or by Executive
(other than due to Executive’s death) shall be communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto in accordance with
Section 11(k) hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” shall mean a Notice that indicates the specific
termination provision in this Agreement relied upon and sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a
basis for termination of employment under the provision so indicated.

(e) Termination and Offices Held. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any
reason, Executive shall be deemed to have resigned from all positions that Executive may then hold as an employee, officer or director
of the Company or any affiliate of the Company. Executive shall promptly deliver to the Company any additional documents
reasonably required by the Company to confirm such resignations.

8. Non-Disparagement. Executive shall not, while employed by the Company or at any time
thereafter, disparage the Company (or any affiliate) in any way that materially and adversely affects the goodwill, reputation or business
relationships of the Company or the affiliate with the public generally, or with any of its customers, vendors or employees. The
Company shall not (and shall use reasonable efforts to procure that its directors and officers shall not) disparage Executive in any way
that materially and adversely affects Executive or Executive’s reputation or business relationships. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this
Section shall not prohibit either party from rebutting claims or statements made by any other person.

9. Proprietary Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement. As a condition to
Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive shall execute and deliver to
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the Company as of the Effective Date, the Company’s standard Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (the “PIIA
Agreement”), a copy of which has been provided under separate cover.

10. Specific Performance. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s remedies
at law for a breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of Section 8 may be inadequate and the Company may suffer
irreparable damages as a result of such breach or threatened breach. In recognition of this fact, Executive agrees that, in the event of
such a breach or threatened breach, in addition to any remedies at law, the Company, without posting any bond, shall be entitled to seek
equitable relief in the form of specific performance, temporary restraining order, temporary or permanent injunction or any other
equitable remedy which may then be available.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) Arbitration. For the avoidance of doubt, the arbitration and equitable relief provisions of
the PIIA Agreement shall apply to any dispute concerning Executive’s employment with the Company or arising under or in any way
related to this Agreement.

(b) Governing_Law;_Consent to Personal Jurisdiction. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA WITHOUT REGARD FOR CONFLICTS OF LAWS
PRINCIPLES. SUBJECT TO THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE PIIA AGREEMENT, EXECUTIVE HEREBY
EXPRESSLY CONSENTS TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN
ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA FOR ANY LAWSUIT FILED THERE AGAINST EXECUTIVE BY THE COMPANY
CONCERNING EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT OR THE TERMINATION OF EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT OR ARISING
FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT.

() Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement, together with the PIIA Agreement,
contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the employment of Executive by the Company. There are no restrictions,
agreements, promises, warranties, covenants or undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein other than
those expressly set forth herein or as may be set forth from time to time in the Company’s employee benefit plans and policies
applicable to Executive. This Agreement may not be altered, modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the parties
hereto. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, program, practice or agreement of which
Executive is a participant or a party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program, practice or agreement specifically
refers to the provisions of this sentence.

(d) No Waiver. The failure of a party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this
Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of such party’s rights or deprive such party of the right thereafter to insist
upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement.



(e) Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall
be or become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this
Agreement shall not be affected thereby.

® Assignment. This Agreement, and all of Executive’s rights and duties hereunder, shall not
be assignable or delegable by Executive. Any purported assignment or delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be
null and void ab initio and of no force and effect. This Agreement may be assigned by the Company to a person or entity which is an
affiliate or a successor in interest to substantially all of the business operations of the Company. Upon such assignment, the rights and
obligations of the Company hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such affiliate or successor person or entity.

(g) Counterclaim; No Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to pay Executive the amounts
provided and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall be subject to counterclaim and to seek recoupment of amounts owed
by Executive to the Company or its affiliates. Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for
pursuant to this Agreement by seeking other employment, and such payments shall not be reduced by any compensation or benefits
received from any subsequent employer or other endeavor.

(h) Compliance with Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary,
(i) if at the time of Executive’s termination of employment with the Company Executive is a “specified employee” as defined in Section
409A of the Code and the deferral of the commencement of any payments or benefits otherwise payable hereunder as a result of such
termination of employment is necessary in order to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, then the
Company will defer the commencement of the payment of any such payments or benefits hereunder (without any reduction in such
payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to Executive) until the date that is six months following Executive’s termination of
employment with the Company (or the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code) and (ii) if any other payments of
money or other benefits due to Executive hereunder could cause the application of an accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A
of the Code, such payments or other benefits shall be deferred if deferral will make such payment or other benefits compliant under
Section 409A of the Code, or otherwise such payment or other benefits shall be restructured, to the extent possible, in a manner,
determined by the Board, that does not cause such an accelerated or additional tax. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, each
payment made under this Agreement shall be designated as a “separate payment” within the meaning of the Section 409A of the Code,
and references herein to Executive’s “termination of employment” shall refer to Executive’s separation from service with the Company
within the meaning of Section 409A. To the extent any reimbursements or in-kind benefits due to Executive under this Agreement
constitute “deferred compensation” under Section 409A of the Code, any such reimbursements or in-kind benefits shall be paid to
Executive in a manner consistent with Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). The Company shall consult with Executive in good faith
regarding the implementation of the provisions of this Section 11(h); provided that neither the Company nor any of its employees or
representatives shall have any liability to Executive with respect to thereto or any tax imposed under Section 409A.
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@) Code Section 280G. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any
payment or distribution Executive would receive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise (“Payment”) would (a) constitute a
“parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (b) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall either be (i) delivered in full, or (ii) delivered as to
such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing
amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the receipt by Executive
on an after-tax basis, of the largest payment, notwithstanding that all or some portion the Payment may be taxable under Section 4999
of the Code. The accounting firm engaged by the Company for general audit purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the
Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by
such accounting firm required to be made hereunder. The accounting firm shall provide its calculations to the Company and Executive
within 15 calendar days after the date on which Executive’s right to a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Company or
Executive) or such other time as requested by the Company or Executive. Any good faith determinations of the accounting firm made
hereunder shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and Executive. Any reduction in payments and/or benefits
hereunder will occur in the following order: (1) reduction of cash payments; (2) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity awards
other than stock options; (3) cancellation of accelerated vesting of stock options; and (4) reduction of other benefits payable to
Executive.

)] Successors;_Binding_Agreement. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding upon personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. In the
event of Executive’s death prior to receipt of all amounts payable to Executive (including any unpaid amounts due under Section 7),
such amounts shall be paid to Executive’s beneficiary designated in a Notice provided to and accepted by the Company or, in the
absence of such designation, to Executive’s estate.

k) Notice. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications
provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered by hand or overnight
courier or three postal delivery days after it has been mailed by United States registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed to the respective addresses set forth below in this Agreement, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to
the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that Notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt (each such
communication, “Notice”).

If to the Company, addressed to:

Novus Therapeutics, Inc.

Attn: Chairman

19900 MacArthur Blvd., Suite 550
Irvine, California

If to Executive, to the address listed in the Company’s payroll records from time to
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time.

Q)] Executive Representation. Executive hereby represents to the Company that the execution
and delivery of this Agreement by Executive and the Company and the performance by Executive of Executive’s duties hereunder shall
not constitute a breach of, or otherwise contravene, the terms of any employment agreement or other agreement or policy to which
Executive is a party or otherwise bound.

(m) Prior Agreements. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings
(including verbal agreements) between Executive and the Company and/or its affiliates regarding the terms and conditions of
Executive’s employment with the Company and/or its affiliates.

(n) Cooperation. Executive shall provide Executive’s reasonable cooperation in connection
with any action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during Executive’s
employment hereunder, provided, that, following termination of Executive’s employment, the Company shall pay all reasonable
expenses incurred by Executive in providing such cooperation. This provision shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

(0) Withholding Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this
Agreement such federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(p) Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

[Signature Page Follows this Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date.

NOVUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: Keith Katkin
Title: Chairman

EXECUTIVE

Name: David-Alexandre Gros
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Exhibit 10.9

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Executive Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of March 1, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and
between Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) and Jon Kuwahara (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to continue to employ Executive and Executive wishes to continue to be employed as the
Senior Vice President Finance & Administration of the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive wish to enter into this Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth below.
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows
1. Employment. The Company agrees to employ Executive, and Executive hereby accepts

such employment on an at-will basis, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, for a period commencing on the
Effective Date and ending on the date that this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 7 below (the “Employment Term”).

2. Position; Duties. During the Employment Term, Executive shall serve as the Senior Vice
President Finance & Administration of the Company. In such position, Executive shall report to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer
(or, in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer, then the Company’s Chief Executive Officer) and shall have all the duties and
responsibilities customarily rendered by such officers of companies of similar size and nature, as well as such duties as otherwise
determined from time to time by the Chief Financial Officer or Chief Executive Officer, as applicable. During the Employment Term,
Executive agrees to devote Executive’s full time and best efforts to the performance of Executive’s duties to the Company. Subject to
the foregoing, Executive may engage in activities relating to serving on civic and charitable boards or committees, and managing
personal investments.

3. Base Salary. During the Employment Term, the Company shall pay Executive an initial
base salary at the annualized rate of $318,586, payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s usual payment
practices. Executive’s base salary may be increased in the sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or the
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”). Executive’s annual base salary, as in effect from time to time, is hereinafter
referred to as the “Base Salary.”

4. Incentive Compensation. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible to
receive an annual cash bonus based on performance objectives established by the Committee each year (the “Annual Bonus”).
Executive’s target Annual Bonus amount will be the percentage of Base Salary designated as the target by the Committee, which annual
target amount shall equal 30% of the Base Salary then in effect (the “Annual Target Bonus”). Notwithstanding the preceding and
subject to the terms set forth on Exhibit A, the Annual Bonus, if any, may be
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below (including zero), at, or above the target based upon the achievement of the performance objectives.

5. Employee Benefits; Vacation. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be entitled
to participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans as in effect from time to time (collectively “Employee Benefits”), on the same
basis as those benefits are generally made available to other senior executives of the Company, in each case to the extent that Executive
is eligible under the terms of such plans or programs. In addition, Executive shall be entitled to four weeks of paid vacation in
accordance with the Company’s vacation policy.

6. Business Expenses. During the Employment Term, reasonable business expenses incurred
by Executive in the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder shall be advanced or promptly reimbursed by the Company in
accordance with Company policies.

7. Termination. The Employment Term and Executive’s employment may be terminated by
the Company at any time and for any reason upon Notice to Executive and by Executive upon at least 30 days’ advance Notice of any
such resignation of Executive’s employment.

(a) Severance Benefits. Upon Executive’s termination of service with the Company,
Executive shall be entitled to the post-termination payments set forth on Exhibit A, provided that Executive’s rights to receive any
benefits or payments forth on Exhibit A other than the “Accrued Rights” (as defined on Exhibit A) shall be subject to the execution and
non-revocation within 45 days of the Separation Date of a form of separation agreement reasonably acceptable to the Company
containing a general release in favor of the Company and a 24-month non-solicitation covenant covering all Company employees and
consultants serving as of the Separation Date (the “Separation Agreement”). Payment of any severance benefits (other than those
relating to the Accrued Rights) will be made commencing on the next regular payroll period following the expiration of any revocation
periods under the Separation Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make severance payments set forth on Exhibit A (other than
with respect to the Accrued Rights) is expressly conditioned on the Executive not breaching the Separation Agreement or this
Agreement; upon any material breach of the terms of the Separation Agreement or this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to
recover prior severance payments, as set forth in the Separation Agreement.

(b) Notice of Termination. Any termination of employment by the Company or by Executive
(other than due to Executive’s death) shall be communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto in accordance with
Section 11(k) hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” shall mean a Notice that indicates the specific
termination provision in this Agreement relied upon and sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a
basis for termination of employment under the provision so indicated.

(o) Termination and Offices Held. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any
reason, Executive shall be deemed to have resigned from all positions that Executive may then hold as an employee, officer or director
of the Company or any affiliate of the



Company. Executive shall promptly deliver to the Company any additional documents reasonably required by the Company to confirm
such resignations.

8. Non-Disparagement. Executive shall not, while employed by the Company or at any time
thereafter, disparage the Company (or any affiliate) in any way that materially and adversely affects the goodwill, reputation or business
relationships of the Company or the affiliate with the public generally, or with any of its customers, vendors or employees

9. Proprietary Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement. As a condition to
Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive acknowledges his prior execution and delivery of the Company’s standard
Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (the “PIIA Agreement”).

10. Specific Performance. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s remedies
at law for a breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of Sections 8, or 9 may be inadequate and the Company may suffer
irreparable damages as a result of such breach or threatened breach. In recognition of this fact, Executive agrees that, in the event of
such a breach or threatened breach, in addition to any remedies at law, the Company, without posting any bond, shall be entitled to seek
equitable relief in the form of specific performance, temporary restraining order, temporary or permanent injunction or any other
equitable remedy which may then be available.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) Arbitration. For the avoidance of doubt, the arbitration and equitable relief provisions of
the PIIA Agreement shall apply to any dispute concerning Executive’s employment with the Company or arising under or in any way
related to this Agreement.

(b) Governing_Law;_Consent to Personal Jurisdiction. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA WITHOUT REGARD FOR CONFLICTS OF LAWS
PRINCIPLES. SUBJECT TO THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE PIIA AGREEMENT, EXECUTIVE HEREBY
EXPRESSLY CONSENTS TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN
ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA FOR ANY LAWSUIT FILED THERE AGAINST EXECUTIVE BY THE COMPANY
CONCERNING EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT OR THE TERMINATION OF EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT OR ARISING
FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT.

() Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement, together with the PITA Agreement,
contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the employment of Executive by the Company. There are no restrictions,
agreements, promises, warranties, covenants or undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein other than
those expressly set forth herein or as may be set forth from time to time in the Company’s employee benefit plans and policies
applicable to Executive. This Agreement may not be altered, modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the parties
hereto. In the event of any



inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, program, practice or agreement of which Executive is a participant or a
party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program, practice or agreement specifically refers to the provisions of this
sentence.

(d) No Waiver. The failure of a party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this
Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of such party’s rights or deprive such party of the right thereafter to insist
upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement.

(e) Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall
be or become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this
Agreement shall not be affected thereby.

® Assignment. This Agreement, and all of Executive’s rights and duties hereunder, shall not
be assignable or delegable by Executive. Any purported assignment or delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be
null and void ab initio and of no force and effect. This Agreement may be assigned by the Company to a person or entity which is an
affiliate or a successor in interest to substantially all of the business operations of the Company. Upon such assignment, the rights and
obligations of the Company hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such affiliate or successor person or entity.

(8) Counterclaim; No Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to pay Executive the amounts
provided and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall be subject to counterclaim and to seek recoupment of amounts owed
by Executive to the Company or its affiliates. Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for
pursuant to this Agreement by seeking other employment, and such payments shall not be reduced by any compensation or benefits
received from any subsequent employer or other endeavor.

(h) Compliance with Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary,
(i) if at the time of Executive’s termination of employment with the Company Executive is a “specified employee” as defined in Section
409A of the Code and the deferral of the commencement of any payments or benefits otherwise payable hereunder as a result of such
termination of employment is necessary in order to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, then the
Company will defer the commencement of the payment of any such payments or benefits hereunder (without any reduction in such
payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to Executive) until the date that is six months following Executive’s termination of
employment with the Company (or the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code) and (ii) if any other payments of
money or other benefits due to Executive hereunder could cause the application of an accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A
of the Code, such payments or other benefits shall be deferred if deferral will make such payment or other benefits compliant under
Section 409A of the Code, or otherwise such payment or other benefits shall be restructured, to the extent possible, in a manner,
determined by the Board, that does not cause such an accelerated or additional tax. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, each
payment made under this Agreement shall be designated as a “separate payment” within the meaning of the Section 409A of the Code,
and references herein to Executive’s “termination of




employment” shall refer to Executive’s separation from service with the Company within the meaning of Section 409A. To the extent
any reimbursements or in-kind benefits due to Executive under this Agreement constitute “deferred compensation” under Section 409A
of the Code, any such reimbursements or in-kind benefits shall be paid to Executive in a manner consistent with Treas. Reg. Section
1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). The Company shall consult with Executive in good faith regarding the implementation of the provisions of this
Section 11(h); provided that neither the Company nor any of its employees or representatives shall have any liability to Executive with
respect to thereto or any tax imposed under Section 409A.

@) Code Section 280G. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any
payment or distribution Executive would receive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise (“Payment”) would (a) constitute a
“parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (b) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall either be (i) delivered in full, or (ii) delivered as to
such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing
amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the receipt by Executive
on an after-tax basis, of the largest payment, notwithstanding that all or some portion the Payment may be taxable under Section 4999
of the Code. The accounting firm engaged by the Company for general audit purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the
Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by
such accounting firm required to be made hereunder. The accounting firm shall provide its calculations to the Company and Executive
within 15 calendar days after the date on which Executive’s right to a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Company or
Executive) or such other time as requested by the Company or Executive. Any good faith determinations of the accounting firm made
hereunder shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and Executive. Any reduction in payments and/or benefits
hereunder will occur in the following order: (1) reduction of cash payments; (2) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity awards
other than stock options; (3) cancellation of accelerated vesting of stock options; and (4) reduction of other benefits payable to
Executive.

1)) Successors;_Binding_Agreement. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding upon personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. In the
event of Executive’s death prior to receipt of all amounts payable to Executive (including any unpaid amounts due under Section 7),
such amounts shall be paid to Executive’s beneficiary designated in a Notice provided to and accepted by the Company or, in the
absence of such designation, to Executive’s estate.

k) Notice. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications
provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered by hand or overnight
courier or three postal delivery days after it has been mailed by United States registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed to the respective addresses set forth below in this Agreement, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to
the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that Notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt (each such
communication,




“Notice™).
If to the Company, addressed to:

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
19900 MacArthur Blvd., Suite 550
Irvine, California

If to Executive, to the address listed in the Company’s payroll records from time to time.

Q)] Executive Representation. Executive hereby represents to the Company that the execution
and delivery of this Agreement by Executive and the Company and the performance by Executive of Executive’s duties hereunder shall
not constitute a breach of, or otherwise contravene, the terms of any employment agreement or other agreement or policy to which
Executive is a party or otherwise bound.

(m) Prior Agreements. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings
(including verbal agreements) between Executive and the Company and/or its affiliates regarding the terms and conditions of
Executive’s employment with the Company and/or its affiliates, including, without limitation, that certain employment offer letter,
dated July 1, 2017 and that certain Management Continuity Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2017.

(n) Cooperation. Executive shall provide Executive’s reasonable cooperation in connection
with any action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during Executive’s
employment hereunder, provided, that, following termination of Executive’s employment, the Company shall pay all reasonable
expenses incurred by Executive in providing such cooperation. This provision shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

(0) Withholding Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this
Agreement such federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(p) Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

[Signature Page Follows this Page]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date.

ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

/s/ David-Alexndre C. Gros

By: David-
Alexandre C. Gros, MD

Title: Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE

[s/ Jon Kuwahara
Name: Jon Kuwahara



EXHIBIT A

SEVERANCE BENEFITS

Separation not within 12 months
after a Change in Control

Separation within 12 months
after a Change in Control

Severance Benefits

Change in Control Severance

Before On/After Before On/After Ret
Retention Date Retention Date Retention Date Date
Termination by Company (for Cause) Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Ri
Termination by Company (without Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Rij
Cause)
Retention Benefits Severance Benefits Retention Benefits Change in Cc

Severance Be

IReason)

Retention Benefits

Severance Benefits

Severance Benefits

Benefits
IResignation by Employee (without Good Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Rij
IReason)
Retention Benefits Retention Be
IResignation by Employee (with Good Accrued Rights Accrued Rights Accrued Rights

Change in Control Severance Benefits

IDeath or Disability Death/Disability Benefits

For purposes of this Exhibit, defined terms shall have the following definitions:

“Accrued Rights” means payment to Executive of the following:
(A) the Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, payable as soon as practicable following the date of such
termination or as otherwise required by applicable law;

(B) reimbursement, within 30 days following submission by Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting
documentation, for any unreimbursed business expenses properly incurred by Executive in accordance with Company policy prior to
the date of Executive’s termination; provided, that claims for such reimbursement (accompanied by appropriate supporting
documentation) are submitted to the Company within 30 days following the date of Executive’s termination of employment; and

©) such Employee Benefits, if any, as to which Executive may be entitled under the employee benefit plans of the
Company, which shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the



applicable plans.

“Cause” means any of the following events: (i) Executive’s conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any crime involving
dishonesty or moral turpitude or any felony; or (ii) a good faith finding by the Company that Executive has (x) engaged in dishonesty,
willful misconduct or gross negligence in connection with the performance of his duties or services to the Company, (y) breached any
confidentiality, inventions, and non-solicitation agreement between Executive and the Company, or (z) violated Company policies or
procedures in a manner that has materially injured, or is reasonably likely to materially injure, the Company’s business or

reputation. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Executive’s employment will be deemed to have been terminated for
Cause if it is determined subsequent to Executive’s termination of employment that grounds for termination for Cause existed at the
time of Executive’s termination of employment. The determination of Cause shall be made by the Board, in its good faith discretion.

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events: (i) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections
3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Act”)) or “group” (as such term is used in Section 13(d)(3)
of the Act), other than the Company or its subsidiaries or any benefit plan of the Company or its subsidiaries is or becomes a
“beneficial owner” (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Act) of more than 50% of the Voting Stock of the
Company; (ii) the Company transfers all or substantially all of its assets (unless the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to
such transaction beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in substantially the same proportion as they owned the Voting Stock of the
Company, all of the Voting Stock or other ownership interests of the entity or entities, if any, that succeed to the business of the
Company or the Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of another corporation); or (iii) any merger,
reorganization, consolidation or similar transaction unless, immediately after consummation of such transaction, the shareholders of the
Company immediately prior to the transaction hold, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the Voting Stock of the Company or the
Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of another corporation. For purposes of this Change in Control
definition, “Voting Stock” means securities or ownership interests of any class or classes having general voting power under ordinary
circumstances, in the absence of contingencies, to elect the directors of a corporation, including securities that are convertible into
voting stock (e.g., warrants and convertible preferred stock), even if subject to beneficial ownership blockers or other limits on the
ability to acquire such securities.

“Change in Control Severance Benefits” means the following benefits: (i) full acceleration of vesting of the Executive’s unvested
Company equity-based awards (including, but not limited to, stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and stock
appreciation rights), which awards shall be exercisable in accordance with the provisions of the award agreement and plan pursuant to
which such equity award was granted, including, in the case of stock options, the plan or award agreement provisions regarding any
post-termination period of exercisability, (ii) a lump sum cash severance payment equal to 1.0 multiplied by the sum of (x) the Base
Salary that Executive was receiving immediately prior to the Separation Date, plus (A) the larger of (1) the Annual Target Bonus or (y)
the annual bonus earned by Executive for the year preceding the



year of termination; (B) a lump sum cash payment equal to a pro-rata portion of the Annual Target Bonus amount for the year in which
the Separation Date occurs; and (C) payment by the Company of the full cost of the health insurance benefits provided to Executive and
Executive’s spouse and dependents, as applicable, immediately prior to the Change in Control pursuant to COBRA or other applicable
law through the earlier of the end of the 12-month period following the Separation Date or the date upon which Executive is no longer
eligible for such COBRA or other benefits under applicable law, provided that if the Company’s paying for health insurance benefits
violates nondiscrimination laws, the payments will cease.

“Death/Disability Benefits” means (i) pro rata acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based
vesting, determined on the basis of each completed month of service (or portion thereof) that the Executive served as an employee
hereunder following the last applicable vesting date (or, if no such vesting date had yet occurred, the applicable grant date) and prior to
termination of employment, with any applicable options remaining exercisable thereafter for a period of 12 months, and (ii) pro rata
portion of the Annual Target Bonus for the year in which the termination of service occurs, payable on the date when bonuses are
otherwise paid to Company executives, and in all events by March 15 of the calendar year following the year in which such termination
occurs, and (iii) the Accrued Rights.

“Disability” shall be deemed to have occurred if Executive has for one hundred twenty (120) consecutive days or one hundred eighty
(180) non-consecutive days in any twelve (12) month period been disabled in a manner which has rendered Executive unable to
perform the essential functions of Executive’s job duties with or without reasonable accommodation.

“Good Reason” means any of the following are undertaken without Executive’s prior written consent at any time after the Effective
Date: (i) a material adverse change in Executive’s duties, responsibilities, title or reporting relationship, (ii) reduction in Executive’s
Base Salary, while there are at least six months of operating funds on hand (other than in connection with, and in an amount
substantially proportionate to, reductions made by the Company to the annualized base salaries of its other senior executives), (iii) the
relocation of Executive’s principal workplace to more than 60 miles from the Company’s current principal offices in Irvine, California,
or (iv) a material breach of this Agreement by the Company. To terminate Executive’s employment for Good Reason, Executive must
(x) provide notice to the Company of the event giving rise to the Good Reason within 90 days after such event occurs, (y) provide the
Company with at least 30 days to cure, and (z) if not cured, resign for Good Reason within 30 days following expiration of the cure
period.

“Retention Benefits” means payment of the following amounts:

(A) payment of the Executive’s Annual Target Bonus for 2020, or, if greater, the amount of bonus earned in respect of
the 2020 performance period, payable at the same time bonuses are paid to similarly situated executives of the Company;

(B) continued payment of Executive’s Base Salary from the Separation Date through the Retention Date (if the
Separation Date precedes the Retention Date);
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© credit for an additional six months of vesting under all outstanding equity awards held by Executive as of the
Separation Date; and

(D) extension of the exercise period for Executive’s vested stock options until July 31, 2022, which, for avoidance of
doubt, includes those stock options that become vested pursuant to the foregoing clause (C).

“Retention Date” means July 31, 2021.
“Separation Date” means the date on which the Executive’s employment relationship with the Company is terminated.

“Severance Benefits” means the (i) continued payment of Executive’s Base Salary as in effect immediately prior to the Separation Date
for 9-months after the date of the termination (the “Severance Period”), which payments shall be paid during the Severance Period in
accordance with the Company’s standard payroll practices; and (ii) payment by the Company of the full cost of the health insurance
benefits provided to Executive and Executive’s spouse and dependents, as applicable, immediately prior to the Separation Date
pursuant to the terms of COBRA or other applicable law through the earlier of the end of the Severance Period or the date upon which
Executive is no longer eligible for such COBRA or other benefits under applicable law, provided that if the Company’s paying for
health insurance benefits violates nondiscrimination laws, the payments will cease.

Additionally, if the Separation Date is on or after the Retention Date, then the Severance Benefits shall also include: (x) credit for an
additional six months of vesting under all outstanding equity awards held by Executive as of the Separation Date, and (y) an extension
of the exercise period for Executive’s vested stock options until the later of July 31, 2022 or 90 days from the Separation Date
(including, for avoidance of doubt, those stock options that become vested pursuant to the preceding clause (x)).

¥k Eak]
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Exhibit 10.10
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Executive Employment Agreement (the “Agreement™) is entered into as of March 15, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by
and between Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) and Paul Little (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to employ Executive as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and Executive wishes
to work as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive wish to enter into this Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth below.
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows

1. Employment. The Company agrees to employ Executive, and Executive hereby accepts
such employment on an at-will basis, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, for a period commencing on the
Effective Date and ending on the date that this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 7 below (the “Employment Term”).

2. Position;_Duties. During the Employment Term, Executive shall serve as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. In such position, Executive shall report to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and shall have
all the duties and responsibilities customarily rendered by Chief Financial Officers of companies of similar size and nature, as well as
such duties as otherwise determined from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer. During the Employment Term, Executive
agrees to devote Executive’s full time and best efforts to the performance of Executive’s duties to the Company. Subject to the
foregoing, Executive may engage in activities relating to serving on civic and charitable boards or committees, and managing
personal investments.

3. Base Salary. During the Employment Term, the Company shall pay Executive an initial
base salary at the annualized rate of $410,000, payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s usual payment
practices. Executive’s base salary may be increased in the sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or the
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”). Executive’s annual base salary, as in effect from time to time, is hereinafter
referred to as the “Base Salary.”

4, Incentive Compensation; Equity Awards.

(a) During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual cash bonus based on
performance objectives established by the Committee each year (the “Annual Bonus”). Executive’s target Annual Bonus amount will be
the percentage of Base Salary designated as the target by the Committee, which annual target amount shall equal 40% of the Base
Salary then in effect (the “Annual Target Bonus”). Notwithstanding the preceding, the Annual Bonus, if any, may be below (including
zero), at, or above the target based upon the



achievement of the performance objectives.

(b) Upon Executive’s commencement of service, and as a material inducement to Executive’s
entering into such employment, he shall be awarded an option to purchase up to 160,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 per value per
share (the “Common Stock™), at an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value on the date of grant (the “Inducement
Option™). Subject to Committee approval of the Inducement Option and subject to Executive’s continued employment through each
applicable vesting date, the Inducement Option shall vest and become exercisable over a four-year period following the date of grant as
follows: (i) 25% of such stock option shall vest and become exercisable on the one-year anniversary of the date of grant and (ii) an
additional 6.25% of such stock option shall vest and become exercisable at the end of each full three calendar month period thereafter
until fully vested on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

5. Employee Benefits; Vacation. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be entitled
to participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans as in effect from time to time (collectively “Employee Benefits”), on the same
basis as those benefits are generally made available to other senior executives of the Company, in each case to the extent that Executive
is eligible under the terms of such plans or programs. In addition, Executive shall be entitled to four weeks of paid vacation in
accordance with the Company’s vacation policy.

6. Business Expenses. During the Employment Term, reasonable business expenses incurred
by Executive in the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder shall be advanced or promptly reimbursed by the Company in
accordance with Company policies.

7. Termination. The Employment Term and Executive’s employment may be terminated by
the Company at any time and for any reason upon Notice to Executive and by Executive upon at least 30 days’ advance Notice of any
such resignation of Executive’s employment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the provisions of this Section 7
shall exclusively govern Executive’s rights to payment of compensation, severance, Employee Benefits and business expenses upon
termination of employment with the Company.

(a) By the Company for Cause; By Executive without Good Reason.

1) The Employment Term and Executive’s employment may be terminated by the
Company for Cause and shall terminate automatically upon the effective date of Executive’s resignation without Good Reason.

(A) For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means any of the following events:
(i) Executive’s conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any crime involving dishonesty or moral turpitude or
any felony; or (ii) a good faith finding by the Company that Executive has (x) engaged in dishonesty, willful misconduct or
gross negligence in connection with the performance of his duties or services to the Company, (y) breached any
confidentiality, inventions, and non-solicitation agreement between Executive and the Company, or (z) violated Company
policies or procedures in a manner that has materially injured, or is reasonably likely to materially injure, the Company’s
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business or reputation. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Executive’s employment will be deemed to have
been terminated for Cause if it is determined subsequent to Executive’s termination of employment that grounds for
termination for Cause existed at the time of Executive’s termination of employment. The determination of Cause shall be
made by the Board, in its good faith discretion.

(B) For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means any of the following
are undertaken without Executive’s prior written consent: (i) a material adverse change in Executive’s duties, responsibilities,
title or reporting relationship, (ii) reduction in Executive’s base salary, while there are at least six months of operating funds
on hand (other than in connection with, and in an amount substantially proportionate to, reductions made by the Company to
the annualized base salaries of its other senior executives), (iii) the relocation of Executive’s principal workplace to more
than 60 miles from the Company’s current principal offices in Irvine, California, or (iv) a material breach of this Agreement
by the Company. To terminate Executive’s employment for Good Reason, Executive must (x) provide notice to the Company
of the event giving rise to the Good Reason within 90 days after such event occurs, (y) provide the Company with at least 30
days to cure, and (z) if not cured, resign for Good Reason within 30 days following expiration of the cure period.

(ii) If Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, or if
Executive resigns without Good Reason, Executive shall be entitled to receive:

(A) the Base Salary accrued through the date of termination,
payable as soon as practicable following the date of such termination or as otherwise required by applicable law;

B) reimbursement, within 30 days following submission by
Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting documentation, for any unreimbursed business expenses
properly incurred by Executive in accordance with Company policy prior to the date of Executive’s termination;
provided, that claims for such reimbursement (accompanied by appropriate supporting documentation) are
submitted to the Company within 30 days following the date of Executive’s termination of employment; and

© such Employee Benefits, if any, as to which Executive may be
entitled under the employee benefit plans of the Company, which shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the
applicable plans (the amounts described in clauses (A) through (C) hereof, the “Accrued Rights”).

Following such termination of Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or resignation by Executive
without Good Reason, except as set forth in this Section 7(a)(ii), Executive shall have no further rights to receive
any compensation or any other benefits from the Company under this Agreement or otherwise.
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(b) Disability or Death.

@) The Employment Term and Executive’s employment shall terminate
automatically upon Executive’s death and may be terminated by the Company upon Executive’s Disability. For purposes of this
Agreement, a “Disability” shall be deemed to have occurred if Executive has for one hundred twenty (120) consecutive days or one
hundred eighty (180) non-consecutive days in any twelve (12) month period been disabled in a manner which has rendered Executive
unable to perform the essential functions of Executive’s job duties with or without reasonable accommodation.

(ii) If the Executive’s employment terminates due to Disability or death, then
Executive shall be entitled to pro rata acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based vesting,
including the Inducement Option and the Inducement RSU, determined on the basis of each completed month of service (or portion
thereof) that the Executive served as an employee hereunder following the last applicable vesting date (or, if no such vesting date had
yet occurred, the applicable grant date) and prior to termination of employment, with any applicable options remaining exercisable
thereafter for a period of 12 months; and

(iii) Upon termination of Executive’s employment due to Disability or death,
Executive or Executive’s estate (as the case may be) shall be entitled to receive (A) the Accrued Rights and (B) a pro rata portion of the
Annual Target Bonus for the year in which the termination of service occurs, payable on the date when bonuses are otherwise paid to
Company executives and in all events by March 15 of the calendar year following the year in which such termination occurs.

Following Executive’s termination of employment due to death or Disability, except as set forth in this Section 7(b), Executive
shall have no further rights to any compensation or any other benefits from the Company under this Agreement or otherwise.

(o) By the Company without Cause; By Executive for Good Reason. The Employment Term
and Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Company at any time without Cause or by Executive for Good Reason,
provided that Executive shall be entitled to receive the severance benefits set forth below in this Section 7(c), as applicable:

(@) Termination not in connection with a Change in Control. If Executive’s
employment is terminated by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of death or Disability) or if Executive resigns for Good
Reason, in either event, not in connection with a Change in Control, Executive shall be entitled to receive:

(A) the Accrued Rights; and

B) subject to Executive’s execution and non-revocation of a
release of claims in the form provided by the Company and within the time period specified therein and
Executive’s continued compliance with the provisions of
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Sections 8 and 10 and the PITA Agreement:

(D) payment of an amount equal to 9 months of the Base Salary at the rate in effect during the year in
which the termination occurs, which shall be payable to Executive in equal installments in
accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices, for 9 months following the date that the
release of claims becomes effective and irrevocable (provided, however, that if the period during
which the release could become effective and irrevocable spans two calendar years, payments of
such installments shall not commence until the first normal payroll date in the second calendar
year);

2 accelerated vesting of the portion of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based vesting that
would have vested and become exercisable during the 9-month period following Executive’s
termination of employment had he remained employed during such period, with any applicable
options remaining exercisable thereafter for a period of 12 months; and

3) subject to Executive’s timely election of continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”), and subject to Executive’s copayment
of premium amounts at the active employees’ rate, the Company shall pay the remainder of the
premiums for Executive’s participation in the Company’s group health plans pursuant to COBRA
for a period ending on the earlier of (i) the 9-month anniversary of the date of termination; (ii)
Executive becoming eligible for other group health benefits, or (iii) the expiration of Executive’s
rights under COBRA; provided, however, that in the event that the benefits provided herein would
subject the Company or any of its affiliates to any tax or penalty under the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act or Section 105(h) of the Code, Executive and the Company agree to work
together in good faith to restructure the foregoing benefit.

(ii) Termination in connection with a Change in Control. If Executive’s employment is terminated
by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of death or Disability) or if Executive resigns for Good Reason, in either event in
connection with a Change in Control, Executive shall be entitled to receive in lieu of the benefits set forth in Section 7(c)(i):

(A) the Accrued Rights; and
(B) subject to Executive’s execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in the form provided
by the Company and within the time period specified therein and Executive’s continued compliance with the

provisions of Section 8 and the PIIA Agreement:
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o)

3)

(4)
S

payment of an amount equal to 1.0 times of Executive’s annual Base Salary at the rate in effect
during the year in which the termination occurs, which amount shall be payable to Executive in a
single lump sum on the next regular payroll date following the date that the release of claims
becomes effective and irrevocable;

payment equal to the greater of either the Annual Target Bonus for the year in which the termination
occurs or the Annual Bonus paid to Executive with respect to the calendar year immediately
preceding the calendar year during which the termination occurs, with such amount payable to
Executive in a single lump sum on the next regular payroll date following the date that the release of
claims becomes effective and irrevocable;

a pro rata portion of the Annual Target Bonus for the year in which the termination of employment
occurs, with such amount payable to Executive in a single lump sum on the next regular payroll date
following the date that the release of claims becomes effective and irrevocable;

full acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding equity awards subject to time-based vesting; and

subject to Executive’s timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA, and subject to
Executive’s copayment of premium amounts at the active employees’ rate, the Company shall pay
the remainder of the premiums for Executive’s participation in the Company’s group health plans
pursuant to COBRA for a period ending on the earlier of (i) the 12-month anniversary of the date of
termination; (ii) Executive becoming eligible for other group health benefits, or (iii) the expiration
of Executive’s rights under COBRA; provided, however, that in the event that the benefits provided
herein would subject the Company or any of its affiliates to any tax or penalty under the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act or Section 105(h) of the Code, Executive and the Company
agree to work together in good faith to restructure the foregoing benefit.

For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events: (i) any “person” (as
such term is used in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Act™)) or “group” (as such
term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Act), other than the Company or its subsidiaries or any benefit plan of the Company or its
subsidiaries is or becomes a “beneficial owner” (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Act) of more than 50% of
the Voting Stock of the Company; (ii) the Company transfers all or substantially all of its assets (unless the shareholders of the
Company immediately prior to such transaction beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in substantially the same proportion as they
owned the Voting Stock of the Company, all of the Voting Stock or other ownership interests of the entity or entities, if any, that
succeed to the business of the Company or the Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a
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subsidiary of another corporation); or (iii) any merger, reorganization, consolidation or similar transaction unless, immediately after
consummation of such transaction, the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to the transaction hold, directly or indirectly,
more than 50% of the Voting Stock of the Company or the Company’s ultimate parent company if the Company is a subsidiary of
another corporation. For purposes of this Change in Control definition, “Voting Stock” means securities or ownership interests of any
class or classes having general voting power under ordinary circumstances, in the absence of contingencies, to elect the directors of a
corporation, including securities that are convertible into voting stock (e.g., warrants and convertible preferred stock), even if subject to
beneficial ownership blockers or other limits on the ability to acquire such securities. Following Executive’s termination of
ernployrnent by the Company without Cause (other than by reason of Executive’s death or Disability) or by Executive for Good Reason
compensation or any other benefits frorn the Company under this Agreement or otherw1se. For purposes of this Agreement, a
termination shall be deemed in connection with a Change in Control if such termination occurs either within 30 days before the
consummation of a Change in Control or within 12 months after the consummation of a Change in Control.

(d Notice of Termination. Any termination of employment by the Company or by Executive
(other than due to Executive’s death) shall be communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto in accordance with
Section 11(k) hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” shall mean a Notice that indicates the specific
termination provision in this Agreement relied upon and sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a
basis for termination of employment under the provision so indicated.

(e) Termination and Offices Held. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any
reason, Executive shall be deemed to have resigned from all positions that Executive may then hold as an employee, officer or director
of the Company or any affiliate of the Company. Executive shall promptly deliver to the Company any additional documents
reasonably required by the Company to confirm such resignations.

8. Non-Disparagement. Executive shall not, while employed by the Company or at any time
thereafter, disparage the Company (or any affiliate) in any way that materially and adversely affects the goodwill, reputation or business
relationships of the Company or the affiliate with the public generally, or with any of its customers, vendors or employees

9. Proprietary_Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement. As a condition to
Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive shall execute and deliver to the Company as of the Effective Date, the
Company’s standard Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (the “PIIA Agreement”), a copy of which has been provided
under separate cover.

10. Specific Performance. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s remedies
at law for a breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of Sections 8, or 9 may be inadequate and the Company may suffer
irreparable damages as a result




of such breach or threatened breach. In recognition of this fact, Executive agrees that, in the event of such a breach or threatened
breach, in addition to any remedies at law, the Company, without posting any bond, shall be entitled to seek equitable relief in the form
of specific performance, temporary restraining order, temporary or permanent injunction or any other equitable remedy which may then
be available.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) Arbitration. For the avoidance of doubt, the arbitration and equitable relief provisions of
the PITA Agreement shall apply to any dispute concerning Executive’s employment with the Company or arising under or in any way
related to this Agreement.

(b) Governing_Law;_Consent to Personal Jurisdiction. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA WITHOUT REGARD FOR CONFLICTS OF LAWS
PRINCIPLES. SUBJECT TO THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE PIIA AGREEMENT, EXECUTIVE HEREBY
EXPRESSLY CONSENTS TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN
ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA FOR ANY LAWSUIT FILED THERE AGAINST EXECUTIVE BY THE COMPANY
CONCERNING EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT OR THE TERMINATION OF EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT OR ARISING
FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT.

(o) Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement, together with the PIIA Agreement,
contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the employment of Executive by the Company. There are no restrictions,
agreements, promises, warranties, covenants or undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein other than
those expressly set forth herein or as may be set forth from time to time in the Company’s employee benefit plans and policies
applicable to Executive. This Agreement may not be altered, modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the parties
hereto. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, program, practice or agreement of which
Executive is a participant or a party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program, practice or agreement specifically
refers to the provisions of this sentence.

(d) No Waiver. The failure of a party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this
Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of such party’s rights or deprive such party of the right thereafter to insist
upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement.

(e) Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall
be or become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this
Agreement shall not be affected thereby.

® Assignment. This Agreement, and all of Executive’s rights and duties hereunder, shall not
be assignable or delegable by Executive. Any purported assignment or delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be
null and void ab initio and of no



force and effect. This Agreement may be assigned by the Company to a person or entity which is an affiliate or a successor in interest to
substantially all of the business operations of the Company. Upon such assignment, the rights and obligations of the Company
hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such affiliate or successor person or entity.

(g) Counterclaim; No Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to pay Executive the amounts
provided and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall be subject to counterclaim and to seek recoupment of amounts owed
by Executive to the Company or its affiliates. Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for
pursuant to this Agreement by seeking other employment, and such payments shall not be reduced by any compensation or benefits
received from any subsequent employer or other endeavor.

(h) Compliance with Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary,
(i) if at the time of Executive’s termination of employment with the Company Executive is a “specified employee” as defined in Section
409A of the Code and the deferral of the commencement of any payments or benefits otherwise payable hereunder as a result of such
termination of employment is necessary in order to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, then the
Company will defer the commencement of the payment of any such payments or benefits hereunder (without any reduction in such
payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to Executive) until the date that is six months following Executive’s termination of
employment with the Company (or the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code) and (ii) if any other payments of
money or other benefits due to Executive hereunder could cause the application of an accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A
of the Code, such payments or other benefits shall be deferred if deferral will make such payment or other benefits compliant under
Section 409A of the Code, or otherwise such payment or other benefits shall be restructured, to the extent possible, in a manner,
determined by the Board, that does not cause such an accelerated or additional tax. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, each
payment made under this Agreement shall be designated as a “separate payment” within the meaning of the Section 409A of the Code,
and references herein to Executive’s “termination of employment” shall refer to Executive’s separation from service with the Company
within the meaning of Section 409A. To the extent any reimbursements or in-kind benefits due to Executive under this Agreement
constitute “deferred compensation” under Section 409A of the Code, any such reimbursements or in-kind benefits shall be paid to
Executive in a manner consistent with Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). The Company shall consult with Executive in good faith
regarding the implementation of the provisions of this Section 11(h); provided that neither the Company nor any of its employees or
representatives shall have any liability to Executive with respect to thereto or any tax imposed under Section 409A.

@) Code Section 280G. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any
payment or distribution Executive would receive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise (“Payment”) would (a) constitute a
“parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (b) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall either be (i) delivered in full, or (ii) delivered as to
such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing
amounts, taking into account the applicable federal,



state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the receipt by Executive on an after-tax basis, of the largest payment,
notwithstanding that all or some portion the Payment may be taxable under Section 4999 of the Code. The accounting firm engaged by
the Company for general audit purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the Change in Control shall perform the foregoing
calculations. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting firm required to be made
hereunder. The accounting firm shall provide its calculations to the Company and Executive within 15 calendar days after the date on
which Executive’s right to a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Company or Executive) or such other time as
requested by the Company or Executive. Any good faith determinations of the accounting firm made hereunder shall be final, binding
and conclusive upon the Company and Executive. Any reduction in payments and/or benefits hereunder will occur in the following
order: (1) reduction of cash payments; (2) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity awards other than stock options; (3) cancellation
of accelerated vesting of stock options; and (4) reduction of other benefits payable to Executive.

)] Successors;_Binding_Agreement. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding upon personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. In the
event of Executive’s death prior to receipt of all amounts payable to Executive (including any unpaid amounts due under Section 7),
such amounts shall be paid to Executive’s beneficiary designated in a Notice provided to and accepted by the Company or, in the
absence of such designation, to Executive’s estate.

k) Notice. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications
provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered by hand or overnight
courier or three postal delivery days after it has been mailed by United States registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed to the respective addresses set forth below in this Agreement, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to
the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that Notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt (each such
communication, “Notice”).

If to the Company, addressed to:

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
19900 MacArthur Blvd., Suite 550
Irvine, California

If to Executive, to the address listed in the Company’s payroll records from time to time.

Q)] Executive Representation. Executive hereby represents to the Company that the execution
and delivery of this Agreement by Executive and the Company and the performance by Executive of Executive’s duties hereunder shall
not constitute a breach of, or otherwise contravene, the terms of any employment agreement or other agreement or policy to
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which Executive is a party or otherwise bound.

(m) Prior Agreements. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings
(including verbal agreements) between Executive and the Company and/or its affiliates regarding the terms and conditions of
Executive’s employment with the Company and/or its affiliates.

(n) Cooperation. Executive shall provide Executive’s reasonable cooperation in connection
with any action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during Executive’s
employment hereunder, provided, that, following termination of Executive’s employment, the Company shall pay all reasonable
expenses incurred by Executive in providing such cooperation. This provision shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

(0) Withholding Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this
Agreement such federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(p) Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

[Signature Page Follows this Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date.

ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

/s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, MD

By: David-
Alexandre C. Gros, MD

Title: Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE

/s/ Paul Little
Name: Paul Little
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Exhibit 10.11

ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
2020 LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

1. GENERAL.

(a) Successor to Prior Plan. This Plan is the successor to the Novus Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Prior Plan”). From and after 12:01
a.m. Eastern time on the Effective Date, no additional stock awards will be granted under the Prior Plan.

(b) Eligible Award Recipients. Employees, Directors and Consultants are eligible to receive Awards.

(c) Available Awards. This Plan provides for the grant of the following Awards: (i) Incentive Stock Options; (ii) Non-statutory Stock Options; (iii) Stock
Appreciation Rights; (iv) Restricted Stock Awards; (v) Restricted Stock Unit Awards; (vi) Performance Stock Awards; and (vii) Performance Cash Awards.

(d) Purpose. This Plan, through the granting of Awards, is intended to help the Company secure and retain the services of eligible award recipients,
provide incentives for such persons to exert maximum efforts for the success of the Company and any Affiliate and provide a means by which the eligible award
recipients may benefit from increases in the value of the Stock.

2. ADMINISTRATION.

(a) Administration by Board. The Board will administer this Plan. The Board may delegate administration of this Plan to a Committee or Committees, as
provided in Section 2(d).

(b) Powers of Board. The Board will have the power, subject to, and within the limitations of, the express provisions of this Plan:

(i) To determine: (A) who will be granted Awards; (B) when and how each Award will be granted; (C) what type of Award will be granted;
(D) the provisions of each Award (which need not be identical), including when a person will be permitted to exercise or otherwise receive cash or Stock under the
Award; (E) the number of shares of Stock subject to, or the cash value of, an Award; and (F) the Fair Market Value applicable to a Stock Award.

(ii) To construe and interpret this Plan and Awards granted under it, and to establish, amend and revoke rules and regulations for administration
of this Plan and Awards. The Board, in the exercise of these powers, may correct any defect, omission or inconsistency in this Plan or in any Award Document or
in the written terms of a Performance Cash Award, in a manner and to the extent it will deem necessary or expedient to make this Plan or Award fully effective.

(iii) To settle all controversies regarding this Plan and Awards granted under it.

(iv) To accelerate, in whole or in part, or to extend, in whole or in part, the time during which an Award may be exercised or vest, or at which
cash or shares of Stock may be issued.

(v) To suspend or terminate this Plan at any time. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or an Award Document, suspension or termination
of this Plan will not materially impair a Participant’s rights under his or her then-outstanding Award without his or her written consent except as provided in
subsection (viii) below.

(vi) To amend this Plan in any respect the Board deems necessary or advisable, including, without limitation, adopting amendments relating to
Incentive Stock Options and nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code and/or making this Plan or Awards granted under this Plan
exempt from or compliant



with the requirements for Incentive Stock Options or exempt from or compliant with the requirements for nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A
of the Code, subject to the limitations, if any, of applicable law. If required by applicable law or listing requirements, and except as provided

in Section 9(a) relating to Capitalization Adjustments, the Company will seek stockholder approval of any amendment of this Plan that (A) materially increases the
number of shares of Stock available for issuance under this Plan, (B) materially expands the class of individuals eligible to receive Awards under this Plan,

(C) materially increases the benefits accruing to Participants under this Plan, (D) materially reduces the price at which shares of Stock may be issued or purchased
under this Plan, (E) materially extends the term of this Plan, or (F) materially expands the types of Awards available for issuance under this Plan. Except as
otherwise provided in this Plan (including subsection (viii) below) or an Award Document, no amendment of this Plan will materially impair a Participant’s rights
under an outstanding Award without the Participant’s written consent.

(vii) To submit any amendment to this Plan for stockholder approval, including, but not limited to, amendments to this Plan intended to satisfy
the requirements of (A) Section 422 of the Code regarding “incentive stock options” or (B) Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or any successor rule, if applicable.

(viii) To approve forms of Award Documents for use under this Plan and to amend the terms of any one or more outstanding Awards, including,
but not limited to, amendments to provide terms more favorable to the Participant than previously provided in the Award Documents for such Awards, subject to
any specified limits in this Plan that are not subject to Board discretion. A Participant’s rights under any Award will not be impaired by any such amendment
unless the Company requests the consent of the affected Participant, and the Participant consents in writing. However, a Participant’s rights will not be deemed to
have been impaired by any such amendment if the Board, in its sole discretion, determines that the amendment, taken as a whole, does not materially impair the
Participant’s rights. In addition, subject to the limitations of applicable law, if any, the Board may amend the terms of any one or more Awards without the affected
Participant’s consent (A) to maintain the qualified status of the Award as an Incentive Stock Option under Section 422 of the Code, (B) to change the terms of an
Incentive Stock Option, if such change results in impairment of the Award solely because it impairs the qualified status of the Award as an Incentive Stock Option
under Section 422 of the Code, (C) to clarify the manner of exemption from, or to bring the Award into compliance with, Section 409A of the Code, or (D) to
comply with other applicable laws or listing requirements.

(ix) Generally, to exercise such powers and to perform such acts as the Board deems necessary or expedient to promote the best interests of the
Company and that are not in conflict with the provisions of this Plan and/or Award Documents.

(x) To adopt such procedures and sub-plans as are necessary or appropriate (A) to permit or facilitate participation in this Plan by persons
eligible to receive Awards under this Plan who are not citizens of, subject to taxation by, or employed outside, the United States or (B) to allow Awards to qualify
for special tax treatment in a jurisdiction other than the United States. Board approval will not be necessary for immaterial modifications to this Plan or any Award
Document that are required for compliance with the laws of the relevant jurisdiction.

(c) Delegation to Committee.

(i) General. The Board may delegate some or all of the administration of this Plan to a Committee or Committees. If administration of this Plan
is delegated to a Committee, the Committee will have, in connection with the administration of this Plan, the powers theretofore possessed by the Board that have
been delegated to the Committee, including the power to delegate to a subcommittee of the Committee any of the administrative powers the Committee is
authorized to exercise (and references in this Plan to the Board will thereafter be to the Committee or subcommittee). Any delegation of administrative powers will
be reflected in the charter of the Committee to which the delegation is made, or resolutions, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Plan, adopted from time to
time by the Board or Committee (as applicable). The Committee may, at any time, abolish the subcommittee and/or revest in the Committee any powers delegated
to any subcommittee. Unless otherwise provided by the Board, delegation of authority by the Board to a Committee, or to an Officer or employee pursuant
to Section 2(e), does not limit the authority of the Board, which may continue to exercise any authority so delegated and may concurrently administer this Plan
with the Committee and may, at any time, revest in the Board some or all of the powers previously delegated.
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(ii) Rule 16b-3 Compliance. The Committee may consist solely of two or more Non-Employee Directors, in accordance with Rule 16b-3 of the

Exchange Act.

(d) Delegation to an Officer. The Board may delegate to one (1) or more Officers the authority to do one or both of the following, to the maximum extent
permitted by applicable law: (i) designate Employees who are not Officers to be recipients of Stock Awards and the terms of such Stock Awards; and (ii) determine
the number of shares of Stock to be subject to such Stock Awards granted to such Employees; provided, however, that the Board resolutions regarding such
delegation will specify the total number of shares of Stock that may be subject to the Stock Awards granted by such Officer and that such Officer may not grant a
Stock Award to himself or herself. Any such Stock Awards will be granted on a form that is substantially the same as the form of Stock Award Document approved
by the Committee or the Board for use in connection with such Stock Awards, unless otherwise provided for in the resolutions approving the delegation authority.

(e) Effect of Board’s Decision. All determinations, interpretations and constructions made by the Board (or a duly authorized Committee, subcommittee or
Officer exercising powers delegated by the Board under this Section 2) in good faith will not be subject to review by any person and will be final, binding and
conclusive on all persons.

3. SHARES SUBJECT TO THIS PLAN.

(a) Share Reserve.

(i) Subject to Section 9(a) relating to Capitalization Adjustments, the aggregate initial maximum number of shares of Stock that may be issued
pursuant to Stock Awards from and after the Effective Date will not exceed 4,860,000 shares of Common Stock, which includes 674,278 shares of Common Stock
underlying options to purchase up to 12,137 shares of Preferred Stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards plus (A) any shares of Common Stock that remain
available for grant under the Prior Plan as of the Effective Date and (B) any shares of Common Stock subject to outstanding awards under the Prior Plan as of the
Effective Date that on or after the Effective Date are forfeited, terminated, expire or otherwise lapse without being exercised (to the extent applicable), or are
settled in cash (the “Share Reserve”).

(ii) For clarity, the Share Reserve is a limitation on the number of shares of Stock that may be issued under this Plan. As a single share may be
subject to grant more than once (e.g., if a share subject to a Stock Award is forfeited, it may be made subject to grant again as provided in Section 3(b) below), the
Share Reserve is not a limit on the number of Stock Awards that can be granted.

(iii) Shares may be issued under the terms of this Plan in connection with a merger or acquisition as permitted by NASDAQ Listing Rule
5635(c), NYSE Listed Company Manual Section 303A.08, AMEX Company Guide Section 711 or other applicable rule, and such issuance will not reduce the
number of shares available for issuance under this Plan.

(iv) Reversion of Shares to the Share Reserve. If a Stock Award or any portion of a Stock Award expires, is cancelled or forfeited or otherwise
terminates without all of the shares covered by the Stock Award having been issued, then the shares of Stock subject to the Stock Award (or portion thereof) that
expire, are cancelled or forfeited or otherwise terminate shall revert and again be available for issuance under this Plan. In addition, the aggregate number of shares
of Stock available for issuance under this Plan at any time shall not be reduced by (i) shares of Stock subject to Stock Awards that have been terminated, expired
unexercised, forfeited or settled in cash, (ii) shares of Stock subject to Stock Awards that have been retained or withheld by the Company in payment or
satisfaction of the exercise price, purchase price or tax withholding obligation of a Stock Award, or (iii) shares of Stock subject to Stock Awards that otherwise do
not result in the issuance of shares in connection with payment or settlement thereof. In addition, shares of Stock that have been delivered (either actually or by
attestation) to the Company in payment or satisfaction of the exercise price, purchase price or tax withholding obligation of a Stock Award shall be available for
issuance under this Plan.
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(b) Incentive Stock Option Limit. Subject to Section 9(a) relating to Capitalization Adjustments, the aggregate maximum number of shares of Stock that
may be issued on the exercise of Incentive Stock Options will be 4,860,000 shares of Common Stock.

(c) Source of Shares. The Stock issuable under this Plan will be shares of authorized but unissued or reacquired Stock, including shares repurchased by the
Company on the open market or otherwise or shares classified as treasury shares.

4. ELIGIBILITY.

(a) Eligibility for Specific Stock Awards. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to employees of the Company or a “parent corporation” or
“subsidiary corporation” thereof (as such terms are defined in Sections 424(e) and 424(f) of the Code). Stock Awards other than Incentive Stock Options may be
granted to Employees, Directors and Consultants.

(b) Ten Percent Stockholders. A Ten Percent Stockholder will not be granted an Incentive Stock Option unless the exercise price of such Option is at least
110% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant and the Option is not exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years from the date of grant.

5. PROVISIONS RELATING TO OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

Each Option or SAR will be in such form and will contain such terms and conditions as the Board deems appropriate. All Options will be separately
designated Incentive Stock Options or Nonstatutory Stock Options at the time of grant, and, if certificates are issued, a separate certificate or certificates will be
issued for shares of Stock purchased on exercise of each type of Option. If an Option is not specifically designated as an Incentive Stock Option, or if an Option is
designated as an Incentive Stock Option but some portion or all of the Option fails to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option under the applicable rules, then the
Option (or portion thereof) will be a Nonstatutory Stock Option. The provisions of separate Options or SARs need not be identical; provided, however, that each
Award Document will conform to (through incorporation of provisions hereof by reference in the applicable Award Document or otherwise) the substance of each
of the following provisions:

(a) Term. Subject to Section 4(b) regarding Ten Percent Stockholders, no Option or SAR will be exercisable after the expiration of 10 years from the date
of its grant or such shorter period specified in the Award Document.

(b) Exercise Price. Subject to Section 4(b) regarding Ten Percent Stockholders, the exercise or strike price of each Option or SAR will be not less than
100% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock subject to the Option or SAR on the date the Award is granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Option or SAR may
be granted with an exercise or strike price lower than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock subject to the Award if such Award is granted pursuant to an
assumption of or substitution for another option or stock appreciation right pursuant to a corporate transaction and in a manner consistent with the provisions of
Section 409A of the Code and, if applicable, Section 424(a) of the Code. Each SAR will be denominated in shares of Stock equivalents.

(c) Purchase Price for Options. The purchase price of Stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option may be paid, to the extent permitted by
applicable law, by any combination of the methods of payment set forth below. The Board will have the authority to grant Options that do not permit all of the
following methods of payment (or otherwise restrict the ability to use certain methods) and to grant Options that require the consent of the Company to use a
particular method of payment. The purchase price shall be denominated in U.S. dollars. The permitted methods of payment are as follows:

(i) by cash, check, bank draft or money order payable to the Company;

(ii) pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the United States Federal Reserve Board or a successor regulation,
or a similar rule in a foreign jurisdiction of domicile of a Participant, that, prior to or contemporaneously with the issuance of the stock subject to the Option,
results in either the receipt of
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cash (or check) by the Company or the receipt of irrevocable instructions to pay the aggregate exercise price to the Company from the proceeds of sale of such
stock;

(iii) by delivery to the Company (either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Stock;

(iv) by a “net exercise” arrangement pursuant to which the Company will reduce the number of shares of Stock issuable upon exercise by the
largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value that does not exceed the aggregate exercise price; provided, however, that the Company will accept cash
or other payment from the Participant to the extent of any remaining balance of the aggregate exercise price not satisfied by such reduction in the number of whole
shares to be issued. Shares of Stock will no longer be subject to an Option and will not be exercisable thereafter to the extent that (A) shares issuable upon exercise
are used to pay the exercise price pursuant to the “net exercise,” (B) shares are delivered to the Participant as a result of such exercise, and (C) shares are withheld
to satisfy tax withholding obligations; or

(v) in any other form of legal consideration that may be acceptable to the Board and specified in the applicable Award Document.

(d) Exercise and Payment of a SAR. To exercise any outstanding SAR, the Participant must provide written notice of exercise to the Company in
compliance with the provisions of the Stock Appreciation Right Award Document evidencing such SAR. The appreciation distribution payable on the exercise of a
SAR will be not greater than an amount equal to the excess of (A) the aggregate Fair Market Value (on the date of the exercise of the SAR) of a number of shares
of Stock equal to the number of Stock equivalents in which the Participant is vested under such SAR (with respect to which the Participant is exercising the SAR
on such date), over (B) the aggregate strike price of the number of Stock equivalents with respect to which the Participant is exercising the SAR on such date. The
appreciation distribution may be paid in Stock, in cash, in any combination of the two or in any other form of consideration, as determined by the Board and
contained in the Award Document evidencing such SAR.

(e) Transferability of Options and SARs. The Board may, in its sole discretion, impose such limitations on the transferability of Options and SARs as the
Board determines. In the absence of such a determination by the Board to the contrary, the following restrictions on the transferability of Options and SARs will

apply:

(i) Restrictions on Transfer. An Option or SAR will not be transferable except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution (or pursuant to
subsections (i) and (iii) below), and will be exercisable during the lifetime of the Participant only by the Participant. The Board may permit transfer of the Option
or SAR in a manner that is not prohibited by applicable tax and securities laws. Except as explicitly provided herein, neither an Option nor a SAR may be
transferred for consideration.

(ii) Domestic Relations Orders. Subject to the approval of the Board or a duly authorized Officer, an Option or SAR may be transferred
pursuant to the terms of a domestic relations order, official marital settlement agreement or other divorce or separation instrument as permitted by U.S. Treasury
Regulation 1.421-1(b)(2) or other applicable law. If an Option is an Incentive Stock Option, such Option may be deemed to be a Nonstatutory Stock Option as a
result of such transfer.

(iii) Beneficiary Designation. Subject to the approval of the Board or a duly authorized Officer, a Participant may, by delivering written notice
to the Company, in a form approved by the Company (or the designated broker), designate a third party who, on the death of the Participant, will thereafter be
entitled to exercise the Option or SAR and receive the Stock or other consideration resulting from such exercise. In the absence of such a designation, the executor
or administrator of the Participant’s estate will be entitled to exercise the Option or SAR and receive the Stock or other consideration resulting from such exercise.
However, the Company may prohibit designation of a beneficiary at any time, including due to any conclusion by the Company that such designation would be
inconsistent with the provisions of applicable laws.

(f) Vesting Generally. The total number of shares of Stock subject to an Option or SAR may vest and therefore become exercisable in periodic installments
that may or may not be equal. The Option or SAR may be subject to such other terms and conditions on the time or times when it may or may not be exercised
(which may be based on the satisfaction of performance goals or other criteria) as the Board may deem appropriate. The vesting
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provisions of individual Options or SARs may vary. The provisions of this Section 5(f) are subject to any Option or SAR provisions governing the minimum
number of shares of Stock as to which an Option or SAR may be exercised.

(g) Termination of Continuous Service. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and
the Company, if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates (other than for Cause and other than upon the Participant’s death or Disability), the Participant may
exercise his or her Option or SAR (to the extent that the Participant was entitled to exercise such Award as of the date of termination of Continuous Service) within
the period of time ending on the earlier of (i) the date three (3) months following the termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service and (ii) the expiration of
the term of the Option or SAR as set forth in the applicable Award Document. If, after termination of Continuous Service, the Participant does not exercise his or
her Option or SAR within the applicable time frame, the Option or SAR will terminate.

(h) Extension of Termination Date. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the
Company, if the exercise of an Option or SAR following the termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service (other than for Cause and other than upon the
Participant’s death or Disability) would be prohibited at any time solely because the issuance of shares of Stock would violate the registration requirements under
the Securities Act, then the Option or SAR will terminate on the earlier of (i) the expiration of a total period of three (3) months (that need not be consecutive) after
the termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service during which the exercise of the Option or SAR would not be in violation of such registration requirements,
and (ii) the expiration of the term of the Option or SAR as set forth in the applicable Award Document. In addition, unless otherwise provided in a Participant’s
applicable Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the Company, if the sale of any Stock received upon exercise of an Option or SAR
following the termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service (other than for Cause) would violate the Company’s insider trading policy, and the Company
does not waive the potential violation of the policy or otherwise permit the sale, or allow the Participant to surrender shares of Stock to the Company in
satisfaction of any exercise price and/or any withholding obligations under Section 8(g), then the Option or SAR will terminate on the earlier of (i) the expiration
of a period of months (that need not be consecutive) equal to the applicable post-termination exercise period after the termination of the Participant’s Continuous
Service during which the sale of the Stock received upon exercise of the Option or SAR would not be in violation of the Company’s insider trading policy, or
(ii) the expiration of the term of the Option or SAR as set forth in the applicable Award Document.

(i) Disability of Participant. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the
Company, if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates as a result of the Participant’s Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option or SAR (to the
extent that the Participant was entitled to exercise such Option or SAR as of the date of termination of Continuous Service), but only within such period of time
ending on the earlier of (i) the date 12 months following such termination of Continuous Service, and (ii) the expiration of the term of the Option or SAR as set
forth in the applicable Award Document. If, after termination of Continuous Service, the Participant does not exercise his or her Option or SAR within the
applicable time frame, the Option or SAR (as applicable) will terminate.

(j) Death of Participant. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the Company, if
(i) a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates as a result of the Participant’s death, or (ii) the Participant dies within the period (if any) specified in this Plan or
the applicable Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the Company, for exercisability after the termination of the Participant’s
Continuous Service (for a reason other than death), then the Option or SAR may be exercised (to the extent the Participant was entitled to exercise such Option or
SAR as of the date of death) by the Participant’s estate, by a person who acquired the right to exercise the Option or SAR by bequest or inheritance or by a person
designated to exercise the Option or SAR upon the Participant’s death, but only within the period ending on the earlier of (i) the date 18 months following the date
of death, and (ii) the expiration of the term of such Option or SAR as set forth in the applicable Award Document. If, after the Participant’s death, the Option or
SAR is not exercised within the applicable time frame, the Option or SAR will terminate.

(k) Termination for Cause. Except as explicitly provided otherwise in a Participant’s Award Document or other individual written agreement between the

Company or any Affiliate and the Participant, if a Participant’s Continuous Service is terminated for Cause, the Option or SAR will terminate upon the date on
which the event giving rise to the termination for Cause first occurred, and the Participant will be prohibited from exercising his or
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her Option or SAR from and after the date on which the event giving rise to the termination for Cause first occurred (or, if required by law, the date of termination
of Continuous Service). If a Participant’s Continuous Service is suspended pending an investigation of the existence of Cause, all of the Participant’s rights under
the Option or SAR will also be suspended during the investigation period.

(1) Non-Exempt Employees. If an Option or SAR is granted to an Employee who is a non-exempt employee for purposes of the U.S. Fair Labor Standards
Act of 1938, as amended, the Option or SAR will not be first exercisable for any shares of Stock until at least 6 months following the date of grant of the Option or
SAR (although the Award may vest prior to such date). Consistent with the provisions of the U.S. Worker Economic Opportunity Act, (i) if such non-
exempt Employee dies or suffers a Disability, (ii) upon a Change in Control in which such Option or SAR is not assumed, continued, or substituted, or (iii) upon
the non-exempt Employee’s retirement (as such term may be defined in the non-exempt Employee’s applicable Award Document, in another agreement between
the non-exempt Employee and the Company, or, if no such definition, in accordance with the Company’s then current employment policies and guidelines), the
vested portion of any Options and SARs may be exercised earlier than 6 months following the date of grant. The foregoing provision is intended to operate so that
any income derived by a non-exempt Employee in connection with the exercise or vesting of an Option or SAR will be exempt from his or her regular rate of pay.
To the extent permitted and/or required for compliance with the U.S. Worker Economic Opportunity Act to ensure that any income derived by a non-
exempt Employee in connection with the exercise, vesting or issuance of any shares under any other Stock Award will be exempt from such employee’s regular
rate of pay, the provisions of this paragraph will apply to all Stock Awards and are hereby incorporated by reference into such Stock Award Documents.

(m) No Repricing. Neither an Option nor SAR may be modified to reduce the exercise price thereof nor may a new Option, SAR or other Award at a
lower price be substituted or exchanged for a surrendered Option or SAR (other than adjustments or substitutions in accordance with Section 9(a) relating to
Capitalization Adjustments), unless such action is approved by the stockholders of the Company.

6. PROVISIONS OF STOCK AWARDS OTHER THAN OPTIONS AND SARS.

(a) Restricted Stock Awards. Each Restricted Stock Award Document will be in such form and will contain such terms and conditions as the Board deems
appropriate. To the extent consistent with the Company’s bylaws, at the Board’s election, shares of Stock may be (x) held in book entry form subject to the
Company’s instructions until any restrictions relating to the Restricted Stock Award lapse, or (y) evidenced by a certificate, which certificate will be held in such
form and manner as determined by the Board. The terms and conditions of Restricted Stock Award Documents may change from time to time, and the terms and
conditions of separate Restricted Stock Award Documents need not be identical. Each Restricted Stock Award Document will conform to (through incorporation of
the provisions hereof by reference in the agreement or otherwise) the substance of each of the following provisions:

(i) Consideration. A Restricted Stock Award may be awarded in consideration for (A) cash, check, bank draft or money order payable to the
Company, (B) past services to the Company or an Affiliate, or (C) any other form of legal consideration (including future services) that may be acceptable to the
Board, in its sole discretion, and permissible under applicable law.

(ii) Vesting. Shares of Stock awarded under the Restricted Stock Award Document may be subject to forfeiture to the Company in accordance
with a vesting schedule and subject to such conditions as may be determined by the Board.

(iii) Termination of Participant’s Continuous Service. If a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates, the Company may receive through a
forfeiture condition or a repurchase right, any or all of the shares of Stock held by the Participant that have not vested as of the date of termination of Continuous
Service under the terms of the Restricted Stock Award Document.

(iv) Transferability. Stock issued pursuant to an Award, and rights to acquire shares of Stock under the Restricted Stock Award Document, will

be transferable by the Participant only upon such terms and conditions as are set forth in the Restricted Stock Award Document, as the Board determines in its sole
discretion, so long as such Stock remains subject to the terms of the Restricted Stock Award Document.
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(v) Dividends. Any dividends paid on Restricted Stock will be subject to the same vesting and forfeiture restrictions as apply to the shares
subject to the Restricted Stock Award to which they relate.

(b) Restricted Stock Unit Awards. Each Restricted Stock Unit Award Document will be in such form and will contain such terms and conditions as the
Board deems appropriate. The terms and conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Award Documents may change from time to time, and the terms and conditions of
separate Restricted Stock Unit Award Documents need not be identical. Each Restricted Stock Unit Award Document will conform to (through incorporation of the
provisions hereof by reference in the Agreement or otherwise) the substance of each of the following provisions:

(i) Consideration. At the time of grant of a Restricted Stock Unit Award, the Board will determine the consideration, if any, to be paid by the
Participant upon delivery of each share of Stock subject to the Restricted Stock Unit Award. The consideration to be paid (if any) by the Participant for each share
of Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Unit Award may be paid in any form of legal consideration that may be acceptable to the Board, in its sole discretion, and
permissible under applicable law.

(ii) Vesting. At the time of the grant of a Restricted Stock Unit Award, the Board may impose such restrictions on or conditions to the vesting of
the Restricted Stock Unit Award as it, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

(iii) Payment. A Restricted Stock Unit Award may be settled by the delivery of shares of Stock, their cash equivalent, any combination thereof
or in any other form of consideration, as determined by the Board and contained in the Restricted Stock Unit Award Document.

(iv) Additional Restrictions. At the time of the grant of a Restricted Stock Unit Award, the Board, as it deems appropriate, may impose such
restrictions or conditions that delay the delivery of the shares of Stock (or their cash equivalent) subject to a Restricted Stock Unit Award to a time after the vesting
of such Restricted Stock Unit Award.

(v) Dividend Equivalents. Dividend equivalents may be credited in respect of shares of Stock covered by a Restricted Stock Unit Award, as
determined by the Board and contained in the Restricted Stock Unit Award Document. At the sole discretion of the Board, such dividend equivalents may be
converted into additional shares of Stock covered by the Restricted Stock Unit Award in such a manner as determined by the Board. Any dividend equivalents
and/or additional shares covered by the Restricted Stock Unit Award credited by reason of such dividend equivalents will be subject to all of the same terms and
conditions of the underlying Restricted Stock Unit Award Document to which they relate.

(vi) Termination of Participant’s Continuous Service. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Restricted Stock Unit Award Document, or
other agreement between the Participant and the Company, such portion of the Restricted Stock Unit Award that has not vested will be forfeited upon the
Participant’s termination of Continuous Service.

(c) Performance Awards.

(i) Performance Stock Awards. A Performance Stock Award is a Stock Award that is payable (including that may be granted, vest or exercised)
contingent upon the attainment during a Performance Period of the achievement of certain performance goals. A Performance Stock Award may, but need not,
require the completion of a specified period of Continuous Service. The length of any Performance Period, the performance goals to be achieved during the
Performance Period, and the measure of whether and to what degree such performance goals have been attained will be conclusively determined by the
Committee, the Board, or an authorized Officer, in its sole discretion. In addition, to the extent permitted by applicable law and the applicable Award Document,
the Board may determine that cash may be used in payment of Performance Stock Awards.

(ii) Performance Cash Awards. A Performance Cash Award is a cash award that is granted and/or becomes payable contingent upon the

attainment during a Performance Period of the achievement of certain performance goals. A Performance Cash Award may also require the completion of a
specified period of Continuous
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Service. At the time of grant of a Performance Cash Award, the length of any Performance Period, the performance goals to be achieved during the Performance
Period, and the measure of whether and to what degree such performance goals have been attained will be conclusively determined by the Committee, the Board,
or an authorized Officer, in its sole discretion. The Board may specify the form of payment of Performance Cash Awards, which may be cash or other property, or
may provide for a Participant to have the option for his or her Performance Cash Award, or such portion thereof as the Board may specify, to be paid in whole or in
part in cash or other property.

(iii) Board Discretion. The Committee, the Board, or an authorized Officer, as the case may be, retains the discretion to define the manner of
calculating the performance criteria it selects to use for a Performance Period.

7. COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

(a) No Obligation to Notify or Minimize Taxes. The Company will have no duty or obligation to any Participant to advise such holder as to the time or
manner of exercising such Stock Award. Furthermore, the Company will have no duty or obligation to warn or otherwise advise such holder of a pending
termination or expiration of an Award or a possible period in which the Award may not be exercised. The Company has no duty or obligation to, and does not
undertake to, provide tax advice or to minimize the tax consequences of an Award to the holder of such Award.

(b) Securities Law Compliance. The Company will seek to obtain from each regulatory commission or agency having jurisdiction over this Plan such
authority as may be required to grant Stock Awards and to issue and sell shares of Stock upon exercise of the Stock Awards; provided, however, that this
undertaking will not require the Company to register under the Securities Act this Plan, any Stock Award or any Stock issued or issuable pursuant to any such
Stock Award. If, after reasonable efforts and at a reasonable cost, the Company is unable to obtain from any such regulatory commission or agency the authority
that counsel for the Company deems necessary for the lawful issuance and sale of Stock under this Plan, the Company will be relieved from any liability for failure
to issue and sell Stock upon exercise of such Stock Awards unless and until such authority is obtained. A Participant will not be eligible for the grant of an Award
or the subsequent issuance of cash or Stock pursuant to the Award if such grant or issuance would be in violation of any applicable securities law.

8. MISCELLANEOQOUS.

(a) Use of Proceeds from Sales of Stock. Proceeds from the sale of shares of Stock pursuant to Stock Awards will constitute general funds of the
Company.

(b) Corporate Action Constituting Grant of Awards. Corporate action constituting a grant by the Company of an Award to any Participant will be deemed
completed as of the latest date that all necessary corporate action has occurred and all material terms of the Award (including, in the case of stock options, the
exercise price thereof) are fixed, unless otherwise determined by the Board, regardless of when the documentation evidencing the Award is communicated to, or
actually received or accepted by, the Participant. In the event that the corporate records (e.g., Board consents, resolutions or minutes) documenting the corporate
action constituting the grant contain terms (e.g., exercise price, vesting schedule or number of shares) that are inconsistent with those in the Award Document as a
result of a clerical error in the papering of the Award Document, the corporate records will control and the Participant will have no legally binding right to the
incorrect term in the Award Document.

(c) Stockholder Rights. No Participant will be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to, any shares of Stock
subject to a Stock Award unless and until (i) such Participant has satisfied all requirements for exercise of, or the issuance of shares of Stock under, the Stock
Award pursuant to its terms, and (ii) the issuance of the Stock subject to such Stock Award has been entered into the books and records of the Company.

(d) No Employment or Other Service Rights. Nothing in this Plan, any Award Document or any other instrument executed thereunder or in connection

with any Award granted pursuant thereto will confer upon any Participant any right to continue to serve the Company or an Affiliate in the capacity in effect at the
time the Award
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was granted or any other capacity or will affect the right of the Company or an Affiliate to terminate (i) the employment of an Employee with or without notice and
with or without cause, including, but not limited to, Cause, (ii) the service of a Consultant pursuant to the terms of such Consultant’s agreement with the Company
or an Affiliate, or (iii) the service of a Director pursuant to the organizational documents of the Company or an Affiliate (including articles of incorporation and
bylaws), and any applicable provisions of the corporate law of the state in which the Company or the Affiliate is incorporated, as the case may be.

(e) Change in Time Commitment. In the event a Participant’s regular level of time commitment in the performance of his or her services for the Company
and any Affiliates is reduced (for example, and without limitation, if the Participant is an Employee of the Company and the Employee has a change in status from
a full-time Employee to a part-time Employee or takes an extended leave of absence), or the Participant’s role or primary responsibilities are changed to a level
that, in the Board’s determination does not justify the Participant’s unvested Awards, and such reduction or change occurs after the date of grant of any Award to
the Participant, the Board has the right in its sole discretion to (i) make a corresponding reduction in the number of shares or cash amount subject to any portion of
such Award that is scheduled to vest or become payable after the date of such change in time commitment, and (ii) in lieu of or in combination with such a
reduction, extend the vesting or payment schedule applicable to such Award. In the event of any such reduction, the Participant will have no right with respect to
any portion of the Award that is so reduced or extended.

(f) Incentive Stock Option Limitations. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time of grant) of Stock with respect to which
Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by any Optionholder during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Affiliates)
exceeds USD$100,000 (or such other limit established in the Code) or otherwise does not comply with the rules governing Incentive Stock Options, the Options or
portions thereof that exceed such limit (according to the order in which they were granted) or otherwise do not comply with such rules will be treated as
Nonstatutory Stock Options, notwithstanding any contrary provision of the applicable Option Agreement(s).

(g) Withholding Obligations. Unless prohibited by the terms of an Award Document, the Participant may satisfy any national, state, local or other tax
withholding obligation relating to an Award by any of the following means or by a combination of such means: (i) cash payment; (ii) withholding shares of Stock
from the shares of Stock issued or otherwise issuable in connection with the Award (only up to the amount permitted that will not cause an adverse accounting
consequence or cost); (iii) withholding cash from an Award settled in cash; (iv) withholding payment from any amounts otherwise payable to the Participant,
including proceeds from the sale of shares of Stock issued pursuant to a Stock Award; or (v) by such other method as may be set forth in the Award Document.

(h) Electronic Delivery. Any reference herein to a “written” agreement or document will include any agreement or document delivered electronically, filed
publicly at www.sec.gov (or any successor website thereto), or posted on the Company’s intranet (or other shared electronic medium controlled by the Company to
which the Participant has access).

(i) Deferrals. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board, in its sole discretion, may determine that the delivery of Stock or the payment of cash,
upon the exercise, vesting or settlement of all or a portion of any Award may be deferred and may establish programs and procedures for deferral elections to be
made by Participants. Deferrals by Participants will be made in accordance with Section 409A of the Code (to the extent applicable to a Participant). Consistent
with Section 409A of the Code, the Board may provide for distributions while a Participant is still an employee or otherwise providing services to the Company.
The Board is authorized to make deferrals of Awards and determine when, and in what annual percentages, Participants may receive payments, including lump
sum payments, following the Participant’s termination of Continuous Service, and implement such other terms and conditions consistent with the provisions of this
Plan and in accordance with applicable law.

(j) Compliance with Section 409A. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in an Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the
Company, this Plan and Award Documents will be interpreted to the greatest extent possible in a manner that makes this Plan and the Awards granted hereunder
exempt from Section 409A of the Code, to the extent that Section 409A of the Code is applicable to an Award, and, to the extent not so exempt, in compliance with
Section 409A of the Code. If the Board determines that any Award granted
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hereunder is subject to Section 409A of the Code, the Award Document evidencing such Award will incorporate the terms and conditions necessary to avoid the
consequences specified in Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code, and to the extent an Award Document is silent on terms necessary for compliance, such terms are
hereby incorporated by reference into the Award Document. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan (and unless the Award Document specifically
provides otherwise), if the shares of Stock are publicly traded, and if a Participant holding an Award that constitutes “deferred compensation” under Section 409A
of the Code is a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code and the Participant is otherwise subject to Section 409A of the Code, no
distribution or payment of any amount that is due because of a “separation from service” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code without regard to alternative
definitions thereunder) will be issued or paid before the date that is six (6) months following the date of such Participant’s “separation from service” or, if earlier,
the date of the Participant’s death, unless such distribution or payment can be made in a manner that complies with Section 409A of the Code, and any amounts so
deferred will be paid in a lump sum on the day after such six (6) month period elapses, with the balance paid thereafter on the original schedule.

(i) Clawback/Recovery. All Awards granted under this Plan will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy that the
Company is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of any national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed or as
is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or other applicable law. In addition, the Board may impose such other
clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions in an Award Document as the Board determines necessary or appropriate, including, but not limited to, a
reacquisition right in respect of previously acquired shares of Stock or other cash or property upon the occurrence of Cause. No recovery of compensation under
such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for “good reason” or “constructive termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with
the Company or an Affiliate.

9. ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN COMMON STOCK; OTHER CORPORATE EVENTS.

(a) Capitalization Adjustments. In the event of a Capitalization Adjustment, the Board will appropriately and proportionately adjust: (i) the class(es) and
maximum number of securities subject to this Plan pursuant to Section 3(a); (ii) the class(es) and maximum number of securities that may be issued pursuant to the
exercise of Incentive Stock Options pursuant to Section 3(c); and (iii) the class(es) and number of securities or other property and value (including price per share
of stock) subject to outstanding Stock Awards. The Board will make such adjustments, and its determination will be final, binding and conclusive.

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation. Except as otherwise provided in the Stock Award Document, or other agreement between the Participant and the Company,
in the event of a dissolution or liquidation of the Company, all outstanding Stock Awards (other than Stock Awards consisting of vested and outstanding shares of
Stock not subject to a forfeiture condition or the Company’s right of repurchase) will terminate immediately prior to the completion of such dissolution or
liquidation, and the shares of Stock subject to the Company’s repurchase rights or subject to a forfeiture condition may be repurchased or reacquired by the
Company notwithstanding the fact that the holder of such Stock Award is providing Continuous Service; provided, however, that the Board may, in its sole
discretion, cause some or all Stock Awards to become fully vested, exercisable and/or no longer subject to repurchase or forfeiture (to the extent such Stock
Awards have not previously expired or terminated) before the dissolution or liquidation is completed but contingent on its completion.

(c) Change in Control. The following provisions will apply to Awards in the event of a Change in Control unless otherwise provided in the instrument
evidencing the Award or any other written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate and the Participant or unless otherwise expressly provided by the
Board at the time of grant of an Award. In the event of a Change in Control, then, notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the Board will take one or more
of the following actions with respect to each outstanding Award, contingent upon the closing or completion of the Change in Control:

(i) arrange for the surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or the surviving or acquiring corporation’s parent company) to assume or

continue the Award or to substitute a similar award for the Award (including, but not limited to, an award to acquire the same consideration per share paid to the
stockholders of the Company pursuant to the Change in Control);
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(ii) arrange for the assignment of any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by the Company in respect of Stock issued pursuant to the Award
to the surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or the surviving or acquiring corporation’s parent company);

(iii) accelerate the vesting, in whole or in part, of the Award (and, if applicable, the time at which the Award may be exercised) to a date prior to
the effective time of such Change in Control as the Board will determine (or, if the Board will not determine such a date, to the date that is 5 days prior to the
effective date of the Change in Control), with such Award terminating if not exercised (if applicable) at or prior to the effective time of the Change in Control, and
with such exercise reversed if the Change in Control does not become effective;

(iv) arrange for the lapse, in whole or in part, of any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by the Company with respect to the Award;

(v) cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the Award, to the extent not vested or not exercised prior to the effective time of the Change in
Control, in exchange for such cash consideration, if any, as the Board, in its reasonable determination, may consider appropriate as an approximation of the value
of the canceled Award, taking into account the value of the Stock subject to the canceled Award, the possibility that the Award might not otherwise vest in full, and
such other factors as the Board deems relevant; and

(vi) cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the Award, to the extent not vested or not exercised prior to the effective time of the Change in
Control, in exchange for a payment, in such form as may be determined by the Board equal to the excess, if any, of (A) the value in the Change in Control of the
property the Participant would have received upon the exercise of the Award immediately prior to the effective time of the Change in Control, over (B) any
exercise price payable by such holder in connection with such exercise.

The Board need not take the same action or actions with respect to all Awards or portions thereof or with respect to all Participants. The Board may take
different actions with respect to the vested and unvested portions of an Award.

In the absence of any affirmative determination by the Board at the time of a Change in Control, each outstanding Award will be assumed or an equivalent
Award will be substituted by such successor corporation or a parent or subsidiary of such successor corporation (the “Successor Corporation”), unless the
Successor Corporation does not agree to assume the Award or to substitute an equivalent Award, in which case the vesting of such Award will accelerate in its
entirety (along with, if applicable, the time at which the Award may be exercised) to a date prior to the effective time of such Change in Control as the Board will
determine (or, if the Board will not determine such a date, to the date that is 5 days prior to the effective date of the Change in Control), with such Award
terminating if not exercised (if applicable) at or prior to the effective time of the Change in Control, and with such exercise reversed if the Change in Control does
not become effective.

(d) Acceleration of Awards upon a Change in Control. An Award may be subject to additional acceleration of vesting and exercisability upon or after a
Change in Control as may be provided in the Award Document for such Award or as may be provided in any other written agreement between the Company or any
Affiliate and the Participant, but in the absence of such provision, no such acceleration will occur.

10. TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THIS PLAN.

The Board or the Compensation Committee may suspend or terminate this Plan at any time. This Plan will have no fixed expiration date; provided,
however, that no Incentive Stock Option may be granted more than 10 years after the later of (i) the Adoption Date and (ii) the adoption by the Board of any
amendment to this Plan that constitutes the adoption of a new plan for purposes of Section 422 of the Code. No Awards may be granted under this Plan while this
Plan is suspended or after it is terminated.

11. EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN; TIMING OF FIRST GRANT OR EXERCISE.
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No Stock Award may be exercised (or, in the case of a Restricted Stock Award, Restricted Stock Unit Award, or Performance Stock Award, may be
granted) and no Performance Cash Award may be settled unless and until this Plan has been approved by the stockholders of the Company, which approval will be
within 12 months before or after the Adoption Date. The Plan was approved by the Board on the Adoption Date and shall become effective on the Effective Date,
subject to stockholder approval on such date. Subject to earlier termination as provided in Section 10, no new Stock Awards may be granted under this Plan on or
after December 18, 2030; provided, however, that Stock Awards outstanding on such date shall remain subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable Award
Document.

12. CHOICE OF LAW.

The laws of the State of Delaware will govern all questions concerning the construction, validity and interpretation of this Plan, without regard to that
state’s conflict of laws rules.

13. DEFINITIONS.

As used in this Plan, the following definitions will apply to the capitalized terms indicated below:
(a) “Adoption Date” means November 16, 2020, which is the date of adoption of this Plan by the Board.

(b) “Affiliate” means, at the time of determination, any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company, as such terms are defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. The Board will have the authority to determine the time or times at which “parent” or “subsidiary” status is determined within the foregoing definition.

(c) “Award” means a Stock Award or a Performance Cash Award.

(d) “Award Document” means a written agreement between the Company and a Participant, or a written notice issued by the Company to a Participant,
evidencing the terms and conditions of an Award.

(e) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(f) “Capitalization Adjustment” means any change that is made in, or other events that occur with respect to, the Stock subject to this Plan or subject to
any Stock Award after the Adoption Date without the receipt of consideration by the Company through merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
reincorporation, stock dividend, dividend in property other than cash, large nonrecurring cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, liquidating dividend,
combination of shares, exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or other similar equity restructuring transaction, as that term is used in Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (or any successor thereto). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the conversion of any
convertible securities of the Company will not be treated as a Capitalization Adjustment.

(g) “Cause” will have the meaning ascribed to such term in any written agreement between the Participant and the Company or any Affiliate defining such
term and, in the absence of such agreement, such term means, with respect to a Participant, the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) Participant’s failure
substantially to perform his or her duties and responsibilities to the Company or any Affiliate or violation of a policy of the Company or any Affiliate;

(ii) Participant’s commission of any act of fraud, embezzlement, dishonesty or any other misconduct that has caused or is reasonably expected to result in injury to
the Company or any Affiliate; (iii) unauthorized use or disclosure by Participant of any proprietary information or trade secrets of the Company or any other party
to whom the Participant owes an obligation of nondisclosure as a result of his or her relationship with the Company or any Affiliate; or (iv) Participant’s breach of
any of his or her obligations under any written agreement or covenant with the Company or any Affiliate. The determination as to whether a Participant is being
terminated for Cause will be made in good faith by the Company and will be final and binding on the Participant. Any determination by the Company that the
Continuous Service of a Participant was terminated with or without Cause for the purposes of outstanding Awards held by such Participant will have no effect
upon any determination of the rights or obligations of the Company, any Affiliate or such Participant for any other purpose.
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(h) “Change in Control” means the occurrence, in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, of any one or more of the following events:

(i) any Exchange Act Person becomes the Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of the
combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities other than by virtue of a merger, consolidation or similar transaction;

(ii) there is consummated a merger, consolidation or similar transaction involving (directly or indirectly) the Company and, immediately after
the consummation of such merger, consolidation or similar transaction, the stockholders of the Company immediately prior thereto do not Own, directly or
indirectly, either (A) outstanding voting securities representing 50% or more of the combined outstanding voting power of the surviving Entity in such merger,
consolidation or similar transaction or (B) 50% or more of the combined outstanding voting power of the parent of the surviving Entity in such merger,
consolidation or similar transaction, in each case in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of the outstanding voting securities of the Company
immediately prior to such transaction;

(iii) there is consummated a sale, lease, license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, other than a sale, lease, license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries to an
Entity, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are Owned by stockholders of the Company in substantially the same
proportions as their Ownership of the outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately prior to such sale, lease, license or other disposition; or

(iv) individuals who, on the Adoption Date, are members of the Board (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a
majority of the members of the Board; provided, however, that if the appointment or election (or nomination for election) of any new Board member was approved
or recommended by a majority vote of the members of the Incumbent Board then still in office, such new member will, for purposes of this Plan, be considered as
a member of the Incumbent Board.

Notwithstanding the foregoing definition or any other provision of this Plan, (A) the term Change in Control will not include a sale of assets, merger or
other transaction effected exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Company, and (B) the definition of Change in Control (or any analogous
term) in an individual written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate and the Participant will supersede the foregoing definition with respect to Awards
subject to such agreement; provided, however, that if no definition of Change in Control or any analogous term is set forth in such an individual written agreement,
the foregoing definition will apply.

If required for compliance with Section 409A of the Code, in no event will a Change in Control be deemed to have occurred if such transaction is not also
a “change in the ownership or effective control of” the Company or “a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of” the Company as
determined under U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5) (without regard to any alternative definition thereunder). The Board may, in its sole discretion
and without a Participant’s consent, amend the definition of “Change in Control” to conform to the definition of “Change in Control” under Section 409A of the
Code, and the regulations thereunder.

(i) “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including any applicable regulations and guidance thereunder.

(j) “Committee” means a committee of one (1) or more Directors to whom authority has been delegated by the Board in accordance with Section 2(d).

(k) “Compensation Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(1) “Common Stock” means common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company.

(m) “Company” Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
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(n) “Consultant” means any person, including an advisor, who is (i) engaged by the Company or an Affiliate to render consulting or advisory services and
is compensated for such services, or (ii) serving as a member of the board of directors of an Affiliate and is compensated for such services. However, service solely
as a Director, or payment of a fee for such service, will not cause a Director to be considered a “Consultant” for purposes of this Plan. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a person is treated as a Consultant under this Plan only if a Form Registration Statement on Form S-8 or a successor form under the Securities Act is
available to register either the offer or the sale of the Company’s securities to such person.

(o) “Continuous Service” means that the Participant’s service with the Company or an Affiliate, whether as an Employee, Director or Consultant, is not
interrupted or terminated. A change in the capacity in which the Participant renders service to the Company or an Affiliate as an Employee, Consultant or Director
or a change in the Entity for which the Participant renders such service, provided that there is no interruption or termination of the Participant’s service with the
Company or an Affiliate, will not terminate a Participant’s Continuous Service. For example, a change in status from an Employee of the Company to a Consultant
of an Affiliate or to a Director will not constitute an interruption of Continuous Service. If the Entity for which a Participant is rendering services ceases to qualify
as an Affiliate, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion, such Participant’s Continuous Service will be considered to have terminated on the date such
Entity ceases to qualify as an Affiliate. To the extent permitted by law, the Board or the chief executive officer of the Company, in that party’s sole discretion, may
determine whether Continuous Service will be considered interrupted in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by the Board or chief executive officer,
including sick leave, military leave or any other personal leave, or (ii) transfers between the Company, an Affiliate, or their successors. In addition, if required for
exemption from or compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the determination of whether there has been a termination of Continuous Service will be made, and
such term will be construed, in a manner that is consistent with the definition of “separation from service” as defined under U.S. Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h) (without regard to any alternative definition thereunder). A leave of absence will be treated as Continuous Service for purposes of
vesting in a Stock Award only to such extent as may be provided in the applicable Award Document, the Company’s leave of absence policy, in the written terms
of any leave of absence agreement or policy applicable to the Participant, or as otherwise required by law.

(p) “Director” means a member of the Board.

(q) “Disability” means, with respect to a Participant, the inability of such Participant to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any
medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or that has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of
not less than 12 months as provided in Sections 22(e)(3) and 409A(a)(2)(C)(i) of the Code, and will be determined by the Board on the basis of such medical
evidence as the Board deems warranted under the circumstances.

(r) “Effective Date” means December 18, 2020.

(s) “Employee” means any person providing services as an employee of the Company or an Affiliate. However, service solely as a Director, or payment of
a fee for such services, will not cause a Director to be considered an “Employee” for purposes of this Plan.

(t) “Entity” means a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity.
(u) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(v) “Exchange Act Person” means any natural person, Entity or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Exchange Act), except that
“Exchange Act Person” will not include (i) the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (ii) any employee benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary of
the Company or any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (iii) an
underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to a registered public offering of such securities, (iv) an Entity Owned, directly or indirectly, by the
stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of stock of the Company, or (v) any natural person, Entity or “group”
(within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Exchange Act) that, as of the Effective Date, is the Owner, directly or
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indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities.
(w) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of the Stock determined as follows:

(i) If the Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or traded on any established market, the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock as of
any date of determination will be, unless otherwise determined by the Board, the closing sales price for such stock as quoted on such exchange or market (or the
exchange or market with the greatest volume of trading in the Stock) on the date of determination, as reported in a source the Board deems reliable.

(ii) Unless otherwise provided by the Board, if there is no closing sales price for the Stock on the date of determination, then the Fair Market
Value will be the closing selling price on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.

(iii) In the absence of such markets for the Stock, the Fair Market Value will be determined by the Board in good faith and in a manner that
complies with Sections 409A and 422 of the Code.

(x) “Incentive Stock Option” means an option granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan that is intended to be, and that qualifies as, an “incentive stock
option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

() “Non-Employee Director” means a Director who either (i) is not a current employee or officer of the Company or an Affiliate, does not receive
compensation, either directly or indirectly, from the Company or an Affiliate for services rendered as a consultant or in any capacity other than as a Director
(except for an amount as to which disclosure would not be required under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act
(“Regulation S-K”)), does not possess an interest in any other transaction for which disclosure would be required under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K, and is not
engaged in a business relationship for which disclosure would be required pursuant to Item 404(b) of Regulation S-K; or (ii) is otherwise considered a “non-
employee director” for purposes of Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act.

(z) “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means any option granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan that does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
(aa) “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
(bb) “Option” means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option to purchase shares of Stock granted pursuant to this Plan.

(cc) “Option Agreement” means an Award Document evidencing the terms and conditions of an Option grant. Each Option Agreement will be subject to
the terms and conditions of this Plan.

(dd) “Optionholder” means a person to whom an Option is granted pursuant to this Plan or, if applicable, such other person who holds an outstanding
Option.

(ee) “Own,” “Owned,” “Owner,” “Ownership” means a person or Entity will be deemed to “Own,” to have “Owned,” to be the “Owner” of, or to have
acquired “Ownership” of securities if such person or Entity, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has

or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting, with respect to such securities.

(ff) “Participant” means a person to whom an Award is granted pursuant to this Plan or, if applicable, such other person who holds an outstanding Stock
Award.
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(hh) “Performance Period” means the period of time selected by the Board over which the attainment of one or more performance goals will be measured
for the purpose of determining a Participant’s right to and the payment of a Stock Award or a Performance Cash Award. Performance Periods may be of varying
and overlapping duration, at the sole discretion of the Board.

(ii) “Performance Stock Award” means a Stock Award granted under the terms and conditions of Section 6(c)(i).

(jj) “Plan” means this 2020 Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated from time to time.

(kk) “Preferred Stock” means Series X! Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company, which constitutes “service recipient stock” as such
term is described under Section 409A of the Code.

(1) “Restricted Stock Award” means an award of shares of Stock which is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 6(a).

(mm) “Restricted Stock Award Document” means an Award Document evidencing the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Award grant. Each
Restricted Stock Award Document will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan.

(nn) “Restricted Stock Unit Award” means a right to receive shares of Stock which is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 6(b).

(0o0) “Restricted Stock Unit Award Document” means an Award Document evidencing the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Unit Award grant.
Each Restricted Stock Unit Award Document will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan.

(pp) “Securities Act” means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(qq) “Stock” means Common Stock or Preferred Stock, as applicable.

(rr) “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means a right to receive the appreciation on Stock that is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions
of Section 5.

(ss) “Stock Appreciation Right Award Document” means an Award Document evidencing the terms and conditions of a Stock Appreciation Right grant.
Each Stock Appreciation Right Award Document will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan.

(tt) “Stock Award” means any right to receive Stock granted under this Plan, including an Incentive Stock Option, a Nonstatutory Stock Option, a
Restricted Stock Award, a Restricted Stock Unit Award, a Stock Appreciation Right, or a Performance Stock Award.

(uu) “Stock Award Document” means an Award Document evidencing the terms and conditions of a Stock Award grant. Each Stock Award Document will
be subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan.

(vv) “Subsidiary” means, with respect to the Company, (i) any corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital stock having ordinary
voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, stock of any other class or classes of such
corporation will have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at the time, directly or indirectly, Owned by the Company, and
(ii) any partnership, limited liability company or other entity in which the Company has a direct or indirect interest (whether in the form of voting or participation
in profits or capital contribution) of more than 50%.
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(ww) “Ten Percent Stockholder” means a person who Owns (or is deemed to Own pursuant to Section 424(d) of the Code) stock possessing more than
10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Affiliate.

* * *
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-200413, 333-203032, 333-210058, 333-216432, 333-
232428 and 333-237380 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-226286 and 333-251305 on Form S-3 of our report dated March 30,
2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Irvine, California
March 30, 2021



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Paul Little, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ Paul Little
Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Gregory J. Flesher, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of her knowledge:

(1).  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

(2).  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2020 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Jon S. Kuwahara, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1).  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

(2).  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ Paul Little

Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




